DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Arthur Pereira Sales

Pécs, 2024



PÉCSI TUDOMÁNYEGYETEM UNIVERSITY OF PÉCS

FACULTY OF BUSINESS AND ECONOMICS

DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF REGIONAL POLICY AND ECONOMICS

The Environmental Impacts caused by Agricultural Frontiers in Emerging Countries: The case of the MATOPIBA Region, Brazil

Arthur Pereira Sales

Supervisor: Dr. Tibor Kiss

Acknowledge

First, I would like to thank God for illuminating my entire journey. Soon after, my most sincere thanks to my mother Maria Vanderli for all her love and trust. Without her teachings and motivation, I wouldn't have been able to achieve this great dream.

I would like to thank the University of Pécs and the Faculty of Business and Economics for the learning opportunity, on behalf of my supervisor, Dr. Tibor Kiss. I thank him for his great teaching, patience, and partnership. Dr. Kiss was fundamental to this important trajectory.

I would like to thank the PhD Program in Regional Politics and Economics for providing me with enormous academic development, on behalf of the director, Dr. László Szerb. I extend my sincere thanks to the faculty of the PhD program, on behalf of professors Dr. Attila Varga and Dr. Mónika Tiszberger. I would also like to thank the other staff of the PhD program, on behalf of the study administrator Edina Jakabfi, and my colleagues Byamba, Eristian, Ade, Muthama, Stefan, and Thào for the knowledge shared.

I would like to thank the Tempus Public Foundation for funding my studies through the Stipendium Hungaricum Program and giving me the great opportunity to live in Hungary.

I would like to thank all my family members from the bottom of my heart for their support and trust, especially my brothers Raul, Rávila, and João Gabriel, and my biological mother Liduina. I would also like to thank all my friends and partners who made this journey possible and lighter, especially Djacir, Alison, Dayane, Geilson, Franciele, and Adson. I would also like to thank my friends in Carius-Ceará (Brazil) for their support.

I would like to thank my colleagues and friends Robson Silveira and Plácido Castelo for the academic partnerships developed during this journey. I would also like to thank the support of the State University of Ceará, on behalf of Dr. Lauro Chaves and the entire faculty of the Accounting Sciences Course at CESA.

I would also like to thank my psychologist, Dr. Célia Lima, for accompanying me and teaching me that no academic achievement is worth more than my mental health. Finally, I would like to thank everyone who, directly or indirectly, helped me achieve this feat.

Köszönöm, Magyarország!

"Não podemos pensar em desenvolvimento econômico, reduzir as desigualdades sociais, e em qualidade de vida sem discutirmos meio ambiente".

-- Carlos Moraes Queiroz

Table of Contents

| 1. Chapter 1: Introduction | 1 |
|---|----------|
| 1.1. Research Problem and Questions | 1 |
| 1.2 Research Motivations and Relevance | 5 |
| 1.3. Structure of the Doctoral Dissertation | 6 |
| 2. Chapter 2: Literature Review: Agricultural Frontiers and Environment i Emerging Countries | in 8 |
| 2.1 The Systematic Literature Review Methodology | 9 |
| 2.2 Geographical Distribution and Key Terms of Studies | |
| 2.3 Key Studies by Country/Region | 13 |
| 2.4 The Connections between Agricultural Frontiers and the Environment | 19 |
| 2.4.1 Extended Industrial Agriculture Focus | 19 |
| 2.4.2 Socio-Economic-Ecological Focus | 22 |
| 2.5 Research Agenda | 25 |
| 3. Chapter 3: Matopiba: Brazil's Newest Agricultural Frontier | 28 |
| 3.1 Developmental Aspects | 28 |
| 3.2 Environmental Aspects | 36 |
| 4. Chapter 4: Verification of Environmental Conditions in Matopiba | 43 |
| 4.1 The Machine Learning Method | 43 |
| 4.2 Results of the Canonical Correlation Analysis | 49 |
| 4.2.1 CCA Between Environmental Impacts and Economic Growth | 50 |
| 4.2.2 CCA Between Environmental Impacts and Agricultural Production | 52 |
| 5. Chapter 5: System Dynamics Modeling applied to predict the future of Matoniba | 55 |
| 5.1 The System Dynamics Modeling Methodology | 55 |
| 5.2 Development of the SDM Concept for Matoniba | 58 |
| 5.3 Results of the System Dynamics Modeling for the Matoniba Region | 63 |
| 6 Chapter 6. Theses of the Doctoral Dissertation | 05 84 |
| 6.1 Theses | 84 |
| 6.2 New and Novel Results | 88 |
| 6.3 Study Limitations and Future Research | 00 88 |
| References | ۵۵ |
| Annandiaas | 105 |
| прининия | 105 |

| Appendix A | |
|------------|--|
| Appendix B | |
| Appendix C | |
| Appendix D | |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Reputable articles on Agricultural Frontiers and the Environment from 2013 to 2022 16 |
|--|
| Table 2: Variables that make up Models 1 and 2 of the CCA 47 |
| Table 3: Eigenvalues and Canonical Correlations of Model 1 50 |
| Table 4: CCA between Environmental Impacts and Economic Growth 51 |
| Table 5: Eigenvalues and Canonical Correlations of Model 2 52 |
| Table 6: CCA Between Environmental Impacts and Agricultural Production 53 |
| Table 7: Initial Values of Model Elements (stocks and parameters) |
| Table 8: Average difference between real and simulated values (SDM Calibration) 74 |
| Table 9: Average difference between real and simulated values (SDM Validation) 75 |
| Table 10: Main Crop Combinations in CLFI Systems for Matopiba Region |

List of Graphs

| Graph 1: Distribution of articles studied by Country/Region | .11 |
|---|-----|
| Graph 2: Key topics for environmental impacts on agricultural frontiers | 12 |
| Graph 3: Contribution of Economic Sectors to the GDP of the Matopiba Region (R\$) | 31 |
| Graph 4: Agricultural Production in Matopiba Region (t) | 32 |
| Graph 5: Distribution of Farming Land Use in Matopiba Region (ha) | 34 |
| Graph 6: Distribution of Agricultural Land Use in Matopiba Region (ha) | 35 |
| Graph 7: Native Vegetation Area in Matopiba Region (ha) | 39 |
| Graph 8: Annual Trends in Farming Land Demand and Deforestation in Matopiba | 40 |
| Graph 9: Carbon Dioxide Emissions in Matopiba Region (tons GWP-AR5) | 41 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1: Structure of the Doctoral Dissertation | 7 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2: Results of the Scoping Search | 10 |
| Figure 3: Geographical Location Matopiba Region - Brazil | 29 |
| Figure 4: Territorial Delimitation of Matopiba by Biome Areas | 37 |
| Figure 5: Distribution of Matopiba's River Basins | 38 |
| Figure 6: The Process of the System Dynamics Modeling Building | 57 |
| Figure 7: The format of the components of System Dynamics | 60 |
| Figure 8: The Impact Diagram of the SDM for Matopiba | 62 |
| Figure 9: Structure of the SDM for Matopiba | 69 |
| Figure 10: Structure of the Native Vegetation Availability Subsystem | 70 |
| Figure 11: Structure of the Virgin Land Availability Subsystem | 71 |
| Figure 12: Structure of the Farming Land Demand Subsystem | 72 |
| Figure 13: Dynamic behavior of the main SDM elements | 77 |
| Figure 14: SDM Simulation Results for Matopiba | 78 |

List of Abbreviations

AFI - Agroforestry Integration

API - Agropastoral Integration

ASPI - Agrosilvopastoral Integration

CCA - Canonical Correlation Analysis

CIMO - Context, Intervention, Mechanism, Outcome

CLFI - Crop-Livestock-Forestry Integration

CO₂ - Carbon Dioxide Emission

CO2 GWP - Carbon Dioxide Emission in Global Warming Potential

EMBRAPA - Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária

EU - European Union

FAO - The Food and Agriculture Organization

GDP - Gross Domestic Product

GHG - Greenhouse Gases

GtCO2 - Gigatons of Equivalent Carbon Dioxide

Ha - Hectares

IBGE - Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística

IPEA - Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada do Brasil

Mha - Million Hectares

MHDI - Municipal Human Development Index

ML - Machine Learning

Mt CO2e - Metric Tons of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

NGO - Non-Governmental Organization

PRISMA - Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

R\$ - Brazilian Real

REDD - Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation

RQ - Research question

RSPO - Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil

SD - System Dynamics

SDM - System Dynamics Modeling

SEEG - Sistema de Estimativa de Emissões de Gases de Efeito Estufa

SPI - Silvopastoral Integration

Sq. Cor - Squared Correlations

SVI - Social Vulnerability Index

T - Tons

Tg C- Teragrams of Carbon

VIF - Variance Inflation Factor

Abstract

The literature states that the advance of intensive agricultural production on the environment, known as the agricultural frontiers, is spreading mainly among emerging countries, due to lower production costs, flexible environmental regulations, soil fertility, and a favorable climate, among others. As a way of analyzing how environmental impacts are being generated and intensified, this dissertation presents a study of Brazil's newest agricultural frontier, Matopiba. The Matopiba region covers four states in the North and Northeast of Brazil and, although it comprises a large area of the Cerrado Biome, the region has gained considerable global importance due mainly to the production of soybeans and corn. Methodologically, this study used Descriptive Analysis, a Systematic Literature Review (SLR), and two empirical studies: Canonical Correlation Analysis (CCA) and System Dynamics Modeling (SDM). With the main objective of analyzing whether the Matopiba region of Brazil is a prominent topic in the world literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries, SLR showed that most of the world literature is concentrated in Brazil, but in the Amazon rainforest, indicating that studies on the Cerrado biome and the Matopiba region are still mainly concentrated among Brazilian researchers and are written in Portuguese. To analyze the environmental conditions generated by the agricultural frontier in Matopiba, CCA showed that there is a relationship between economic aggregates and environmental impacts in the region, with agricultural GDP having the highest canonical correlation with deforestation and one of the highest with CO₂ emissions. In addition, the CCA showed that agricultural production has a positive relationship with environmental impacts in Matopiba, with soybean and corn production, respectively, being the most polluting in the region. Intending to predict how long the available natural resources will sustain intensive agricultural production on Matopiba's agricultural frontier, the SDM showed that, as the agricultural area increases, native vegetation in areas with high and medium agricultural suitability is expected to be extinct within 20 years if no sustainable agricultural measures are implemented in the region. The results of these studies, among other findings, deepen the discussion on the environment and agricultural frontiers in emerging countries, contribute to the orientation of environmental public policies in Matopiba, and present a formulation of System Dynamics Modeling on agriculture and the environment that can serve as a basis for studies in other emerging countries.

Keywords: Agricultural Production. Environment. Brazilian Cerrado.

1. Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Research Problem and Questions

Agricultural frontiers, defined here as an expression indicating the advance of intensive agricultural production over the environment, are spreading mainly among emerging countries. This is due to factors such as flexible environmental regulations, lower production costs, growing global demand for agricultural products, and foreign investment, as well as social factors such as poverty and food dependency (Mariyam et al., 2023; Marengo et al., 2022; Dionizio et al., 2020; Spera et al., 2016; Horion et al., 2015; Mastrangelo and Gavin, 2012).

Current world grain production totals 3.3 billion tons, but this agricultural production is uneven, as it is concentrated in a few products and countries. Corn, rice, and soybeans (the three main commodities, respectively) account for two-thirds of world grain production and are grown mainly in emerging countries, where China, the United States, Brazil, and India account for 54% of all global production of these grains. In addition, with 124 million hectares under cultivation, Russia is the leading producer of barley, wheat, and sunflower; Indonesia and Malaysia are responsible for 95% of the world's palm oil production; Argentina, Paraguay, and Bolivia, alongside Brazil, are Latin America's main beef exporters (FAO, 2021).

The advance of agricultural frontiers is drastically aggravating environmental problems (Dos Reis et al., 2023; Usman et al., 2023; Ibrahim et al., 2022; Jahanger, Usman and Ahmad, 2023; Makhdum et al., 2022; Usman and Balsalobre-Lorente, 2022; Avagyan, 2018; Feintrenie, 2014; Villela et al., 2014; Gibbs et al., 2010). Problems such as increased emissions of polluting gases, increased rates of deforestation, water pollution, and loss of animal biodiversity, among others, are the result of unsustainable agricultural production in emerging countries (Avagyan, 2021, 2017 and 2010; Adegbeye et al., 2020). Another problem faced in these countries is the increased use of fertilizers and pesticides, observed mainly in Latin America and Southeast Asia (Avagyan, 2018; Schreinemachers and Tipraqsa, 2012).

The Matopiba region, the main focus of this study, is Brazil's most recent agricultural frontier. With an area of around 73 million hectares and a population of 6.2 million (IBGE, 2022), Matopiba covers four states in the north and northeast of Brazil (Maranhão, Tocantins, Piauí, and Bahia), which comprise a large part of the Cerrado biome and a small part of Brazil's Caatinga biome.

The region is experiencing enormous economic growth, driven mainly by soybean and corn production (De Oliveira, Raposo, & Garcia 2024; Dos Reis et al., 2024; Loayza et. al, 2023; Nunes, Campelo Filho, & Benini, 2023). In 2021, soybean production was 16 million tons and corn production was 7.4 million tons in Matopiba, making the region responsible for almost 15% of total soybean production and almost 9% of total corn production in Brazil (IBGE, 2022). This has given Matopiba considerable global importance in grain production.

However, the advance of Matopiba's agricultural frontier has mainly been at the expense of the natural resources available in the region (Araújo et al., 2024; Evangelista & Pereira, 2024; De Sampaio Melo, Júnior, & de Espindola, 2024; Da Silva Arruda et al., 2024; Siqueira et al., 2024; Agostinho et al., 2023; De Oliveira Aparecido et al., 2023; De Souza et al., 2023; Ferreira, 2023; Santos et al., 2023). More than 12 million hectares of natural vegetation in the Brazilian Cerrado were converted into agricultural areas between 2000 and 2022 (MAPBiomas, 2023). In addition, in 2019 alone, almost 41 million tons of polluting gases (CO₂ GWP-AR5) were emitted from agriculture in the region (SEEG, 2020).

Because it covers two biomes of great importance for the world's biodiversity and the current importance of grain production at a global level, the first research question is **RQ1:** Is the Matopiba region in Brazil a hot topic in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries? Furthermore, given the subjectivity of the term "environment" and the great environmental, socioeconomic, territorial, and cultural diversity of emerging countries, **RQ2:** How can we systematize the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries? Answers to questions such as RQ1.1: Are some emerging countries/regions more prominent in studies on agricultural frontiers and the environment? RQ2.1: Are there any similarities between research on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries? will help to answer **RQ1** and **RQ2**, respectively.

To answer **RQ1** and **RQ2**, *Chapter 2* provides a Systematic Literature Review (SLR) of the main studies on the environmental impacts of agricultural frontiers in emerging countries over the last thirty years (1993 to 2022). The literary data for the development of *Chapter 2* comes mainly from my systematic review article entitled "Agricultural Frontiers and Environment: A Systematic Literature Review and Research Agenda for Emerging Countries", carried out in 2022 and published in the Journal "Environment, Development and Sustainability" in October 2023 (Sales, 2023). To

develop Chapter 2, the analysis initially included 14,366 scientific articles from a wide range of subjects in the social and natural sciences, available in the Web of Science (Clarivate Analytics), Google Scholar, and ScienceDirect (Elsevier) databases.

SLR was the methodology chosen to formulate the theoretical basis for this dissertation because it is one of the most effective and robust ways of conducting a literature review today. This method evaluates, provides accurate and relevant information, and synthesizes evidence on a given subject.

The **Hypothesis** for **RQ1** is that: **H1**: Despite the growing number of studies on the Matopiba region in Brazil, it is still not as prominent in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment, since most of this research is concentrated among Brazilian researchers, and is written in Portuguese.

The **Hypothesis** for **RQ2** is that: **H2**: Emerging countries are very diverse, but I believe there is some similarity between the research that emphasizes the relationship between agricultural frontiers and the environment in these countries. These studies essentially seek to measure the environmental impacts promoted by intensive agriculture, as well as to analyze more sustainable agricultural public policies and technologies.

Chapter 3, informative and descriptive, aims to present and contextualize the socio-economic and environmental characteristics of the Matopiba region in Brazil. This descriptive analysis is essential for understanding, organizing, and summarizing the data that will be used in the empirical studies in this thesis (chapters 4 and 5). *Chapter 3* is divided into two parts: the first section presents data that provides an overview of Matopiba's socio-economic situation; the second section analyzes the main environmental impacts that have been occurring in the region. As a reference, databases provided by the main Brazilian federal institutes and agencies were used.

Chapter 4, of an empirical nature, aims to analyze the environmental conditions generated by Matopiba's agricultural frontier using machine learning techniques. Concern about the environmental impacts of Matopiba's agricultural frontier is no coincidence and is gaining widespread repercussions. The first fact is that recovering the vegetation of the Cerrado Biome is not simple, as the biome is more than 45 million years old (in a quick comparison, the Amazon Biome is only 3,000 years old). Furthermore, although Cerrado is important for global agricultural production, it is also home to many species endemic to the planet and is one of the most important sources of fresh water in Latin America.

The idea behind *Chapter 4* is to develop two canonical correlation statistical models to verify the relationship and magnitude of dependence between economic variables (GDP aggregates) and environmental variables (deforestation, CO_2 emissions), as well as the relationship of dependence between the production of the region's main crops (soybeans, corn, sugar cane, rice, etc.) and the variables that represent environmental impacts.

This methodology was chosen because of the possibility that Canonical Correlation Analysis (CCA) offers of analyzing the degree of magnitude between sets of dependent and independent variables, as well as within each of these sets. CCA also makes it possible to use more than one dependent variable, as well as metric and non-metric variables.

The CCA analyses used the databases provided by the Gas Emission Estimation System (SEEG-Brazil), the Brazilian National Institute for Space Research, and the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE-Brazil) for the 31 micro-regions of the Matopiba region.

These two CCA statistical models serve as a basis to answer **Research Questions 3** and **4** and to prove **Hypotheses 3** and **4**, respectively.

RQ3. Is there any relationship between the economic aggregates and the environmental impacts generated on Matopiba's agricultural frontier?

RQ3.1. Which economic aggregate contributes the most to environmental impacts in the Matopiba region?

H3: There is a relationship between economic aggregates and environmental impacts in the Matopiba region, with the agricultural sector contributing the most to environmental degradation.

RQ4. Is agricultural production in Matopiba related to the environmental impacts generated in the region?

RQ4.1. Which crops contribute most to environmental impacts in Matopiba's agricultural frontier?

H4: Agricultural production has a relationship with environmental impacts in Matopiba, with soybean and corn production contributing the most to environmental issues in the region.

4

Chapter 5, also empirical, aims to use System Dynamic Modeling (SDM) to predict the future of the Matopiba region regarding available natural resources and intensive agricultural production. The methodological choice of SDM was due to the possibility of creating robust modeling and analysis of large-scale socio-economic systems for decision-making on complex issues, such as the clash between agricultural frontiers and the environment.

Matopiba is at a critical level of depletion of native vegetation and land suitable for agriculture, in which there are only 2.6 million hectares of undegraded pastures suitable for agriculture and an area of around 7.5 million hectares of native vegetation with high and medium agricultural suitability (BRASIL, 2021; Rudorff et al., 2015). In addition, more than 600,000 hectares of native vegetation are cleared every year in the region, converted mainly for agricultural cultivation (MapBiomas, 2023).

Thus, the following question arises: if current intensive agricultural production continues and no environmental intervention is implemented in the region, **RQ5**: how soon will the native vegetation be exhausted in the agriculturally suitable areas of Matopiba?

The **Hypothesis** for **RQ5** is that: **H5**: Matopiba's native vegetation is expected to be extinct in the agriculturally suitable areas within 20 years if current intensive agricultural production continues and no environmental intervention is implemented in the region.

In addition to trying to answer **RQ5**, *Chapter 5* also discusses measures (actions and/or public policies) to try to contain or slow down the process of environmental depletion in the Matopiba region.

Chapter 6, which is argumentative, presents the theses of the dissertation. The theses present my critical position on the subject discussed in this research, using original arguments and propositions evidenced by whether the study's hypotheses are met.

1.2 Research Motivations and Relevance

At first, I realized that, despite Matopiba's agricultural and environmental importance, this region has not yet "gained" worldwide repercussions when compared to the Amazon Region, for example. Therefore, the first motivation for this study is to verify whether the Matopiba region in Brazil is a prominent topic in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment. This analysis will help to visualize a possible

and important gap in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries.

When relating agricultural production and the environment in Matopiba, I realized that there are no studies that verify which crops are considered the most polluting or least sustainable in the region. Therefore, my second motivation was to fill this gap and formulate, using machine learning techniques, an analysis of environmental conditioning between crops. It is believed that this information will serve as a basis for formulating or encouraging sustainable agricultural policies.

Another concern that motivated this study was to find out how much time "we have left" to try to reverse or minimize the process of extinction of the Cerrado Biome present in Matopiba. With the help of System Dynamics Modeling, the complexity of the dynamic relationship between the main crops and natural resources in Matopiba can be verified and, from there, measures can be proposed to help make agricultural production more sustainable.

The relevance of this study lies, among other factors, in the fact that it is one of the pioneers in deepening the discussion in the literature on the environment and agricultural frontiers in emerging countries; it contributes to the world literature on environmental issues in Brazil's Cerrado Biome; it presents and analyzes the environmental impacts promoted by intensive agricultural production in Matopiba to contribute to the orientation of environmental public policies in the region; it presents machine learning techniques to analyze environmental and economic variables for Matopiba; and it is a pioneer in the formulation of a System Dynamics Modeling on agricultural production and environmental impacts for the Brazilian Cerrado.

1.3. Structure of the Doctoral Dissertation

This dissertation is divided into six chapters, as shown in Figure 1. *Chapter 1* introduces the study, presenting the research problem and questions, and the justification for this work, as well as the structure of the dissertation. *Chapter 2* provides the theoretical background, through a Systematic Literature Review, with the main studies and theories on agricultural frontiers and the environment in Emerging Countries (this chapter serves as the basis for Research Questions 1 and 2).



Figure 1: Structure of the Doctoral Dissertation

Source: Own Elaboration.

Chapter 3 provides the descriptive statistics of this study, presenting the geographical scope and main characteristics of the Matopiba Region of Brazil. *Chapter 4*, the first empirical study in this dissertation, presents the Canonical Correlation Analyses to verify the conditioning factors of environmental impacts in Matopiba (this chapter serves as the basis for Research Questions 3 and 4).

Chapter 5, the second empirical study in this dissertation, presents System Dynamics Modeling applied to predicting the future of Matopiba's agricultural frontier (this chapter serves as the basis for Research Question 5). Finally, *Chapter 6* presents the theses of the dissertation, as well as the limitations of this study and contributions to future research.

2. Chapter 2: Literature Review: Agricultural Frontiers and Environment in Emerging Countries

Introduction

The Matopiba region in Brazil is currently considered a region of great importance for global soybean and corn production, as well as it comprehends a large part of the Cerrado biome and a small part of the Caatinga biome, both of which are of great importance for global biodiversity. Thus, the following research question arises: RQ1: Is the Matopiba region in Brazil a hot topic in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries? RQ1.1: Are some emerging countries/regions more prominent in studies on agricultural frontiers and the environment?

Furthermore, to analyze and measure the environmental impacts of intensive agricultural production in emerging countries, it is necessary to consider the disparities and specificities of each region. Thus, RQ2: how can studies related to agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries be synthesized? RQ2.1: Are there any similarities between research on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries frontiers and the environment in emerging countries.

To answer these questions, this chapter presents a Systematic Literature Review (SLR) of the main studies on the environmental impacts of agricultural frontiers in emerging countries from 1993 to 2022. The choice of the period of analysis was due to the curiosity of knowing whether literature "kept pace" with the environmental transformations promoted by the development of intensive agriculture in the mid-twentieth century. The choice to use SLR is because it is a systematic method for evaluating and synthesizing a given subject and, in this specific study, it will act as a gap to fill in the lack of in-depth discussion of studies on the environment and agricultural frontiers in emerging countries.

The first section of this chapter describes the methodological process involved in constructing the systematic literature review. Descriptive in nature, the second section presents the geographical distribution and the main terms found in the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment. Section 3 discusses the main research carried out in emerging countries, emphasizing what the authors are concerned with studying in each country/region. Section 4 analyzes and presents how studies connect agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries, subdividing this discussion into two

focuses: the Expanded Industrial Agriculture Focus and the Socio-Economic-Ecological Focus. Section 5 presents the main suggestions and indications for future research.

2.1 The Systematic Literature Review Methodology

To analyze the main studies on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries, this chapter used a Systematic Literature Review (SLR) as a methodological process. A systematic review is conducted through a literature search, evaluation, and synthesis of evidence on a given subject, to provide accurate and relevant information (James et al., 2021).

In the initial phase of the SLR, the CIMO approach proposed by Denyer and Tranfield (2009) was used, which consists of planning the research questions and defining the scope of the study with emphasis on four points: the search for the scope and understanding of the context "C", the intervention "I", the mechanisms "M" and the results "O" that involve the research. After formulating and understanding the planning process, the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) were adopted to select the main studies. According to Moher et al. (2015), the PRISMA protocol helps to identify the main questions and problems addressed in the literature.

Thus, this SLR consists of 7 stages, with procedures 1 to 3 being part of the planning phase and procedures 4 to 7 being part of the PRISMA protocol, namely: 1 - search for possible studies following search queries selected based on expert recommendations; 2 - search for possible articles in other sources; 3 - implementation of inclusion and exclusion criteria; 4 - analysis and removal of duplicate articles; 5 - selection of articles for first reading (title, keywords, and abstract); 6 - selection of articles for full reading; 7 - analysis of the synthesis.

The Systematic Literature Review was carried out in 2022 with articles published between 1993 and 2022 (30 years). Initially, 14,366 scientific articles from the social and natural sciences disciplines were collected through search queries for the key terms "agricultur*¹ OR livestock OR farming AND frontier* AND environment*". This was done using electronic databases made available by ScienceDirect (Elsevier), Web of Science (Clarivate Analytics), and Google Scholar platforms.

¹ The use of asterisks next to keywords indicates that the exact spelling of the word was included in the search, for example, agricultur* includes agriculture, agricultural, etc.

In the second stage, articles were analyzed which, even if they were not in the searches of the three database platforms, were relevant, including recommended or well-known articles. From there, the inclusion and exclusion criteria were implemented, which consisted of selecting scientific articles ONLY written in English, published between 1993 and 2022, with a citation number² > 50 or with an average of 10 citations per year, and which had emerging countries³ as their area of study.

Following the inclusion and exclusion criteria, as well as the recommendations, 138 articles were analyzed for possible duplicates using the EndNote reference management software. The summary of the process is illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Results of the Scoping Search

Source: Own Elaboration.

² The number of citations was not an exclusion criterion for the additional relevant articles recommended by other sources.

³ The key terms for the analysis of emerging countries were: 'Developing countries OR Emerging countries OR Latin America OR Transition economies OR BRIC* OR Brazil OR India OR China OR Russia OR Indonesia OR Malaysia OR Argentina OR Turkey OR Mexico OR Hungary OR Poland OR Croatia OR South Africa OR Egypt OR Morocco'.

After eliminating the duplicate articles, the analysis was further refined, in which 108 articles were selected for an initial reading of the title, keywords, and abstract and, after cutting out 42 articles, 66 articles were read in full. Finally, after full reading, only 6 articles were excluded, and 60 articles categorized as "highly relevant" were ready for the literature review (n = 60).

2.2 Geographical Distribution and Key Terms of Studies

From the papers, 15 countries/regions are mentioned regarding the relationship between the agricultural frontier and the environment. Brazil was the most explored one with 20 papers (33,34% of the sample), followed by South America with 6 (10%), then the island region of Indonesia/Malaysia with 5 (8,35%), and Mexico, Indonesia (alone), and China with 4 articles each (6.66% each). Emerging countries were addressed by 2 papers only (3.33%). The selected papers' distribution is illustrated in Graph 1.



Graph 1: Distribution of articles studied by Country/Region

Following the methodology employed in the articles, it was noted that the influence of agricultural frontiers can encompass numerous factors and be evaluated through various methods. Regarding the methodological process characteristics, most of the studies were empirical (46), with only 14 adopting a theoretical approach. The empirical studies utilized a range of research models and methods, including satellite

Source: Own Elaboration.

mapping analysis (15 articles), linear regression models (10 articles), simulation models (8 articles), logit models (6), analysis of variance (3), probabilistic models (2 articles), and both case studies and mathematical models (1 article each). Conversely, the theoretical articles mainly discussed the topic using the descriptive method (14 articles).

Although each article had specific goals, their primary aim was to analyze the impact of agricultural production on nature, assessing its effects on various environmental factors or examining the public policies and socioeconomic aspects involved. As shown in Graph 2, most authors focused on studying public policies for preservation or regeneration in agricultural frontiers (15 articles).

The second most researched topic was the environmental impact on land use (10 articles), followed by deforestation (7 articles). The interference of socioeconomic factors in the relationship between the environment and agricultural frontiers was studied in 5 articles. Additionally, there were studies on the environmental impact on animal biodiversity (4 articles), the measurement of greenhouse gas emissions (3 articles), and the impact on water (1 article).



Graph 2: Key topics for environmental impacts on agricultural frontiers

Source: Own Elaboration.

Furthermore, due to the broad and subjective nature of the term "environment," some articles (15 in total) did not focus on a single specific point but instead addressed multiple themes. For instance, one article analyzed the interference of agricultural

frontiers on both land and water use, another looked at greenhouse gas emissions and land use, and another explored the interplay of socioeconomic factors and water use. Other studies examined deforestation alongside animal biodiversity, socioeconomic factors, or preservation and regeneration policies (1, 1, and 3 articles respectively). When an article had more than two main themes, it was classified as a general approach paper, with 7 such papers being studied.

2.3 Key Studies by Country/Region

Analyzing studies on agricultural frontiers in emerging countries provides a comprehensive context due to the unique characteristics of each country. Whether considering population size, topography, climate, or political landscape, research in these nations encompasses a diverse array of aspects and issues. This section offers an overview of significant research conducted in emerging countries, highlighting the primary concerns of the authors in each region.

Brazil, known as a global biodiversity hotspot, has been a focal point for studies on the environmental impacts of intensive agricultural production, especially in the Amazon Rainforest (Nepstad et al., 2001, 2006, 2008; Mertens et al., 2002; Soares-Filho et al., 2002, 2004; Rodrigues et al., 2009; Pacheco, 2009; Macedo et al., 2012; Schiesari et al., 2013; Verburg et al., 2014; Ochoa-Quintero et al., 2015; Nobre et al., 2016). Research topics in the Brazilian Amazon are diverse, covering loss of animal biodiversity, deforestation measurement, land use, and forest preservation policy analysis.

For instance, Nepstad et al. (2001) and Soares-Filho et al. (2004) investigated the impacts of road paving on deforestation, while Rodrigues et al. (2009) studied how human development levels influence deforestation. Mertens et al. (2002) focused on deforestation due to cattle ranching, and Ochoa-Quintero et al. (2015) on the loss of native species from environmental degradation.

Studies on public policy effectiveness include Nepstad et al. (2006), who compared inhabited and uninhabited reserves, and Pacheco (2009), who examined land reform impacts on deforestation. Nepstad et al. (2008) analyzed economic, forest, and climate trends in the Amazon, while Verburg et al. (2014) looked at balancing conservation policies with commodity prices. Nobre et al. (2016) proposed a new sustainable development paradigm for land use and climate change.

In addition to studies on the Amazon, a few articles analyzed other Brazilian biomes of global importance, such as the Cerrado and the Atlantic Forest. One fact worth highlighting is that, with the implementation of the inclusion and exclusion criteria for this SLR (scientific articles ONLY written in English, published between 1993 and 2022, and with citation number greater than 50), only 3 articles dealt with the Brazilian Cerrado or the Matopiba region in Brazil. However, before the English language exclusion criterion was implemented, 98 articles considered to have a high impact factor dealt with the issue of the agricultural frontier and the environment in the Matopiba region. This shows that research on the Brazilian Cerrado or the Matopiba region in Brazil at a local level, i.e. it is mainly concentrated among Brazilian researchers and is written in Portuguese.

Research on the Cerrado has focused on land use and water reuse (Spera et al., 2016), soybean production expansion (Rausch et al., 2019), and optimizing agricultural profit while maintaining freshwater quality and biodiversity (Kennedy et al., 2016). In the Atlantic Forest, Umetsu and Pardini (2007) examined habitat changes for small mammals due to human activity. Broader studies include Barretto et al. (2013) on agricultural intensification and land use patterns, Picoli et al. (2018) on crop expansion and land changes from pasture intensification, and Da Silva Junior et al. (2020) on persistent fires and compliance with the 2015 Paris Agreement.

The literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment is not confined to Brazil. Indonesia and Malaysia also feature prominently due to significant agricultural expansion driven by palm oil production (Koh and Wilcove, 2008; McCarthy and Cramb, 2009; Koh et al., 2011; Wicke et al., 2011; Carlson et al., 2012, 2013, 2018; Miettinen et al., 2012; Busch et al., 2015).

Additionally, articles addressing multiple emerging countries discuss the environmental impact of commodity production and exports (Henders, Persson, and Kastner, 2015) and smallholder farmers' deforestation decisions (Babigumira et al., 2014). Studies focusing on South America examine agricultural intensification in the Chaco region (Baumann et al., 2017; Fehlenberg et al., 2017; Le Polain de Waroux et al., 2018) and the Río de la Plata area (Baeza and Paruelo, 2020).

Research in China has centered on land use variations (Lin and Ho, 2003; Chen et al., 2014), agricultural production efficiency (Deng and Gibson, 2019), and water use (Wang et al., 2019). Mexican studies often explore trade-offs, such as between ecological reserves and archeological-ecotourist zones (Turner Ii et al., 2001), economic benefits of

irrigation versus groundwater effects (Raquel et al., 2007), and community-based forest management versus protected areas (Ellis and Porter-Bolland, 2008).

Argentine research has mainly focused on the Chaco, investigating agricultural expansion's effects on deforestation (Gasparri and Grau, 2009) and animal biodiversity (Mastrangelo and Gavin, 2012), as well as the controlling factors of this expansion (Volante et al., 2016). Indian studies have examined the environmental consequences of the Green Revolution (Singh, 2000), the impacts of human interference in watersheds (Rao and Pant, 2001), and the presence of big cats in agricultural areas (Athreya et al., 2013).

Studies indicate that agricultural frontiers impact the environment in emerging countries through intensive production, with the extent varying based on natural resources affected and country-specific factors such as public policies, regulations, and incentives. To provide updated insights and support the discussion in the next section, Table 1 presents literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries published from 2013 to 2022.

| Reference | Study area | Approach / Issue | Contributions |
|---------------------------------|------------|---------------------------------------|--|
| Volante et al. (2016) | Argentina | Preservation or regeneration policies | The "Native Forest Law" was enacted to regulate the deforestation process; nonetheless, it proved insufficient to prevent the land from changing due to deforestation. |
| Nobre et al. (2016) | Brazil | Preservation or regeneration policies | The creation of high-value goods, services, and platforms using digital, biological, and sophisticated materials technology is made possible by the Amazon Rainforest. It is recognized as a worldwide audience of biological assets as a result. |
| Spera et al. (2016) | Brazil | Land use / Water | Between 2003 and 2013, there was a yearly decline in the amount of water recycled into the atmosphere through evapotranspiration because of the agricultural area expanding from 1.2 to 2.5 million hectares, with native Cerrado vegetation accounting for 74% of this newly cultivated land. |
| Barretto et al. (2013) | Brazil | Land use | In agriculturally consolidated areas, land use intensification occurred in tandem with the shrinkage of cultivated and pasture lands, in contrast to agricultural frontier areas where land use intensification occurred in tandem with the extension of agricultural land. |
| Ochoa-Quintero et al. (2015) | Brazil | Deforestation / Biodiversity | Mammal and bird species are less common in environments where between 30 and 40 percent of the land is covered by forests. By 2030, just 22% of landscapes would probably be able to support at least 75% of these species due to deforestation, according to predictions. |
| Kennedy et al. (2016) | Brazil | Land use | Better outcomes arise when the focus of land use is biodiversity and ecosystem services. In comparison to the way land is now used, the Cerrado can potentially increase agricultural revenue and provide significant benefits in biodiversity and water quality. |
| Picoli et al. (2018) | Brazil | Land use | To preserve land for agricultural use, one solution is the dual production system. |
| Schiesari et al. (2013) | Brazil | Preservation or regeneration policies | Small farmers who receive no technical assistance and little knowledge have increased their use of pesticides. Large manufacturers, on the other hand, adhere to scientific advice more and even replace the most hazardous substances willingly since they have access to higher technical knowledge and resources. |
| Verburg et al. (2014) | Brazil | Preservation or regeneration policies | The importance of conservation policies is demonstrated by the fact that, depending on the commodity price scenario, a fall in the average policy aim of the Forest Code from 80% to 60% results in an additional 41 to 57% deforestation. |
| Rausch et al. (2019) | Brazil | General Approach | Between 2003 and 2014, the increase of soy contributed 22% to the conversion of the Cerrado biome, despite the industry's incentives to move production to previously deforested areas. |

Table 1: Reputable articles on Agricultural Frontiers and the Environment from 2013 to 2022

| Da Silva Junior et al. (2020) | Brazil | Preservation or regeneration policies | Brazil needs to utilize public policies, private sector initiatives, and societal changes to curb deforestation brought on by the enlargement of the agricultural frontier in the Amazon and Cerrado biomes. If not, national GHG reduction targets will be jeopardized because the total emissions from fires in the six Brazilian biomes will surpass 5.7 GtCO ₂ . |
|--|--------------------|---|--|
| Chen et al. (2014) | China | Land use | There are two "lessons" to be learned from China's policies for rural development: non-migrants should be encouraged to modify their farms during the emigration process in rural areas, and their interests should also be protected by the government; land zoning and other ecological protection policies should restrict border deforestation. |
| Deng and Gibson (2019) | China | Socioeconomic Factors | While eco-efficiency is better in developed city areas, land productivity is concentrated in cities located far from the provincial or economic center. Thus, sustainable agricultural output requires timely management of trade-offs between agricultural productivity and urbanization. |
| Wang et al. (2019) | China | Socio-economic factors / Water | Between 2000 and 2017, China's efficient use of water in agriculture was attributed to the increasing percentage of secondary or higher education and the per capita income of rural families. |
| Henders, Persson and Kastner (2015) | Emerging countries | Greenhouse gas emissions / Land use | Between 2000 and 2011, the primary embodied flows of land use change in emerging countries were attributed to the export of soybeans and beef from Latin America to China, Europe, North Africa, and the Middle East. Conversely, the primary embodied flows of carbon emissions were attributed to the export of wood products and palm oil from Indonesia and Thailand to Europe and Asia, primarily to China and India. |
| Babigumira et al. (2014) | Emerging countries | Socio-economic factors / Deforestation | Poorer and more isolated households in Emerging Countries were less likely to destroy forests than households with medium to high assets and a stronger market orientation. |
| Horion et al. (2016) | Eurasia | General Approach | The collapse of the Soviet Union, the abandonment of farmland, and human influences (more salinization, increased grazing intensity, and altered irrigation techniques) have all contributed to a decline in rainfall efficiency. |
| Athreya et al. (2013) | India | Biodiversity | Although a wide range of wild carnivores can be found on human-dominated agricultural land, the absence of other wild animals and wild herbivore prey suggests that agriculture has caused human intervention in native ecosystems. |
| Carlson et al. (2013) | Indonesia | Greenhouse gas emissions | Between 2000 and 2010, the country's 47% intact forest destruction was fueled by intensive palm oil development. According to projections, the growth of plantations in Kalimantan alone would be responsible for about 20% of Indonesia's CO ₂ emissions in 2020 if this course was continued. |
| Carlson et al. (2018) | Indonesia | Preservation or regeneration policies | Deforestation in the nation has decreased by 33% because of palm oil plantations accredited by the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO). Nonetheless, most approved plantations had minimal residual forest, indicating that certification is ineffective. |

| Busch et al. (2015) | Indonesia | Preservation or regeneration policies | The nation's rates of deforestation have increased as a result of concessions for oil palm plantations and logging operations in recently approved regions. The implementation of a carbon pricing program or broadening the moratorium to include not just existing concessions but also regions outside of concessions and protected areas would have prevented this. |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| Graesser et al. (2015) | Latin America | Land use | In Latin America, between 2001 and 2013, new agriculture and grassland displaced forests by 17% and 57%, respectively. |
| Meyfroidt et al. (2016) | Russia and Ukraine | Preservation or regeneration policies | After 2000, areas with a younger workforce and a growing rural population saw greater recultivation and less abandonment of crops. Just 8.5 million hectares (Mha) of the 47.3 million Mha of farmed land that was abandoned in 2009 may be used for agriculture with no cost to the environment and few socioeconomic limitations. |
| Jewitt et al. (2015) | South Africa | General Approach | Between 2005 and 2011, the primary factors contributing to the loss of 7.6% of KwaZulu-Natal's natural habitat were mining, dams, agriculture, and forestry plantations. Additionally, the residual biodiversity in these places or those nearby is negatively impacted by the anthropogenically altered land covers, including secondary vegetation. |
| Baumann et al. (2017) | South America | Greenhouse gas emissions | Between 1985 and 2013, crops and pastures replaced 20% of the whole Chaco Forest, resulting in massive carbon emissions of 824 Tg C overall and 46.2 Tg C in 2013 alone. |
| Fehlenberg et al. (2017) | South America | Deforestation | Livestock in Argentina, Bolivia, and Paraguay was strongly linked to deforestation. However, soy farming in Argentina may have contributed indirectly to deforestation in Bolivia and Paraguay, as it was the only direct cause of deforestation in the Argentine Chaco. |
| Gasparri and De Waroux (2015) | South America | Preservation or regeneration policies | Coupled agricultural frontiers make more actor-centered approaches to conservation policy and research necessary. These methods must be grounded in practical models that consider the growing coupling between productive sectors and geographic areas. |
| Le Polain de Waroux et al. (2018) | South America | Socioeconomic Factors | Frontier expansion in the Chaco was fueled by revenue generated by new agricultural technologies, infrastructure, and increased producer prices. However, the existence of anomalous economic rents and the presence of a small number of individuals with the ability to affect the entire process impact the dynamics of these borders. |
| Baeza and Paruelo (2020) | South America | Land use | The Campos do Rio da Prata are experiencing a significant shift in land use, mostly as a result of the agricultural frontier's advancement (which increased by 23% between 2000 and 2014) and the disappearance of field areas on both sides of the Uruguay River and in the western part of the Pampa Interior. |
| Nolte et al. (2017) | South America | Preservation or regeneration policies | It is likely more difficult to encourage governmental and commercial players to implement effective policies to counteract deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon than it is in the Cerrado, Chaco, and Chiquitano. |

Source: Own Elaboration.

2.4 The Connections between Agricultural Frontiers and the Environment

The literature review has concentrated on measuring the effects of intensive farming on remaining natural resources, along with analyzing more sustainable agricultural public policies and methodology. Consequently, the interaction between agricultural expansion and the environment in Emerging Countries will be explored in two distinct approaches: the Extended Industrial Agriculture Focus, which involves the literature's emphasis on measuring, analyzing, and interpreting the impacts on natural resources (including water, soil, air, wildlife, and plants) caused by the growth of agricultural activities; and the Socio-Economic-Ecological Focus, which examines how local socioeconomic factors and public policies influence population behaviors in the context of environmental and agricultural frontier interactions.

2.4.1 Extended Industrial Agriculture Focus

Several studies have shown significant environmental impacts resulting from the expansion of agricultural frontiers in emerging countries. Research with Extended Industrial Agriculture Focus has examined these impacts on a wide range of natural resources, including land, fauna, flora, air, and water. To do this, the researchers used argumentative/narrative text, satellite-based maps, and linear, probabilistic and simulation models as the main methodologies.

The term "environment" is broad and subjective, leading some researchers to address multiple natural resources in a single study. Data revealed that studies analyzing two natural resources primarily focus on the environmental impact of agricultural production on land use or flora (deforestation) along with another resource. For example, Ochoa-Quintero et al. (2015) found that deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon reduced mammal and bird populations in areas with 30 to 40% forest cover. Predictions for 2030 indicated that under the same deforestation scenario, only 22% of Amazonian landscapes would support at least 75% of these species.

Henders, Persson, and Kastner (2015) identified that changes in land use and carbon fluxes from 2000 to 2011 were primarily driven by exports of beef, palm oil, and soybean in Emerging Countries. Spera et al. (2016) found that agricultural expansion in the Brazilian Cerrado from 2003 to 2013 decreased the amount of water recycled into the atmosphere.

Articles that analyze multiple natural resources provide a broader view of regional impacts. For instance, Rao and Pant (2001) concluded that agricultural and extractive activities, coupled with population growth, led to a vegetation cover decline in the central Himalayan region of India between 1963 and 1996, which in turn stimulated soil and water loss in the Sadiyagad watershed region.

In Malaysia and Indonesia, Koh et al. (2011) reported that 6% of tropical peatlands were used for palm oil production, causing the emission of over 4.5 million Mg of carbon per year and the loss of 140 million g of biomass carbon, along with significant biodiversity destruction. Similarly, Carlson et al. (2012) noted a 4% reduction in forest cover in Indonesia from 1989 to 2008 due to intensive palm oil production, with projections indicating further deforestation on regional and community lands.

Studies covering Eurasia, Africa, and Brazil also highlight diverse environmental impacts. Horion et al. (2016) observed that rainfall use efficiency in the region from Western Ukraine to Eastern China and from Southern Russia to Turkmenistan decreased following the Soviet Union's collapse in 1991, alongside anthropogenic effects like grazing intensity, increased salinization, and irrigation changes.

Jewitt et al. (2015) found that from 2005 to 2011, over 7% of the natural habitat in South Africa's KwaZulu-Natal was devastated due to intensified agriculture, mining, and dam construction, transforming land use and causing biodiversity loss. In Brazil, Rausch et al. (2019) attributed 22% of the Cerrado Biome's deforestation from 2003 to 2014 to soybean production, suggesting that private sector policies restricting deforestation could reduce degradation.

Land Use

The review then focuses on studies analyzing the impact of agricultural frontiers on individual natural resources, beginning with land use. Barretto et al. (2013) used the OLS model to show that intensified land use decreased pastures and crops in established agricultural regions while increasing agricultural land on the frontiers. Baeza and Paruelo (2020) found that agricultural expansion in the Río de la Plata⁴ region decreased pastures, particularly along the Uruguay River and western Pampa Interior.

Graesser et al. (2015) emphasized the importance of distinguishing between pastures and crops in land use efficiency studies in Latin America, as they have different soil impacts. Wicke et al. (2011) concluded that palm oil production significantly impacted land use in Indonesia and

⁴ The South American countries of Uruguay and Argentina have natural border between them, formed by Rio de la Plata.

Thailand, leading to substantial forest cover loss. Lin and Ho (2003) reported significant agricultural land loss in China due to urbanization, rural industrialization, and agricultural restructuring. Chen et al. (2014) highlighted the need to consider rural out-migration when studying land use changes in China.

To mitigate the environmental impact of agricultural production on land use, Picoli et al. (2018) suggested that double cropping systems in Mato Grosso, Brazil, saved land used for agriculture. Kennedy et al. (2016) indicated that optimal land use outcomes balance agricultural needs with environmental preservation. Smith et al. (2007) found that soil organic carbon loss due to climate change in Russia and Ukraine could be minimized by prioritizing environmental considerations.

Flora

Flora in Emerging Countries is heavily impacted by agricultural production, with significant deforestation attributed to soy and livestock. Fehlenberg et al. (2017) found that soybean cultivation drove deforestation in the Argentine Chaco, while cattle ranching increased deforestation in Argentina, Bolivia, and Paraguay. Mertens et al. (2002) linked cattle production in the Brazilian Amazon to increased deforestation and fire outbreaks. Müller et al. (2012) noted that intensive agriculture and cattle ranching drove deforestation in Bolivia.

Gasparri and Grau (2009) reported that global soy demand led to the clearance of 1.4 million hectares of dry forest in the Argentinean Chaco from 1972 to 2007. Macedo et al. (2012) suggested that soybean production could inversely relate to deforestation with effective land use policies.

Other factors also drive deforestation. Nepstad et al. (2001) observed that road construction increased deforestation rates in the Amazon Rainforest. Pacheco (2006) found that deforestation in Bolivia intensified when the economic model shifted to a more liberal one.

Fauna

The literature also addresses the loss of animal biodiversity due to advancing agricultural frontiers. Koh and Wilcove (2008) found that oil palm cultivation reduced bird and butterfly populations in Malaysia and Indonesia. Mastrangelo and Gavin (2012) reported fewer bird species in cattle production areas of the Argentinian Chaco compared to intact forests.

Some studies documented animal migrations due to agricultural expansion. Umetsu and Pardini (2007) found that native vegetation destruction in Brazil's Atlantic Forest increased invasive species. Athreya et al. (2013) noted that intensive agriculture in India led to large wild carnivores moving into human-inhabited areas.

Air

To assess atmospheric impacts, researchers quantified pollutant emissions from intensive agriculture and simulated pollution scenarios. Baumann et al. (2017) found that agricultural intensification decimated 20% of the Chaco Forest between 1985 and 2013, causing significant carbon emissions. Miettinen et al. (2012) reported that peatland devastation for oil palm cultivation in Malaysia and Indonesia emitted 230310 Mt CO₂e. Carlson et al. (2013) projected that oil palm production in Kalimantan, Indonesia, would contribute to 20% of the country's CO₂ emissions by 2020.

Water

Only one study discussed the impact of agricultural frontiers on water. Raquel et al. (2007) used Game Theory to analyze optimal decisions between increasing agricultural production using irrigation and minimizing environmental impacts on groundwater in Mexico's Alto Rio Lerma Irrigation District. They concluded that irrigation significantly decreases groundwater, and optimal decisions depend on the relative importance of irrigation and overall water use. For environmental sustainability, the Pareto optimum would extract about 370 million cubic meters of water per year.

2.4.2 Socio-Economic-Ecological Focus

To analyze the literature with a Socio-Economic-Ecological focus, the authors presented data on the environmental impacts caused by agricultural frontiers, with an emphasis on listing possible solutions for preservation and regeneration, in addition to examining how socioeconomic factors can influence environmental degradation. The discussion first addresses potential solutions to environmental issues and then considers the impact of socioeconomic aspects.

In their study on Mexico, Ellis and Porter-Bolland (2008) highlighted the importance of protected areas for forest preservation, noting that deforestation was more prevalent in regions with community-based forest management compared to protected areas. Similarly, Volante et al. (2016) examined the Argentine Chaco, revealing that forest laws like the "Native Forest Law" were

insufficient to curb deforestation and regional transformation. They suggested that changes in law enforcement strategies or the introduction of alternative incentives, such as the EU's biofuel import standards, might help reverse this trend.

Understanding regional heterogeneity is crucial for adopting environmental protection measures in emerging countries. Pacheco et al. (2010) noted that while Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD) is vital for conserving tropical forests in Latin America, socioeconomic and land use heterogeneity complicates policy implementation. Nolte et al. (2017) discussed South American biomes, stating that the Cerrado, Chaco, and Chiquitano regions, despite having lower carbon stocks and biodiversity, are agriculturally significant with numerous private properties and better compliance with forestry regulations than the Amazon. Policies to combat deforestation must consider the specific characteristics of each agricultural frontier. Gasparri and De Waroux (2015) emphasized the need for models that analyze the coupling of geographic locations and productive sectors due to the significant role of soybean and cattle production in driving deforestation in South America.

In Brazil, much of the literature focuses on the Amazon Rainforest. Suggested solutions for forest preservation and regeneration include creating ecological parks, preserving indigenous reserves (Nepstad et al., 2006), enforcing the Forest Code to prevent deforestation (Verburg et al., 2014), regulating the use of fire by landowners, enhancing environmental performance in commodity markets, and incentivizing carbon markets (Nepstad et al., 2008). Additionally, Nobre et al. (2016) recommended promoting sustainable land use and climate change mitigation through biological, digital, and material technologies.

Studies in Southeast Asia (Indonesia and Malaysia) identified the main drivers of palm oil cultivation and proposed solutions to mitigate the resulting environmental issues. McCarthy and Cramb (2009) found that the shift to neoliberalism facilitated forest devastation by agricultural frontiers, replacing subsistence farming with mechanized agriculture. Busch et al. (2015) argued that reducing agricultural concessions and promoting carbon emission reduction policies are crucial to reversing environmental degradation in Indonesia.

Carlson et al. (2018) added that RSPO certification, while not a panacea, significantly reduced deforestation in Indonesia from 2001 to 2015. Wilcove and Koh (2010) discussed Southeast Asia, concluding that "boycott" policies are ineffective for this region, and that promoting competitiveness through incentives like REDD would be more successful. Singh (2000)

found that the Green Revolution's intensive agricultural production in India led to soil degradation and water pollution, suggesting that increasing and diversifying biomass productivity, moisture conservation, nutrient management, and land use planning are essential for restoring degraded areas.

Regarding the influence of socioeconomic factors, several studies have shown that environmental degradation rates in emerging countries decrease with socioeconomic development, whether intellectual or financial. For instance, Rodrigues et al. (2009) demonstrated that literacy, life expectancy, and living standards inversely correlate with environmental degradation, supporting the Environmental Kuznets Curve hypothesis. Schiesari et al. (2013) found that smallscale farmers with higher education and technical support tend to use fewer pesticides and less harmful resources.

Deng and Gibson (2019) studied China's Shandong region, finding that land productivity is concentrated in cities far from economic centers, but eco-efficiency is higher in developed cities and eco-tourism areas. Conversely, Babigumira et al. (2014) concluded that wealthier farmers in 24 emerging countries tend to deforest more than poorer smallholder farmers lacking market knowledge.

Beyond the direct link between environmental degradation and socioeconomic levels, other studies highlight different ways socioeconomic factors affect the relationship between agricultural frontiers and the environment. Meyfroidt et al. (2016) argued that young labor and an increasing rural population are essential for recultivating abandoned agricultural land in Russia and Ukraine, stimulating new agricultural frontiers. Le Polain de Waroux et al. (2018) found that the expansion of agricultural frontiers in the South American Chaco responds well to new technologies, infrastructure, and rising prices. However, these frontiers' dynamics are shaped by abnormal economic rents and a limited number of actors (commodity producers, speculators, rentiers) influencing the process.

2.5 Research Agenda

Brazil is considered the "home country" for discussions on the relationship between intensive agricultural production and the environment, with literature primarily focusing on the Amazon rainforest. These studies have noted that several measures to combat environmental degradation, such as expanding protected areas, implementing national and foreign financial incentives, and enacting national public policies, have been in place for some time.

However, there is a lack of studies measuring the effectiveness of these measures, either individually or collectively, or their impact across the vast expanse of the Amazon, which spans nine Brazilian states and six other countries. Furthermore, other crucial Brazilian biomes, like the Cerrado, Atlantic Forest, Caatinga, Pampas, and Pantanal, have been largely overlooked. The Cerrado, for instance, is Brazil's most recent agricultural frontier (Matopiba) and warrants special attention due to its high deforestation rates, unique biodiversity, and significant natural aquifers.

Research on Indonesia and Malaysia has highlighted the numerous environmental impacts of intensive palm oil production, with studies already measuring the effectiveness of certification schemes like the RSPO. Despite these efforts and the ongoing destruction of tropical forests, palm oil production and associated degradation continue unabated. Pirker et al. (2016) noted that only 17% of the world's suitable area remains for palm oil expansion, and these areas are increasingly inaccessible. Future research should identify these areas and assess whether soil degradation and deforestation trends align with palm oil expansion. There is also a need to investigate potential desertification processes in Indonesia and Malaysia and explore reversal strategies if such trends are identified.

In populous countries like India and China, the impacts of agricultural frontiers on the environment are closely linked to potential land and food scarcity. Balancing cultivation and food production needs with space for growing populations is critical. Research should focus on meeting current food demands with minimal environmental impact, emphasizing soil management and the restoration of degraded areas. Additionally, studies should explore whether intensive production and degraded areas drive migration, investigating how changes in soil and deforestation stimulate population movements in these countries.

Emerging countries are heterogeneous but share a strong political-structural dependence, influenced by internal and external stimuli. Agricultural production and environmental policies are often driven by markets and governments. Research should examine how different forms of
government in emerging countries impact the relationship between agricultural frontiers and the environment. Is there a consensus on these measures? Are they spatially dependent or merely tied to local governments? Moreover, the influence of foreign markets on agricultural production and preservation policies in emerging countries remains underexplored. Are these influences driven by internal markets or external forces? Do they lean towards an Extended Industrial Agriculture bias or a Socio-Economic-Ecological Focus?

While promoting agricultural production is essential for economic growth in emerging countries, it is equally important to understand and mitigate the environmental impacts of agricultural frontier expansion. Can sustainable development be achieved in countries where agricultural production is the main economic driver? To what extent can the environment sustain this expansion? These are critical questions to address, requiring a balance between agricultural production and environmental impact, potentially through multi-component forecasting models like System Dynamics Modeling. This approach could help develop measures to balance intensive agricultural production with environmental sustainability more effectively.

Summary

This chapter used a Systematic Literature Review to analyze key research on the impact of agricultural frontiers on the environment in emerging countries, discussing theories on environmental and agricultural transformations over the past thirty years (1993-2022).

Although the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries adopts diverse theories and methodologies, most studies focus on measuring the impact of agriculture on natural resources, which I call the Expanded Industrial Agriculture Approach, and on examining how local socioeconomic factors and public policies influence the population's relationship with agricultural frontiers and the environment, defined as the Socioeconomic-Ecological Approach. These two definitions of approaches are currently the best way to systematize the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries.

In studies with an Expanded Industrial Agriculture Focus, intensive agriculture is shown to degrade various natural resources. However, discussions primarily address environmental impacts on flora (deforestation rates), air (pollutant gas measurements), and land use changes, indicating a need for more research on the impacts of agricultural production on water resources. Articles with a Socio-Economic-Ecological Focus propose solutions to environmental problems in emerging

countries, such as creating ecological parks, expanding forest protection areas, implementing region-specific public policies, enforcing stricter environmental laws, and promoting biological, digital, and material technologies. Research also shows that socioeconomic aspects like literacy, life expectancy, and high living standards tend to reduce environmental degradation rates.

The data also revealed that most studies on the agricultural frontier and the environment are concentrated in Brazil, followed by studies on South America and the island regions of Indonesia and Malaysia. It was then observed that there is a lack of research on European economies in transition, emerging African countries, and Russia, as well as on the agrienvironmental impact of the high demand for food in populous countries such as India and China.

Studies on Brazil have focused mainly on the Amazon Rainforest, leaving a significant gap in the literature on other important Brazilian biomes, such as the Cerrado, the Atlantic Forest, the Caatinga, the Pampas, and the Pantanal. It was observed that research on the Brazilian Cerrado or the Matopiba region in Brazil is still mainly concentrated among Brazilian researchers and is written in Portuguese, since, with the adoption of the English language exclusion criterion, these studies had few samples.

Future research on agricultural frontiers and the environment should not only propose solutions but also measure the effectiveness of these proposals in reducing/reversing degradation in emerging countries, considering market influences, government types, and regional heterogeneity. Research should adopt dynamic forecasting models to balance intensive agricultural production with environmental impacts. Furthermore, studies should address recent topics like agricultural digitalization, migration of agro-industrial poles, nanotechnology, and the circular economy.

3. Chapter 3: Matopiba: Brazil's Newest Agricultural Frontier

Introduction

This chapter is descriptive and informative and aims to summarize the socio-economic and environmental characteristics of the Matopiba region in Brazil. The analysis was based on data provided by Brazilian institutes and projects, namely: Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária (EMBRAPA)⁵, Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (IBGE)⁶, Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada do Brasil (IPEA)⁷, Sistema de Estimativa de Emissões de Gases de Efeito Estufa (SEEG)⁸ and MAPBiomas⁹ Brazil.

The first section gives an overview of the socio-economic situation of Matopiba, mainly presenting the delimitation of the region and the evolution of GDP, agricultural production, and land cover. The second section characterizes the environmental aspects of the region (climate, relief, geology, hydrography), as well as presents an overview of the main environmental impacts suffered in recent years.

3.1 Developmental Aspects

With an area of around 73 million hectares and a population of 6.2 million (IBGE, 2022), Matopiba is a region in the north and northeast of Brazil that encompasses four states: Maranhão (33% of the total area of this region), Tocantins (38%), Piauí (11%) and Bahia (18%). In the geographical delimitation proposed by EMBRAPA (used by the country's main institutes), the region comprises 337 municipalities divided into 31 geographical micro-regions¹⁰.

⁵ Public research company linked to the Brazilian Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock and Supply.

⁶ A public institute of the Brazilian federal administration. Created in 1934, it is the main provider of geographical and statistical information in Brazil.

⁷ A federal public foundation linked to Brazil's Ministry of Planning and Budget. It promotes advanced economic research in the country.

⁸ Online platform developed by the Observatório do Clima initiative that provides data on GHG emissions throughout Brazil.

⁹ The project is an initiative of Brazilian civil society Observatório do Clima, co-created and developed by a multiinstitutional network involving universities, NGOs and technology companies with the aim of mapping land use and land cover in Brazil every year and monitoring changes in the territory.

¹⁰ The list of the 337 municipalities and 31 geographic microregions of Matopiba can be found in Table A1 at Appendix A.



Figure 3: Geographical Location Matopiba Region - Brazil

The region encompasses around 324,326 agricultural establishments occupying an area of approximately 36 million ha, as well as 781 agrarian reform settlements and quilombola areas (approximately 14 million ha), 46 ecological conservation units (8.4 million ha), and 35 indigenous lands (4.2 million ha) (Miranda, 2015).

According to the Regional, Urban and Environmental Bulletin developed by IPEA (Pereira, Porcionato, & Castro, 2018), Matopiba has been undergoing socio-economic transformations because of the expansion of intensive agriculture, in which social indicators, such as the Municipal Human Development Index (MHDI) and the Social Vulnerability Index (SVI), have shown trends of social improvement in Matopiba since the 2000s. This progress is directly related to improvements in educational indicators (a reduction in the illiteracy rate, an increase in the high school attendance rate, and an increase in the average number of years of study in the region), as well as associated with improvements in urban infrastructure (an increase in water supply networks, garbage collection, and sewage services).

Data from the Report on the Personal Distribution of Income and Wealth of the Brazilian Population (BRASIL, 2016) shows that there was a decrease in the Gini index in Matopiba in 2010 compared to 2000. The reduction in income inequality was observed in 250 municipalities (74% of the region). This improvement is due to the implementation of public policies aimed at redistributing income, such as the Bolsa Família Program¹¹ and the Continuous Cash Benefit¹² (Pereira, Porcionato, & Castro, 2018).

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

Between 2000 and 2021, the Matopiba region had a gross GDP growth rate of 1,419%, going from 10.6 billion reais in 2000 to 150.9 billion reais in 2021. Taking taxes into account, this growth is 1460%, from a current GDP of 11.3 billion in 2000 to 166 billion reais in 2021. The region's great economic growth has been driven mainly by agriculture and the goods and services sector.

Data from IBGE (2022) show that, although the state of Tocantins has the largest number of municipalities in Matopiba, the state of Maranhão had the largest share of the region's total GDP in 2021, followed by Tocantins and Bahia. Piauí, which has the fewest municipalities, is also the smallest in terms of its share of the region's GDP.

Based on the general GDP data for Matopiba, it is also worth analyzing the gross value added by sectors of the economy: agriculture, industry, services, and administration (defense, public education, health, and social security). Data from IBGE (2022) also shows that the agricultural sector contributed 31% of the total added value in 2021 in the region, while industry contributed 14%, the services sector 33%, and the administration sector 22%.

Although the agricultural sector will account for 31% of the total value added in 2021, it is important to consider that the services sector has various activities related to agriculture, such as transportation, storage, logistics, trade, and technical assistance, among others, which justifies the significant value of the services sector (Pereira, Porcionato, & Castro, 2018).

In addition, the relative share of the agricultural sector was the highest among the economic sectors compared to 2000 (an increase of 1716%). This increase was greater than the growth rate

¹¹ It is a cash transfer program run by the Brazilian federal government and linked to the Ministry of Development and Social Assistance, Family and Fight against Hunger. As well as guaranteeing income to families living in poverty, the PBF seeks to integrate public policies, strengthening families' access to basic rights such as health, education and social assistance.

¹² It is a social assistance benefit in Brazil, provided by the National Social Security Institute, which guarantees a minimum monthly wage to people with disabilities who can prove that they do not have the means to provide for themselves or their family.

of total GDP over the same period. As illustrated in Graph 3, agricultural GDP rose from 2.7 billion in 2000 (26% of the total aggregate) to 46.7 billion reais in 2021 (31% of the total aggregate).

Considered the country's most recent agricultural frontier, the literature corroborates these figures and lists the agricultural sector as the main factor in Matopiba's economic development (De Oliveira, Raposo, & Garcia 2024; Dos Reis et al., 2024; Loayza et al., 2023; Nunes, Campelo Filho, & Benini, 2023; Batista et al., 2022; De Oliveira, Dörner, & Schneider, 2020; Ribeiro et al., 2020; Widmarck, 2020; De Araújo et al., 2019; Bragança, 2018; Pereira, Castro, & Porcionato, 2018).



Graph 3: Contribution of Economic Sectors to the GDP of the Matopiba Region (R\$)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from IBGE (2022).

The GDP of services grew from 4.1 billion in 2000 to 50.5 billion in 2021. Despite a growth of 1230%, there was a decrease in the contribution of the services GDP to the total value added, from a contribution of 39% in 2000 to 33% in 2021.

The industrial sector showed the lowest growth rate compared to 2000 (755%), which meant that the industrial sector's relative share of the total value added grew by just 1%, from 13% in 2000 to 14% in 2021. These figures indicate that the industrial sector is losing ground in Matopiba.

There was also an increase in GDP from administration, from 2.4 billion in 2000 to 33.1 billion in 2021. Despite a small decrease in the contribution to total value added (from 23% in 2000 to 22% in 2021), the figures represent a growth of 1356% in public investment and social security in the region.

Agricultural Production

Until the first half of the 20th century, the Matopiba region was covered by pastures and native vegetation (Cerrado and Caatinga) and, as a result, agriculture was considered unproductive. However, since 2005, there has been an expansion of agricultural activity in the region, with the emergence of large monoculture farms that use mechanized technologies for large-scale production, mainly for the export of soy, corn, and cotton (BRASIL, 2021). This expansion was due to the region's flat topography and the low cost of land compared to the consolidated areas of central-southern Brazil.

Agricultural production in Matopiba grew by 387% between 2000 and 2021, from 8.4 million tons in 2000 to 32.5 million tons in 2021. As Graph 4 shows, this high growth was mainly due to soybean and corn production.



Graph 4: Agricultural Production in Matopiba Region (t)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from IBGE (2022).

With an increase of 725%, soybean production went from 2.2 million tons in 2000 to 16 million tons in 2021. This growth has made soybean the main agricultural crop in Matopiba, accounting for almost 50% of all agricultural production in the region. In addition, Matopiba is already responsible for almost 15% of Brazil's total soybean production.

Corn production increased from 1.3 million tons in 2000 to 7.4 million tons in 2021 (an increase of 560%). Currently, corn production represents 22% of Matopiba's total production and, together with soybeans, is the region's main agricultural crop (71% of total agricultural production).

Sugarcane production is the third largest in Matopiba. It went from 1.7 million tons produced in 2000 to almost 5.3 million tons in 2021, which represents an increase of 310% over the period. This increase makes sugarcane production responsible for 16% of the region's total agricultural production.

Cotton production grew the most between 2000 and 2021 in Matopiba (1072%). Production went from 124,000 tons in 2000 to 1.3 million (t) in 2021. However, despite this enormous growth, cotton represents only 4% of the region's total production.

Considered one of Matopiba's main crops, rice production has been declining since 2000. It went from 1.4 million tons in 2000 to 912,000 in 2010 and 851,000 in 2021. This decline is mainly associated with the replacement of rice production by soybeans and corn.

In addition to large-scale grain production, the region also has room for livestock and fruit, roots, and tubers, the main ones being cassava, beans, sugar cane, watermelon, and pineapple.

The Brazilian Ministry of Agriculture says that a large part of this increase in grain productivity (mainly soybean) is due to the technologies currently used in Matopiba, such as the use of hybrids and cultivars adapted to the soil and climate conditions, conservation management systems (no-till farming and Crop-Livestock-Forest Integration), as well as the efficient use of pesticides, correctives, and fertilizers.

The states of Bahia and Tocantins are currently the largest agricultural producers in the region. Production in Bahia was more than 10.2 million tons, with the micro-regions of Barreiras and Santa Maria da Vitória being the most important. A noteworthy fact is that the municipalities of the Barreiras micro-region alone produced around 7.9 million tons, 5.5 million tons of which were soybeans, making this micro-region the largest agricultural producer in Matopiba.

The state of Tocantins produced just over 9.1 million tons in 2021, with the micro-regions of Miracema do Tocantins, Rio Formoso and Porto Nacional standing out. The soybean crop was also the largest producer in Tocantins (3.7 million tons), followed by corn production (approximately 2 million tons).

The municipalities of Maranhão produced around 8.6 million tons in 2021, with the microregions of Balsas Gerais and Chapadas das Mangabeiras being the biggest producers, with soybeans and corn also standing out. Finally, the state of Piauí produced 4.6 million tons, mainly driven by the municipalities in the Alto Parnaíba Piauiense and Alto Médio Gurguéia microregions.

Land Cover and Use

The progress of farming in Matopiba can also be seen when looking at the history of land cover in the region. Farming areas jumped from 16 million hectares in 2000 to 25.2 million in 2021. As illustrated in Graph 5, this increase was due to the intensive growth of pasture and agricultural areas.



Graph 5: Distribution of Farming Land Use in Matopiba Region (ha)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from IBGE (2022).

Pastureland increased by another 5 million hectares between 2000 and 2021 in Matopiba. It went from an area of 10.2 million hectares in 2000 to 15.2 million hectares in 2021, which represents an increase of 149%. The area devoted to agriculture grew by 381% in the same period, from 1.5 million hectares in 2000 to over 5.8 million in 2021, mainly due to the large production of soybeans and corn in the region (this will be discussed later in this session).

Despite a 473% increase between 2000 and 2021, forest plantation areas occupied only 2.5 million hectares in 2021. Also known as silviculture, these areas grow tree species to produce wood, resins, and essences, among other things.

Looking at the annual average, from 2010 to 2021, the area for farming grew by an average of 478.3 thousand hectares per year, with 203 thousand hectares on average for agriculture, 184 thousand for pasture, 79 thousand for mosaic areas, and 12.1 thousand hectares on average per year for forest plantations.

Due to the wide variety of crops grown in Matopiba and the fact that it currently demands the most land, a more in-depth analysis of the distribution of agricultural land use in the region was deemed necessary. With an area of 4.4 million hectares, soybeans would occupy 75% of all agricultural land in Matopiba by 2021, but this wasn't always the case.



Graph 6: Distribution of Agricultural Land Use in Matopiba Region (ha)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from IBGE (2022).

In 2000, soybean production occupied an area of just over 68,000 hectares. However, due to public policies and intense technological modernization, soy has become the most widely grown grain in Matopiba and, by 2010, it has already occupied an area of more than 2 million hectares. Between 2000 and 2021, there was a 646% increase in soybean area in the region.

The area planted with corn grew by 226% in the same period, from 48,8027 hectares in 2000 to 1.1 million in 2021. As a result, corn production occupies 19% of the agricultural area.

The increase in agricultural area can also be seen in other temporary crops (cotton, rice, sugar cane, among others), but they only represent 5% of the total area. Finally, the area of permanent crops (coffee, apples, pears, grapes, mangoes, oranges, among others) grew by 180% between 2000 and 2021 but represents only 1% of the total agricultural area in the region.

3.2 Environmental Aspects

Characterization

One of the criteria used in Matopiba's territorial delimitation was the area of the region's existing biomes. The Cerrado is the predominant biome, representing around 67 million hectares (91% of the territory). The region also has around 5.4 million hectares of the Amazon Biome (7.3%) and 1.2 million hectares of the Caatinga Biome (1.7%).

Due to the predominance of the Cerrado Biome, Matopiba has ecosystems with forest (predominantly tree species), savannah, and grassland formations. Savannahs represent 61% of Matopiba's natural formations, forests comprise around 32%, and grassland formations around 7%. (Oliveira, 2007). Figure 4 shows the territorial delimitation of Matopiba by biome area, in which the Cerrado is represented by orange, the Amazon Biome by green, and the Caatinga by yellow.

The relief of the region is very diverse, with 19 major morphological groups. In the larger area, broad, gentle hills predominate, which are areas characterized by degradation processes in any lithology. The domain of plateaus and plateaus (the second largest in the area) is characterized by relief of degradation in sedimentary rocks. However, the region also has flattened surfaces, river plains, valleys, hills, and low mountains, among other features.

Diversity is also seen in the soil classes in Matopiba, where there are 12 different classes, with latosols, neosols, and plinthosols being the dominant classes. Latosols, the predominant soil in the region, cover an area of around 28 million hectares and are characterized by intense

weathering, but with good permeability and high porosity, i.e. favorable physical characteristics for agricultural use.



Figure 4: Territorial Delimitation of Matopiba by Biome Areas

Source: EMBRAPA (Miranda et al. 2014).

Matopiba's climate is characterized by Tropical Central Brazil (53%), Tropical Equatorial Zone (44%), and Equatorial (3%) climate zones. Due to the region's large territorial extension, the semi-humid tropical climate predominates in the central extension of the territory, with average temperatures above 18°C throughout the year and dry spells of between 4 and 5 months; while the semi-arid climate predominates on the eastern edge of the region, with high temperatures and low humidity and rainfall (6 dry months) (Oliveira, 2007).

In addition to the favorable climate and soils for agricultural production, Matopiba is a region with an extreme abundance of fresh water, in which four of Brazil's main hydrographic basins are found, namely: The Tocantins-Araguaia River Basin, the Parnaíba River Basin, the Atlantic Basin in its North-Northeast stretch, and the São Francisco River Basin.

Figure 5 shows the territorial distribution of Matopiba's river basins. The Tocantins-Araguaia River basin is shown in blue, the Parnaíba River basin in yellow, the Atlantic basin in green, and the São Francisco River basin in purple.



Figure 5: Distribution of Matopiba's River Basins

Source: EMBRAPA (Miranda et al. 2014).

The basins of the Tocantins rivers, the Atlantic Basin in its North-Northeast section, and the São Francisco are home to the main rivers in the region and some of the most important in Brazil: Araguaia, Gurupi, Itapicuru, Mearim, Parnaíba, Pindaré, São Francisco and Tocantins.

Environmental Impacts

In addition to an enormous animal biodiversity, Matopiba encompasses a diversity of endemic plants of global importance. However, around 12 million hectares of native vegetation were lost between 2000 and 2022.

As illustrated in Graph 7, native vegetation covered an area of around 53 million hectares in 2000 in Matopiba, while in 2022 this area was 41 million. Around 502,000 hectares of native vegetation are cleared every year in the region.



Graph 7: Native Vegetation Area in Matopiba Region (ha)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from MapBiomas (2023).

Data from MapBiomas (2023) shows that farming was responsible for 99.5% of the conversion of native vegetation between 2000 and 2022. Other factors, such as mining, urbanized areas, and aquaculture, had little influence, together accounting for just 0.5%.

The conversion of vegetation into pasture amounted to 5.5 million hectares, which represents 50% of all vegetation converted in Matopiba between 2000 and 2022. Agriculture comes next, with a converted area of 3.45 million (31% of the total conversion).

The conversion of vegetation to agriculture and pasture may be even greater, due to the mosaic areas. The conversion of native vegetation to mosaic areas amounted to around 2 million hectares (18% of the total conversion). Finally, the conversion of vegetation to forestry, also called Forest Plantation, amounted to just 150,000 hectares (1%) between 2000 and 2022.

As shown in Graph 8, the annual increase in the area under farming (farming land demand) shows practically the same trend as deforestation in Matopiba, which once again demonstrates that agriculture may be the main cause of the suppression of native vegetation in the region.



Graph 8: Annual Trends in Farming Land Demand and Deforestation in Matopiba (ha)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from MapBiomas (2023).

The small excess deforestation to the farming land demand, according to a report by the Climate Observatory (2024), is due to the current accuracy of deforestation detection systems, as well as the fact that deforestation in Matopiba is spreading to Legal Reserves and Permanent Protection Areas (places that couldn't even be touched).

In addition to the deforestation of native vegetation, the rates of carbon dioxide emissions from farming have also been increasing in Matopiba. Although the total rate of CO₂ emissions is inconstant and decreased between 2013 and 2019, data from the Gas Emission Estimation System - Brazil (SEEG, 2020) shows that CO₂ emissions from farming increased by around 15 million tons (GWP-AR5) between 2000 and 2019.

As seen in Graph 9, CO_2 emissions from farming increased from 25.7 million tons in 2000 to 40.6 million in 2019. Total CO_2 emissions in 2019 were just over 85.7 million tons, which means that farming is responsible for 47% of total CO_2 emissions in the region.

In addition, the average annual CO_2 emissions from farming have been growing. For the period from 2000 to 2019, the average was 34.3 million tons per year. On the other hand, considering a more recent period (2015 to 2019), farming emits more than 39.2 million tons per year in the region.



Graph 9: Carbon Dioxide Emissions in Matopiba Region (tons GWP-AR5)

Source: Own Elaboration, with data from SEEG (2020).

The literature corroborates these figures and shows that the expansion of agribusiness in Matopiba is causing major environmental impacts in the region (Araújo et al., 2024; De Sampaio Melo, Júnior, & de Espindola, 2024; Da Silva Arruda et al., 2024; Siqueira et al., 2024; Agostinho et al., 2023; De Oliveira Aparecido et al., 2023; De Souza et al., 2023; Ferreira, 2023; Santos et al., 2023; Ferreira-Paiva et al., 2022; Nepomoceno, & Carniatto, 2022; Polizel et al., 2021; Schneider, Biedzicki de Marques, & Peres, 2021; Dos Reis et al., 2020; De Barros, & Stege, 2019; Barbirato, & Souza, 2018; Matricardi et al., 2018; Salvador, & de Brito, 2018).

Summary

This chapter has described the socioeconomic and environmental characteristics of the Matopiba region, using available academic literature and data provided by Brazilian institutes and projects.

In addition to outlining the region, the first part of this chapter analyzed the evolution of GDP, agricultural production, and land cover. A comparative analysis showed that Matopiba has been undergoing socio-economic transformations due to the expansion of intensive farming. The region's GDP had a gross GDP growth rate of 1.419% between 2000 and 2021, driven mainly by agriculture and the goods and services sector. Agricultural production rose from 8.4 million tons

in 2000 to 32.5 million tons in 2021, mainly due to the production of soybeans (50% of total agricultural production) and corn (21% of total agricultural production). Farming areas jumped from 16 million hectares in 2000 to 25.2 million in 2021.

The second section characterized the environmental aspects of the region, showing that Matopiba has an abundance of fresh water and a favorable climate and soils for agricultural production. This section also presented the main environmental impacts suffered in recent years in the region, where around 12 million hectares of native vegetation were lost between 2000 and 2022 (with agriculture being responsible for 99.5% of this conversion), as well as CO₂ emissions from agriculture increasing by around 15 million tons between 2000 and 2019.

4. Chapter 4: Verification of Environmental Conditions in Matopiba

Introduction

The descriptive statistics presented in Chapter 3 showed that Matopiba's agricultural production and GDP are growing intensely, while at the same time, there is an increase in the deforestation of native vegetation and agricultural CO₂ rates in the region. Therefore, this chapter aims to use machine learning techniques to develop two statistical models to analyze the environmental conditions generated by the agricultural frontier in the region.

Canonical Correlation Analysis (CCA) was used to verify the relationship and magnitude of dependence between environmental impacts, economic growth, and agricultural production in Matopiba. This statistical technique of the machine learning approach was chosen because of the possibility of finding a linear combination in each set of variables that maximizes the relationship between one or more dependent and independent variables.

The first section of this chapter describes the machine learning approach, and the entire methodological process involved in the analyses (model specification, results interpretation schedule). Section 2 presents the results of the canonical analysis, which first discusses the relationship between environmental impacts and economic growth and then the relationship between environmental impacts and agricultural production.

4.1 The Machine Learning Method

Machine Learning (ML) is a subfield of artificial intelligence that focuses on creating systems that learn or improve data performance based on the very data they consume. ML uses techniques that are an advance on traditional multivariate statistical methods, as it offers insights that are essential for creating predictive models using many artificial intelligence algorithms (Silveira et al., 2023).

The field of ML is broad and encompasses various statistical and computational techniques used to analyze and interpret database patterns, especially in multivariate data analysis and probabilistic inference. Techniques that aim to analyze the degree of relationship between variables by grouping and/or discriminating profiles, such as MANOVA, canonical correlation analysis, and factor analysis, are integral parts of the ML toolkit (Murphy, 2012).

ML techniques have been used in studies that address environmental impacts (Liu, Wang and Fang, 2024; Shoushtari, Zadeh and Daghighi, 2024; Prioux et al., 2023; Rao et al., 2023; Abu El-Magd, Maged and Farhat, 2022; Asha et al., 2022; Gao and Mavris, 2022; Yang et al., 2022; Algren, Fisher and Landis, 2021; Brownlee et al., 2021; Harding and Lamarche, 2021; Abdella et al., 2020; Colla et al., 2020; Garre, Ruiz and Hontoria, 2020; Storm, Baylis and Heckelei, 2020; D'Amico et al., 2019; Lacoste et al., 2019; Cordier et al., 2018) and agricultural production (Attri, Awasthi and Sharma, 2024; Liu et al., 2024; Rane et al., 2024; Amini and Rahmani, 2023; Pallathadka et al., 2023; Akhter and Sofi, 2022; Cravero et al., 2022; Wani et al., 2022; Benos et al., 2021; Meshram et al., 2021; Pant et al., 2021; Hamrani, Akbarzadeh and Madramootoo, 2020; Reddy et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2020; Storm, Baylis and Heckelei, 2020; Rehman et al., 2019; Liakos et al., 2018).

This chapter will use canonical correlation analysis (CCA) with a machine learning approach. CCA is the general multivariate analysis model that uses metric and non-metric variables as dependent and independent variables. While multiple regression analysis involves one metric dependent variable and several independent variables, canonical correlation analysis relates a set of several dependent variables Y (metric and non-metric) to a set of several independent variables X (metric and non-metric) (Hair et al., 2009).

$$Y_1 + Y_2 + \dots + Y_p = X_1 + X_2 + \dots + X_k$$

CCA finds a linear combination in each set of variables that maximizes the relationship between the dependent and independent variables. Each linear combination is called a canonical statistical variable (latent variable), which represents the weighted sum of the variables that make up the respective set of variables. Thus, the two linear combinations must produce the maximum possible correlation between the latent variables (hence the name Canonical Correlation) (Ho, 2013; Sherry and Henson, 2005).

The general CCA model is described in the equation:

$$\alpha_1 Y_1 + \alpha_2 Y_2 + \dots + \alpha_p Y_p = \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots + \beta_n X_n$$

Where:

Y₁, Y₂, ... Y_p are the canonical dependent variables,

 $X_1, X_2, \dots X_n$ are the canonical independent variables,

 \propto are the correlation coefficients for each canonical dependent variable of the model,

 β are the correlation coefficients for each canonical independent variable of the model.

Models Specification

In this chapter, CCA is used to analyze the two proposed models. Model 1 consists of analyzing the canonical correlation between environmental and economic growth variables. The analysis will be carried out in two stages:

1. The relationship of dependence between environmental issues and the economic aggregates of GDP is initially verified.

2. If there is a significant correlation, an attempt is made to identify the relative contribution of the economic aggregates to explaining environmental impacts in Matopiba.

Model 1 is described in the equation:

$$\alpha_1 Y_1 + \alpha_2 Y_2 = \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3$$

Where:

Y₁ represents CO₂ Total Emissions,

Y₂ is the Deforestation of Native Vegetation in the region,

X₁ represents Gross Value Added in Agriculture,

X₂ is the Gross Value Added in Industry,

X₃ is the Gross Value Added of Services and Administration,

 \propto are the correlation coefficients for each canonical dependent variable of Model 1,

 β are the correlation coefficients for each canonical independent variable of Model 1.

Model 1 serves as the basis for proving Hypothesis 3 of this study and provides empirical support to answer the following questions: Is there any relationship between the economic aggregates and the environmental impacts generated on Matopiba's agricultural frontier? Which economic aggregate contributes the most to environmental impacts in the Matopiba region?

Model 2, in turn, aims to analyze the canonical correlation between environmental and agricultural production variables. The analysis is also carried out in two stages:

1. Initially, the dependency relationship between environmental variables and the production of the main crops in Matopiba is verified.

2. The aim here is to identify the contribution of each agricultural crop to environmental impacts in the region.

Model 2 is described in the equation:

 $\alpha_1Y_1 + \alpha_2Y_2 = \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + \beta_4 X_4$

Where:

Y1 represents CO2 Agricultural Emissions,

Y₂ is the Deforestation of Native Vegetation in the region,

X1 represents the Quantity Produced of sugar cane,

X₂ is the Quantity Produced of corn,

X₃ is the Quantity Produced of soybeans,

X₄ represents the Quantity Produced of rice,

 \propto are the correlation coefficients for each canonical dependent variable of Model 2,

 β are the correlation coefficients for each canonical independent variable of Model 2.

Model 2 serves as the basis for proving Hypothesis 4 and provides empirical support to answer RQ4: Is agricultural production in Matopiba related to the environmental impacts generated in the region? Which crops contribute most to environmental impacts in Matopiba's agricultural frontier?

Table 2 describes the variables that make up Models 1 and 2 of the CCA. The analyses of both models used the 31 micro-regions of Matopiba as a sample, shown in Appendix 1 of this study.

Table 2: Variables that make up Models 1 and 2 of the CCA

| | Variables | Source | | |
|--|---------------------------|--|---|--|
| Dependent Variables of Model 1 (Environmental Impacts) | | | | |
| Y_1 | CO ₂ Emissions | CO ₂ Total Emissions | Gas Emission Estimation System, Brazil. | |
| Y ₂ | Deforestation | Area of Deforestation of Native Vegetation (Km ²) | National Institute for Space Research, Brazil. | |

Dependent Variables of Model 2 (Environmental Impacts)

| Y ₁ | CO ₂ Emissions | CO ₂ Agricultural Emissions | Gas Emission Estimation System, Brazil. |
|-----------------------|---------------------------|--|---|
| Y ₂ | Deforestation | Area of Deforestation of Native Vegetation (Km ²) | National Institute for Space Research, Brazil. |

Independent Variables of Model 1 (GDP Economic Aggregates)

| X_1 | Agricultural GDP | Gross Value Added in Agriculture (thousand reais) | CENSUS - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE) |
|----------------|------------------------------------|--|--|
| X_2 | Industrial GDP | Gross Value Added in Industry (thousand reais) | CENSUS - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE) |
| X ₃ | Services and Administration GDP | Gross Value Added of Administration and Services (thousand reais) | CENSUS - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE) |

Independent Variables of Model 2 (Agricultural Production)

| X1 | Sugar Cane | Quantity Produced of sugar cane (tons) | PAM - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics. |
|----------------|------------|--|--|
| X ₂ | Corn | Quantity Produced of corn (tons) | PAM - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics. |
| X ₃ | Soybeans | Quantity Produced of soybeans (tons) | PAM - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics. |
| X4 | Rice | Quantity Produced of rice (tons) | PAM - Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics. |

Source: Own Elaboration.

In addition to the availability of databases, the environmental variables in Model 1 (deforestation of native vegetation and total CO_2 emissions) were chosen because these are the main environmental problems faced in the Matopiba region in recent years. For Model 2, CO_2 emissions exclusive to the agricultural sector were used to determine which of the region's main crops (sugar cane, corn, soy, and rice) are the most polluting. The choice of all the variables that make up CCA Models 1 and 2 was based on the data and information presented in Chapter 3.

Verification of Assumptions

CCA requires that the assumptions of linearity, normality, and absence of multicollinearity are met. These assumptions will be verified for the variables in the two study models.

Linearity: canonical correlation is the linear relationship between two or more statistical variables. Thus, when statistical variables are related in a non-linear way, this relationship is not captured by the CCA. The Scatter Plot will be used to check the linearity of the variables.

Normality: although the CCA may have non-metric variables, it is advisable to check the normality of the metric variables. This assumption has been met by the Central Limit Theory (Ellenberg, 2015; Salsburg, 2009).

Multicollinearity: since multicollinearity affects the technique's ability to isolate the impact of the independent variable on the dependent variable, its absence must also be considered in the CCA. The absence of multicollinearity will be analyzed using the value of the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF).

Results Interpretation Schedule

The results will be analyzed in two stages. Firstly, the fit of the model will be checked, and whether there is a possible correlation between the variables. This process will be carried out using significance tests, size effects, and dimension reduction analysis.

Significance tests: four multivariate significance tests will be analyzed: Pillai's criterion, Hoteling's label, Wilks' Lambda, and Roy's GCR. Among these tests, Wilks' lambda (λ) is the most widely used due to its more general applicability (Sherry and Henson, 2005).

Size effects: the results of significance tests can be affected by the size of the sample, i.e. when the sample is too small, they may not be observed, while when the sample is too large, there may be an overestimation of the relationships. It is therefore also important to interpret the effect

size indices, which are determined by subtracting Wilks' λ value from 1. The effect sizes for testing the significance of the correlation coefficient, r, are 0.10, 0.30, and 0.50, for small, medium, and large, respectively (Cohen, 1988). The effect sizes in the CCA have the same function as the R² in the regression analysis.

Dimension reduction analysis: another limitation of significance tests is that they do not test each canonical function separately, i.e. there is a hierarchy. Therefore, a dimension reduction analysis with the complete model (all the roots of the canonical function) is recommended (Sherry and Henson, 2005).

Once the fit of the model and the possible significance of the variables in the model have been verified, the canonical analysis is carried out. This step will be carried out using the variance explained in each canonical function, as well as interpreting the standardized coefficients (canonical weights) and structural correlations (canonical loadings).

Variance explained in each function: initially, we check how many canonical functions will be analyzed in the CCA using the eigenvalues. Eigenvalues are used to evaluate each function in isolation, where only functions that explain a reasonable amount of variation between the two sets of canonical statistical variables (Sq. Cor > 0.10) should be interpreted. The results of the Squared Canonical Correlation (Sq. Cor) should be noted.

Standardized Coefficients (canonical weights) and Structural Correlations (canonical loadings): the magnitude of the standardized coefficients represents their relative contribution to the canonical function. However, due to the instability of standardized coefficients, especially in the presence of multicollinearity, the interpretation of structural canonical correlations is considered more appropriate (Ho, 2013; Sherry and Henson, 2005). Canonical weights and canonical loadings will be analyzed together.

4.2 Results of the Canonical Correlation Analysis

This section presents the results of the Canonical Correlation Analysis between Environmental Impacts and Economic Growth (Model 1), as well as between Environmental Impacts and Agricultural Production (Model 2). For both models, the assumptions of Normality, Linearity, and Multicollinearity were checked and met. The verification of the assumptions can be found in Appendix C of this dissertation.

4.2.1 CCA Between Environmental Impacts and Economic Growth

The four significance tests showed statistically significant results at a level of 0.05 for Model 1, with Wilks' $\lambda = 0.21237$ (F = 10.13962; p < 0.01). Thus, the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between the two sets of latent variables can be rejected, i.e. there is probably a relationship between the economic aggregates of GDP and environmental impacts in Matopiba.

The effect size of the model was 0.78763, i.e. the proportion of variance shared between the two sets of variables in the two canonical functions is 78.76%. Taken together, the results (so far) indicate that the entire model is statistically significant and can be considered to have a large effect size (> 0.70).

The results of the dimension reduction analysis also show that the complete model 1 (all the roots of the canonical function) is statistically significant (Wilks' $\lambda = 0.21237$, F = 10.13962, p < 0.01). As a result, the three analyses show that there is a large and significant canonical relationship between environmental impacts and the economic aggregates of GDP in the Matopiba region.

The next step was to identify the relative contribution/effect of each GDP aggregate on environmental impacts. Analysis of the eigenvalues showed that the relationship between the variables is captured by the first and second functions in the canonical model. According to the results of the Squared Canonical Correlations (Sq. Cor) presented in Table 3, the first function explained 63.91% of the variation within its function (Sq. Cor = 0.63912), and the second function explained 41.15% (Sq. Cor = 0.41152) of the variation within its function, which means that they should be retained for interpretation.

| Roots | Eigenvalues | Percentage | Cumulative Percentage | Canonical Correlations | Squared Canonical correlations (Sq. Cor) |
|-------|-------------|------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--|
| 1 | 1.77098 | 71.691 | 71.691 | 0.79945 | 0.63912 |
| 2 | 0.69930 | 28.308 | 100 | 0.64150 | 0.41152 |

 Table 3: Eigenvalues and Canonical Correlations of Model 1

Source: Own Elaboration.

The magnitude of the Standardized Canonical Coefficients represents their relative contribution to the two canonical functions, but this is particularly unstable in the presence of multicollinearity. Although the assumption of the absence of multicollinearity has been met in both models, it is safer to interpret the Structural Canonical Correlations (Ho, 2013).

Looking at the coefficients of the Structural Canonical Correlations in Table 4, deforestation was the most significant dependent variable (0.71493) for the first canonical function and is directly associated with the Gross Value Added of Agriculture (0.54243). This means that an increase in Agricultural GDP positively affects deforestation in the Matopiba region.

| | | Standardized Canonical Coefficients | | Structural Canonical Correlations | |
|----------------|--|--|-----------|--------------------------------------|---------|
| | Dependent Variables (Environmental Impacts) | 1° | 2° | 1° | 2° |
| \mathbf{Y}_1 | CO ₂ Total Emissions | - 0.73943 | 0.75608 | - 0.42851 | 0.90354 |
| Y ₂ | Deforestation | 0.95554 | 0.45317 | 0.71493 | 0.69919 |
| | Independent Variables (GDP Economic Aggregates) | | | | |
| X_1 | Agricultural GDP | 0.87158 | 0.61500 | 0.54243 | 0.83996 |
| X ₂ | Industrial GDP | - 1.11867 | 0.69941 | -0.40234 | 0.85548 |
| X ₃ | Services and Administration GDP | 0.27471 | - 0.14035 | -0.12641 | 0.81871 |

 Table 4: CCA between Environmental Impacts and Economic Growth

Source: Own Elaboration.

The second canonical function has CO_2 emissions as the most powerful dependent variable, with 0.90354. Analyzing the coefficients of the structural canonical correlations, it was observed that the Gross Value Added of Industry (0.85548) and Agriculture (0.83996) have greater canonical weights (positive relationship) for CO_2 emissions in Matopiba.

The results of the structural canonical correlations in Model 1 indicate that there is a canonical relationship between environmental impacts and the economic aggregates of GDP in Matopiba, with agricultural GDP being the largest contributor to deforestation and one of the largest to the CO₂ emissions in the region.

These results corroborate the descriptive statistics and current literature on environmental problems and economic growth in Matopiba, presented in Chapter 3 of this study (De Oliveira, Raposo, & Garcia 2024; Dos Reis et al., 2024; Loayza et. al, 2023; Nunes, Campelo Filho, & Benini, 2023; Batista et.al, 2022; De Oliveira, Dörner, & Schneider, 2020; Ribeiro et.al, 2020; Widmarck, 2020; De Araújo et.al, 2019; Bragança, 2018; Pereira, Castro, & Porcionato, 2018).

Matopiba's GDP has registered a growth rate of over 1,400% in recent years, driven mainly by agriculture and the goods and services sector. At the same time, the region has lost more than 12 million hectares of native vegetation and increased CO_2 emissions from agriculture by around 15 million tons. This indicates that this sharp economic growth in the region has come at the expense of Cerrado Biome's environmental resources.

4.2.2 CCA Between Environmental Impacts and Agricultural Production

The four significance tests and the results of the dimensional reduction analysis were also statistically significant for Model 2 (significance level = 0.05). With Wilks' λ = 0.14909 (F = 21.95816; p < 0.01), the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between the two sets of latent variables can be rejected.

The effect size of model 2 was also high, with a proportion of shared variance in the canonical functions of 85.09% (0.85091). This indicates that there is a relationship (strong) between agricultural production and environmental impacts in Matopiba.

According to the results of the eigenvalues and squared canonical correlations presented in Table 5, two canonical functions will also be interpreted in Model 2. The first canonical function explained 92.76% of the variation within its function (Sq. Cor = 0.92768), and the second function explained 32.12% (Sq. Cor = 0.32121).

| Table 5: Eigenvalues and | Canonical | Correlations | of Model 2 |
|--------------------------|-----------|--------------|------------|
| 8 | | | |

| Roots | Eigenvalues | Percentage | Cumulative Percentage | Canonical Correlations | Squared Canonical correlations (Sq. Cor) |
|-------|-------------|------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|--|
| 1 | 12.82682 | 96.44199 | 96.44199 | 0.96316 | 0.92768 |
| 2 | 0.47322 | 3.55801 | 100 | 0.56676 | 0.32121 |

Source: Own Elaboration.

As shown in Table 6, the first canonical function has CO_2 agricultural emissions as the strongest dependent variable (0.99078), with the greatest contribution from soybean and corn productions (0.65165 and 0.46621, respectively).

Deforestation was the strongest dependent variable in the second canonical function, indicating that soybean (0.78706) and corn (0.75353) productions are also the most responsible (among the crops studied) for deforestation in the region.

| | Standardized Coeffi | | d Canonical icients | Structural Canonical Correlations | |
|--|--|-----------|------------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------|
| Dependent Variables (Environmental Impacts) | | 1° | 2° | 1° | 2° |
| Y ₁ | CO ₂ Agricultural Emissions | 1.11374 | - 0.76397 | 0.99078 | 0.13545 |
| Y ₂ | Deforestation | - 0.18294 | 1.33814 | 0.56566 | 0.82464 |
| | Independent Variables (Agricultural Production) | | | | |
| X_1 | Sugar Cane | 0.33859 | - 0.42799 | 0.28445 | - 0.38664 |
| X_2 | Corn | 0.08057 | 0.39142 | 0.46621 | 0.75353 |
| X ₃ | Soybeans | 0.55343 | 0.43643 | 0.65165 | 0.78706 |
| X4 | Rice | 0.76432 | - 0.44181 | 0.41204 | - 0.46357 |

Table 6: CCA Between Environmental Impacts and Agricultural Production

Source: Own Elaboration.

The results of the canonical analysis showed that soy is the crop that generates the most deforestation and CO_2 emissions in Matopiba, closely followed by corn production, in other words, soybean and corn production are the main contributors to environmental impacts in the region. These results are also consistent with the descriptive analysis presented in Chapter 3.

At the same time as there has been intense environmental degradation in Matopiba, agricultural production has increased by another 24 million tons in recent years, driven mainly by soybean and corn cultivation. Today, soy accounts for 50% of total agricultural production and occupies 75% of all agricultural land in the region. Many studies place soy as the main agricultural crop in the region and one of the most damaging to the environment (Loayza et. al, 2023; Nunes,

Campelo Filho, & Benini, 2023; Batista et. al, 2022; Lopes, Lima, & Dos Reis, 2021; De Oliveira, Dörner, & Schneider, 2020; Santos, 2020; Silva et al, 2020; Spyrides, 2020; Nepstad et al, 2019; Bragança, 2018; De Freitas & Buosi, 2018; Carneiro Filho & Costa, 2016).

Despite a lower production rate than soybeans, corn accounts for 21% of total agricultural production and occupies 19% of Matopiba's agricultural area. In addition to the soy-specific literature above showing that corn production is increasing and has a major environmental impact on the region, other studies also confirm soy and corn as the most polluting crops in Matopiba (Araújo et al., 2024; Evangelista & Pereira, 2024; Polizel et al., 2021; Almeida de Souza et al. 2020; Pires, 2020; Widmarck, 2020; Buzato et al., 2018; Bolfe et al., 2016; Borghi et al., 2014).

Summary

This chapter developed two statistical models to verify the relationship and magnitude of dependence between environmental impacts, economic growth, and agricultural production in Matopiba. To do this, machine learning techniques such as Canonical Correlation Analysis (CCA) were used.

Model 1 provided empirical support to prove that there is a relationship between economic aggregates and environmental impacts in the Matopiba region, with agricultural GDP having the highest canonical correlation with deforestation and one of the highest with CO₂ emissions in the region.

With the main objective of analyzing which crops are less sustainable in Matopiba, Model 2 proved that agricultural production has a relationship with environmental impacts in Matopiba, with soybean production being the most polluting in the region, having the highest canonical correlation with deforestation and CO_2 agricultural emissions, closely followed by corn production. This result corroborates with the current literature and the descriptive analyses presented in Chapter 3.

5. Chapter 5: System Dynamics Modeling applied to predict the future of Matopiba

Introduction

The descriptive statistics presented in Chapter 3 and the results of the canonical correlation analysis presented in Chapter 4 show and prove that agricultural production is the main factor in the conversion of native vegetation into pasture and agricultural areas in Matopiba. However, Matopiba is at a critical level of natural resource depletion for this agricultural production, with only 2.6 million hectares of non-degraded pasture suitable for agriculture (BRASIL, 2021) and an area of around 7.5 million hectares of native vegetation with high and medium agricultural suitability (Rudorff et al., 2015).

Thus, this chapter aims to use System Dynamics Modeling (SDM) to predict the future of Matopiba regarding available natural resources (land suitable for agriculture and native vegetation) and intensive agricultural production. From there, measures will be discussed to try to contain or slow down the process of environmental depletion in the region.

System Dynamics (SD) is a scientific framework that addresses systems based on the theory of non-linear dynamics and feedback control. As a methodology, SD is based on quantiqualitative techniques, emphasizing stakeholder involvement and encouraging researchers themselves to adopt a non-linear mental model approach (Sterman, 2000). A detailed description of the methodology and rationale behind SD is presented by Sterman (2000) and Bossel (2007).

This chapter is structured in two sections. The first section describes System Dynamics Modeling, and the entire methodological process involved, such as the SDM application process and the results interpretation schedule. Section 2 presents the results of the SDM for Matopiba, in which the conceptual development and simulation of the model will be presented and discussed, as well as proposing some solutions to the research problem.

5.1 The System Dynamics Modeling Methodology

In summary, System Dynamics Modeling (SDM) focuses on integrating physical processes, information flows, and management policies with the dynamics of the variables of interest. The totality of these relationships constitutes the "structure" of the system, in which "dynamic behaviors" are generated over time. The main objective of the SDM is to understand the

creation of the dynamics of interest (how and why) to seek out and propose management policies for the situation analyzed (Saysel, Barlas, and Yenigün, 2002).

SDM is designed to be a robust modeling and analysis of large-scale socio-economic systems, based on psychology, economics, and other social sciences to incorporate decision-making in the face of complex issues. Issues such as environmental management, logistics, regional sustainable development, urban economic growth, and ecological modeling use this methodology as a way of solving highly complex problems (Kiss and Kiss, 2021).

Studies on environmental management (Luo, Liu and Zhao, 2023; Prinsloo, Schmitz and Lombard, 2023; Francis and Thomas 2022; Hu et al., 2021; Mobaseri, Mousavi and Mousavi Haghighi, 2021; Naderi et al., 2021; Prouty, Mohebbi & Zhang, 2020; Liu, Liu & Wang, 2020; Tan et al., 2018; Abdelkafi & Täuscher, 2016; Dace et al., 2014; Guan et al., 2011; Qi & Chang 2011; Stave 2010 & 2002; Fong, Matsumoto & Lun 2009; Jifeng, Huapu & Hu, 2008; Leal Neto et al., 2006) and Agricultural Production (Esteso et al., 2023; Shamsuddoha, Nasir and Hossain, 2023; Wang et al., 2022; Aboah et al., 2021; Muflikh, Smith and Aziz, 2021; Taghikhah et al., 2021; Fernandez-Mena et al., 2016; Von Loeper et al., 2016; Walters et al., 2016; Dace et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2013; Li, Dong and Li, 2012; Shen et al., 2009; Shi and Gill, 2005; Saysel, Barlas and Yenigün, 2002) also used the SDM methodology.

The SDM is built with the relevant help of simulation tools/software such as Vensim, Stella, and AnyLogic, among others. As it is one of the most advanced tools for dynamics simulation methodologies, this chapter uses AnyLogic¹³ 8.8 for the SDM for the Matopiba region.

SDM Application Process and Results Interpretation Schedule

With some similarity to other modeling approaches, the SDM application process consists of developing the model concept and developing the simulation model (Figure 6). This application process will be the schedule for interpreting the results of this study.

¹³ AnyLogic: Simulation Modeling Software Tools & Solutions for Business



Figure 6: The Process of the System Dynamics Modeling Building

Source: Own Elaboration, based on Banks et al. (2013).

The development of the model concept has the following stages: (1) definition of the problem and justification for the model; (2) description of the system components; (3) definition of the verbal simulation model; (4) creation of the model's Impact Diagram; and (5) qualitative analysis of the impact structure.

The first stage of the model concept describes and summarizes the problem and justification for the study model, using the available literature and relevant data on the subject as a reference. The second stage aims to describe the components of the system, conceptualizing the main agents of interest that make up the model. The third stage involves defining the verbal simulation model, i.e. defining the possible direct relationships between the agents in the model, considering that each influence relationship is examined separately, with the others remaining unchanged (ceteris paribus). These relationships between the agents will lead to the creation of the influence or impact diagram (step 4), in which the directions between the variables studied will be presented. Stage 5 brings the qualitative analysis of the impact structure, i.e. the structure and validity of the model's application are discussed.

For the development of the simulation model, five other stages are articulated: (1) development of the dimensional and functional analysis of the model; (2) creation of the Simulation Diagram; (3) analysis of the system's behavior (modeling tests); (4) presentation of the results of the System Dynamics Modeling; and (5) suggestions for problem-solving.

In Stage 1 of the simulation model, dimensional analysis, functional relationships, quantification, the basic elements of the model (program instructions), and the computable model are developed. Later, the Simulation Diagram is built in Stage 2, focusing on analyzing the structure of the model, as well as its validity (development of sub-models, stock flow, feedback, relationships between elements), i.e. this structure must correspond to the original structure of the system and the objectives of the study model. The third stage is the analysis of the dynamic system's behavior, in which the execution parameters, initial and final values, and trajectory curves in the model's phase space are observed, as well as the empirical validity, sensitivity, and behavior (mainly oscillation) of the SDM. Step 4 consists of presenting the SDM results using the graphical options offered by the modeling framework program (trajectory curve diagram, for example), as well as discussing how the SDM results contributed to achieving the research objectives. Finally, in Step 5, the main suggestions for solving the study problem are presented and discussed.

5.2 Development of the SDM Concept for Matopiba

The development of the model concept is preliminary to the simulation and starts with a careful analysis of the problem, the justification, and the objectives to be met by the model. This stage also presents the components of the dynamic system being studied, the verbal simulation model, the Impact Diagram, and the qualitative analysis of the model's structure.

Definition of the Problem and Justification for the Model

Data from Brazil's main research institutes, presented in Chapter 3 of this study, show that approximately 12 million hectares of native vegetation have been lost between 2000 and 2022 in Matopiba, with farming accounting for 99.5% of this conversion.

Farming grew by 158% between 2000 and 2021, mainly due to the increase in pasture areas and soybean and corn production in the region. Consequently, the annual demand for land is also increasing, with more than 475,000 hectares of new land needed annually for farming in Matopiba,

where approximately 203,000 hectares are required for agriculture, 184,000 for pastures, 79,000 for mosaic areas and 12,100 hectares on average per year for forest plantations.

However, the Solidaridad Brasil study (Brasil, 2021) showed that Matopiba has only 6.6 million hectares of pasture suitable for agriculture, of which 4 million hectares are degraded pasture. In addition, the relative area of native vegetation with high and medium agricultural suitability and no slope restriction is around 7.5 million hectares (Rudorff et al., 2015). Therefore, the major challenge facing Matopiba's agricultural frontier today is to balance intensive agricultural production with the environment, in other words, to maintain production using the minimum area of native vegetation.

The following questions then arise: how long will the available natural resources (suitable land and native vegetation) support intensive agricultural production in Matopiba? What measures can be taken to try to contain or slow down the process of environmental depletion in the region? To answer these questions, the main objective of this chapter is to develop system dynamics modeling to predict the future of Brazil's newest agricultural frontier (Matopiba). To do this, we will look at the "lifetime" of the region's environmental resources without any action being taken to intensive agricultural production and, from there, propose (appropriate) solutions to this problem.

The justification for the SDM is based on the importance of environmental and agricultural production of Matopiba for the world, while at the same time serving as a base model for other studies that address the environmental impacts of agricultural frontiers, especially in emerging countries.

Description of the System Components

The SDM for Matopiba consists of two *Stocks*: Native Vegetation Availability and Virgin Land Demand Availability. These subsystems are the main components of the model and have their values defined by input and output *Flows*. These two stocks were chosen due to the data and analyses presented in Chapters 3 and 4 of this dissertation, which show the direct relationship between agricultural production, increased demand for land, and environmental impacts (mainly deforestation of native vegetation).

Stocks are state variables that change their value continuously over time and define a static part of the system. *Flows*, on the other hand, define how stock values change over time and are

linked to the rest of the model through intermediate elements such as *Dynamic Variables* and *Parameters*. Figure 7 shows the format of the System Dynamic components displayed in Anylogic.

Dynamic Variables are usually functions of constants and stocks that represent a state of the model and can assign themselves the result of a calculation or operation. This model has 24 dynamic variables, 21 of which are used to analyze the demand for farming land in Matopiba, 1 variable represents agricultural deforestation, 1 to analyze the impact of land demand on agricultural deforestation, and 1 dynamic variable to analyze other impacts on agricultural deforestation.

Figure 7: The format of the components of System Dynamics



The *Parameters* represent some characteristics of the modeled object statically, i.e. it is a constant in a single simulation and is changed only when it is necessary to adjust the model's behavior. There are 23 parameters in the SDM for Matopiba, 20 of which are used as constants in the analysis of farming land demand, 1 represents the (constant) change in the forest plantation area, 1 constant to measure the impact of land demand on agricultural deforestation, and 1 parameter to represent non-agricultural deforestation.

It should be noted that soybeans and corn were the only crops used to construct parameters and dynamic variables for the demand for agricultural land since these are the most polluting and influential crops on Matopiba's agricultural frontier (discussed in Chapter 3 and presented in Table 6 of Chapter 4). The relationship between the variables that make up the model will be discussed in the following section: "*Definition of the Verbal Simulation Model*".

Definition of the Verbal Simulation Model

The relationships formed from SDM for Matopiba are as follows:

- Native Vegetation Availability is reduced by Agricultural Deforestation.
- Native Vegetation Availability is reduced by Non-Agricultural Deforestation.
- Agricultural Deforestation is driven by Farming Land Demand.
- Agricultural Deforestation is driven by Other Agricultural Factors.
- Virgin Land Availability is driven by Agricultural Deforestation.
- Virgin Land Availability is reduced by Farming Land Demand.
- Farming Land Demand is driven by Agricultural Land Demand.
- Farming Land Demand is driven by Pasture Land Demand.
- Farming Land Demand is driven by Mosaic Land Demand.
- Farming Land Demand is driven by Forest Plantation Land Demand.
- Agricultural Land Demand is driven by GDP.
- Pasture Land Demand is driven by GDP.
- Mosaic Land Demand is driven by GDP.
- GDP is driven by Agricultural Land Demand.
- GDP is driven by Pasture Land Demand.
- GDP is stimulated by Mosaic Land Demand.

Creation of the Model's Impact Diagram

As the basis of the simulation model, Figure 8 shows the Impact Diagram of the variables that make up the SDM for Matopiba.


Figure 8: The Impact Diagram of the SDM for Matopiba

Source: Own Elaboration.

Qualitative Analysis of the Impact Structure

As seen in the SDM Impact Diagram for Matopiba (Figure 8), the region's native vegetation is reduced by agricultural deforestation which, in turn, increases the area of land used mainly for agriculture. The use of land for agriculture leads to economic growth in the region (represented here by GDP) and this economic growth increasingly encourages demand for land, resulting in agricultural deforestation and, consequently, the reduction of native vegetation.

This is the agricultural-environmental cycle that has been taking place in Matopiba in recent years. As discussed in Chapters 3 and 4, recent literature and official Brazilian government data show that the creation of Matopiba's agricultural frontier has led to high economic growth in the region, but this has come at the expense of Cerrado's native vegetation.

This Impact Diagram is the basis for Matopiba's SDM, which will analyze the agricultural and, above all, environmental future of the region if there is no intervention.

5.3 Results of the System Dynamics Modeling for the Matopiba Region

The simulation model provides the computable part of the SDM for Matopiba, in which the main results of the structural and dimensional analysis of the model will be presented, as well as the empirical validity, sensitivity, and behavior of the variables. From there, suggestions will be made for the study's problems, as well as the model's limitations.

Development of the dimensional and functional analysis of the model

As described in the "Description of the System Components" section, SDM for Matopiba has 2 stocks, 24 dynamic variables, and 23 parameters. Therefore, this section aims to describe each of these elements, presenting their initial values or the corresponding functions that were used in the simulation process.

Table 7 summarizes the initial values or functions that make up the stocks and parameters. The references for these values were the available literature, as well as official data from the Brazilian government for the year 2020. To estimate some internal parameters (fraction), Bivariate Regression Analyses were carried out. The results of these analyses, as well as compliance with the assumptions, are presented in Appendix D of this dissertation.

The "NativeVegetationAvailability" stock represents the area of native vegetation with high and medium agricultural suitability which, according to (Rudorff et al., 2015), was approximately 7.5 million hectares. A statistical estimate was used to arrive at the value of 7.16 million hectares for 2020 (the initial value of this stock in thousands of hectares).

The initial value of the "VirginLandAvailability" stock is 2.6 million hectares. The reference for this value was the study developed by Solidaridad Brasil (Brasil, 2021), which showed that Matopiba has only 2.6 million hectares of undegraded pasture suitable for agriculture.

The value of the external parameter "NonAgriculturalDeforestation" is 26.78 thousand hectares and represents the average non-agricultural deforestation in Matopiba over the last three years of the analysis (2018-2020).

The "OtherAgriImpactsRate" parameter represents the factors external to farming land demand that can impact agricultural deforestation in the region. To arrive at this value, a weighted average was made between the impact of farming land demand on agricultural deforestation and the real value of this deforestation, i.e. this parameter indicates the value of agricultural deforestation not stimulated by farming land demand.

| | Initial Value | Unit of Measurement | Source |
|---|------------------|------------------------|--|
| Stocks | | | |
| NativeVegetationAvailability | 7167.25 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| VirginLandAvailability | 2630.38 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| External System Parameters (Constants) | | | |
| NonAgriculturalDeforestation | 26.78 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| OtherAgriImpactsRate | 132.00 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| ForestPlantationChange | 14.51 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| Internal System Parameters | | | |
| LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio | 0.815 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation ¹⁴ . |
| CornLandToGDPRatio | 152.738 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| SoyLandToGDPRatio | 30.968 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| PastureLandToGDPRatio | 22.284 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| MosaicLandToGDPRatio | 57.565 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| GDPToCornLandRatio | 0.00637 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| GDPToSoyLandRatio | 0.03237 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| GDPToPastureLandRatio | 0.04491 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| GDPToMosaicLandRatio | 0.01528 | Fraction | Own parameter estimation. |
| CornLandIncreaseByGDP_Init | 20.89 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| SoyLandIncreaseByGDP_Init | 196.25 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| PastureLandIncreaseByGDP_Init | 245.19 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |
| MosaicLandIncreaseByGDP_Init | 3.11 | Thousand Hectares | MAPBiomas, Brazil. |

Table 7: Initial Values of Model Elements (stocks and parameters)

Source: Own Elaboration.

¹⁴ To estimate the "own parameters", databases provided by MAPBiomas, Brazil and IBGE, Brazil were used.

The value of the "ForestPlantationChange" parameter represents the average land demand (increase or decrease in area from one year to the next) of Forest Plantations in the Matopiba region in the last few years of the analysis.

Moving on to describe the internal parameters, "LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio" represents the impact of farming land demand on agricultural deforestation in Matopiba. A bivariate regression analysis was carried out to verify the relationship between these two variables.

Bivariate regression analysis was also used to see the relationship between land demand for corn, soybean, pasture, and mosaic and GDP ("CornLandToGDPRatio", "SoyLandToGDPRatio", "PastureLandToGDPRatio", 'MosaicLandToGDPRatio'), as well as the relationship between GDP and the demand for land for these crops (GDPToCornLandRatio, 'GDPToSoyLandRatio', 'GDPToPastureLandRatio', "GDPToMosaicLandRatio").

The parameters "CornLandIncreaseByGDP_Init", "SoyLandIncreaseByGDP_Init", "PastureLandIncreaseByGDP_Init" and "MosaicLandIncreaseByGDP_Init" represent, respectively, the annual land demand for corn, soy, pasture, and mosaic used in the model. This was done by adding the real average demand for land in recent years with the impact of GDP on demand (GDPToLandRatio) and with the impact of land demand on GDP (LandToGDPRatio) afterward.

Dynamic variables, as already defined, are usually functions of stocks and constants used to store the results of the model simulation, i.e. they do not have initial "values", but functions.

The variable "AgriculturalDeforestation", for example, represents agricultural deforestation in the region. To create it, two other dynamic variables were used that represent the impact of farming land demand and other external agricultural impacts on agricultural deforestation. Thus:

"A gricultural Defore station" = "ImpactLandDemandOnAgriDefore station" + "OtherImpactsOnAgriDefore station" + "OtherImp

The variable "ImpactLandDemandOnAgriDeforestation" is formed by the relationship between the demand for land for farming and agricultural degradation in Matopiba, that is:

"ImpactLandDemandOnAgriDeforestation" = "FarmingLandDemand" * "LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio"

"FarmingLandDemand" is the combination of the land demand for forest plantation, mosaic areas, pasture, and agriculture.

"FarmingLandDemand" =

"ForestPlantationLandDemand" + "MosaicLandDemand" + "PastureLandDemand" + "AgriculturalLandDemand"

The variable "ForestPlantationLandDemand" corresponds to the parameter "ForestPlantationChange", which represents a fixed value that represents the increase in demand for forest plantations from one year to the next.

"ForestPlantationLandDemand" = "ForestPlantationChange"

"MosaicLandDemand" corresponds to another dynamic variable "MosaicLandChange", which represents the increase in demand for mosaic land from one year to the next. To create "MosaicLandChange", the initial demand for land for mosaic areas due to GDP (constant) was added to the increase in demand for land caused by the impact of GDP and other factors in year +1. Thus:

"MosaicLandChange" = time()<=1? MosaicLandIncreaseByGDP_Init:("MosaicLandIncreaseByGDP"+ MosaicLandIncrease Others Init)

The increase in demand for mosaic areas stimulated by GDP is measured by multiplying the change in GDP in the region from year to year and its impact on mosaic demand, i.e.:

"MosaicLandIncreaseByGDP" = 'GDPChange' * GDPToMosaicLandRatio

This change in GDP is achieved by adding the increase in GDP from mosaic land and other factors:

"GDPChange" = 'GDPIncreaseByMosaicLand' + GDPIncrease_Others_Init

Finally, the increase in GDP from mosaic land is the result of multiplying the increase in demand for mosaic land from one year to the next (-1) and its impact on GDP:

"GDPIncreaseByMosaicLand" = delay("MosaicLandChange",1) * MosaicLandToGDPRatio

This same process was done for the "PastureLandDemand" variable. Like this:

"PastureLandDemand" = ""PastureLandChange"

"PastureLandChange" = time()<=1? PastureLandIncreaseByGDP_Init:("PastureLandIncreaseByGDP"+ PastureLandIncrease_Others_Init)

"PastureLandIncreaseByGDP" = "GDPChange" * GDPToPastureLandRatio

"GDPChange" = "GDPIncreaseByPastureLand" + GDPIncrease_Others_Init

"GDPIncreaseByPastureLand" = delay("PastureLandChange",1) * PastureLandToGDPRatio

The variable "AgricultralLandDemand" corresponds to the sum of two other dynamic variables "CornLandChange" and "SoyLandChange". From there, the same process was applied to both variables.

For "CornLandChange" we have:

"CornLandChange" = time()<=1? CornLandIncreaseByGDP_Init:("CornLandIncreaseByGDP"+ CornLandIncrease Others Init)

"CornLandIncreaseByGDP" = "GDPChange" * GDPToCornLandRatio

"GDPChange" = "GDPIncreaseByCornLand" + GDPIncrease_Others_Init

"GDPIncreaseByCornLand" = delay("CornLandChange",1) * CornLandToGDPRatio

For the dynamic variable "SoyLandChange" we have:

"SoyLandChange" = time()<=1? SoyLandIncreaseByGDP_Init:("SoyLandIncreaseByGDP"+ SoyLandIncrease_Others_Init)

"SoyLandIncreaseByGDP" = "GDPChange" * GDPToSoyLandRatio

"GDPChange" = "GDPIncreaseBySoyLand" + GDPIncrease_Others_Init

"GDPIncreaseBySoyLand" = delay("SoyLandChange",1) * SoyLandToGDPRatio

Creation of the SDM Simulation Diagrams

Figure 9 shows the structure of the SDM for the Matopiba region. This structure shows the development of sub-models, stock flow, dynamic variables, parameters, and the connections between the SDM components.



Figure 9: Structure of the SDM for Matopiba

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

For a more detailed analysis of the SDM, the discussion of the elements will be divided into three subsystems: Native Vegetation Availability, Virgin Land Availability, and Farming Land Demand, illustrated respectively in Figures 10, 11, and 12.

Stock 1 (Native Vegetation Availability) is made up of two outputs: the impact of Non-Agricultural Deforestation and the impact of Agricultural Deforestation, as illustrated in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Structure of the Native Vegetation Availability Subsystem

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

The Dynamic Variable "AgriculturalDeforestation" is affected by Farming Land Demand and by Other Factors that can affect agricultural deforestation (such as government policies, legislation, etc.), which directly impacts the Native Vegetation Availability (Stock 1) and the Virgin Land Availability (Stock 2).

As illustrated in Figure 11, Stock 2 (Virgin Land Availability) is made up of one input (impact of Agricultural Deforestation) and one output (Farming Land Demand). In other words, Stocks 1 and 2 are directly linked to the impact of Agricultural Deforestation.



Figure 11: Structure of the Virgin Land Availability Subsystem

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

Figure 12 shows that the dynamic variable "FarmingLandDemand" is affected by four other dynamic variables: Forest Plantation Land Demand, Mosaic Land Demand, Pasture Land Demand, and Agricultural Land Demand.

In this analysis, "ForestPlantationLandDemand" has a fixed value, i.e. it is not affected positively or negatively. This is because the land area and demand for forest plantations remained almost constant compared to the other agricultural land covers during the study period (these data are presented in Chapter 3 of this study).

In turn, 'MosaicLandDemand', 'PastureLandDemand', and 'AgriculturalLandDemand' have a cyclical relationship with GDP. This means that an increase in GDP affects these land demand variables and, at a certain point, the increase in land demand will also affect GDP, and so on.

The variable "AgriculturalLandDemand" is further subdivided into two other dynamic variables: 'CornLandChange' and 'SoyLandChange'. These two crops were chosen because, as presented in Chapters 3 and 4, soybean and corn production are the largest and most land-intensive in the region.



Figure 12: Structure of the Farming Land Demand Subsystem

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

Analysis of the system's behavior (modeling tests)

The SDM simulation was run from 2020 until the exhaustion of the main source of natural resources available for agricultural production in Matopiba (Native Vegetation Availability). However, before analyzing these values, it is necessary to discuss the model's calibration and validation process, as well as the system's behavior.

Calibration Process:

To verify that the parameters used in the SDM simulation are reliable, the calibration process was initially carried out, which consisted of simulating the SDM until 2020 (the year the SDM simulation for Matopiba began) and verifying that the results correspond to the real data. In the calibration process, the analysis was carried out from 2001 to 2011.

In this process, the average difference between the model's simulated values and the real values of the main elements that make up the SDM (Native Vegetation Availability, Virgin Land Demand Availability, Farming Land Demand, and Agricultural Deforestation) was observed. The difference between the average values of these elements and the actual values is expected to be a maximum of 2%.

Table 8 shows the average difference between the actual and simulated values from the calibration process. As shown in Table 8, the average difference between the real values and the simulated values in the calibration process was between -2% and 0%, thus demonstrating the strong reliability of the parameters that make up the SDM.

| Year | Native Vegetation Availability | | Virgin Land Demand Availability | | Farming Land Demand | | Agricultural Deforestation | |
|---------|-----------------------------------|--------|------------------------------------|--------|------------------------|--------|-------------------------------|--------|
| | Diff | Diff % | Diff | Diff % | Diff | Diff % | Diff | Diff % |
| 2001 | 631.28 | -1% | 117.50 | -4% | -162.69 | 34% | -44.50 | 9% |
| 2002 | 677.80 | -1% | 82.31 | -3% | -61.05 | 13% | -95.93 | 20% |
| 2003 | 703.65 | -1% | -184.06 | 7% | 222.98 | -50% | -43.09 | 9% |
| 2004 | 510.25 | -1% | -149.94 | 5% | 134.04 | -31% | 168.46 | -36% |
| 2005 | 396.76 | -1% | -57.28 | 2% | 3.99 | -1% | 96.93 | -21% |
| 2006 | 370.66 | -1% | 50.48 | -2% | -89.87 | 21% | 18.19 | -4% |
| 2007 | 415.99 | -1% | 83.09 | -3% | -71.16 | 17% | -38.27 | 8% |
| 2008 | 386.47 | -1% | 200.33 | -7% | -94.21 | 23% | 23.31 | -5% |
| 2009 | 414.29 | -1% | 221.35 | -8% | -54.45 | 14% | -33.16 | 8% |
| 2010 | 429.51 | -1% | 274.18 | -9% | -57.17 | 15% | -4.08 | 1% |
| 2011 | 448.48 | -1% | 17.87 | -1% | 229.57 | -60% | -26.48 | 6% |
| Average | -19 | 0⁄0 | -29 | % | 0% | 6 | 0% | 6 |

Table 8: Average difference between real and simulated values (SDM Calibration)

Source: Own Elaboration.

Validation Process:

The validation process, like the calibration process, consists of simulating the SDM until 2020 and verifying whether the results correspond to the real data. However, in the validation process, the analysis was carried out from 2001 to 2020.

Table 9 shows the average difference between real and simulated values in the validation process.

| Year | Native Vegetation Availability | | Virgin Land Demand Availability | | Farming Land Demand | | Agricultural Deforestation | |
|---------|-----------------------------------|--------|------------------------------------|--------|------------------------|--------|----------------------------|--------|
| | Diff | Diff % | Diff | Diff % | Diff | Diff % | Diff | Diff % |
| 2001 | 631.28 | -1% | 117.50 | -4% | -193.40 | 38% | -87.71 | 16% |
| 2002 | 677.80 | -1% | 82.31 | -3% | -107.00 | 21% | -150.87 | 28% |
| 2003 | 703.65 | -1% | -184.06 | 7% | 166.85 | -33% | -105.84 | 19% |
| 2004 | 510.25 | -1% | -149.94 | 5% | 70.23 | -14% | 99.82 | -18% |
| 2005 | 396.76 | -1% | -57.28 | 2% | -66.28 | 13% | 23.36 | -4% |
| 2006 | 370.66 | -1% | 50.48 | -2% | -165.95 | 34% | -59.84 | 11% |
| 2007 | 415.99 | -1% | 83.09 | -3% | -152.72 | 31% | -120.49 | 23% |
| 2008 | 386.47 | -1% | 200.33 | -7% | -181.03 | 37% | -62.94 | 12% |
| 2009 | 414.29 | -1% | 221.35 | -8% | -146.37 | 30% | -123.33 | 23% |
| 2010 | 429.51 | -1% | 274.18 | -9% | -154.06 | 32% | -98.08 | 19% |
| 2011 | 116.40 | 0% | -252.04 | 8% | 127.82 | -26% | -124.22 | 24% |
| 2012 | -31.62 | 0% | -315.14 | 9% | 205.90 | -42% | 142.80 | -27% |
| 2013 | -260.68 | 1% | -105.06 | 3% | -22.54 | 5% | 187.54 | -36% |
| 2014 | -290.82 | 1% | -75.02 | 2% | -18.69 | 4% | 11.34 | -2% |
| 2015 | -300.54 | 1% | 30.48 | -1% | -117.07 | 24% | -11.57 | 2% |
| 2016 | -196.20 | 0% | 62.90 | -2% | -141.84 | 29% | -109.42 | 21% |
| 2017 | -90.09 | 0% | 92.29 | -3% | -138.01 | 29% | -108.62 | 21% |
| 2018 | -29.45 | 0% | 59.82 | -2% | -47.80 | 10% | -80.27 | 15% |
| 2019 | -57.72 | 0% | -12.41 | 0% | 83.34 | -17% | 11.11 | -2% |
| 2020 | -125.32 | 0% | 29.21 | -1% | 48.06 | -10% | 89.68 | -17% |
| Average | 0% | /o | 1% | /0 | 0% | 6 | 0% | 6 |

Table 9: Average difference between real and simulated values (SDM Validation)

Source: Own Elaboration.

As its name suggests, the validation process aims to "validate" the parameters and initial values of the elements that make up the SDM. Once validated, these values will be used as the basis for the (future) simulation of the SDM for Matopiba.

As shown in Table 9, the average difference between the model's simulated values and the actual values of the main elements that make up the model (Availability of Native Vegetation, Availability of Virgin Land Demand, Agricultural Land Demand, and Agricultural Deforestation) in the validation process were between 0% and 1%, thus demonstrating the strong reliability of the SDM data.

In both processes (calibration and validation) the same initial values were used for the elements that make up the SDM, based on the average of the time series (2001 to 2020). However, due to a trend observed in the SDM elements from 2011 onwards (more precisely between 2015 and 2020), the values of some parameters had to be adjusted in the validation process.

System's behavior:

The behavior of the system shows the trend of the elements that make up the SDM for Matopiba from 2020 onwards. This system's behavior then reflects the continuation of the trend observed in the validation process. Figure 13 shows the behavior of the dynamic system for the main elements of the SDM in Matopiba¹⁵.

In the coming years (from 2020 onwards), the area of land suitable for farming is expected to increase as the region's native vegetation is depleted. This is stimulated by a growing demand for farming land and agricultural deforestation.

The analysis of the values that make up the behavior of the system dynamics will be detailed in the next section "*Results of the System Dynamics Modeling*".

¹⁵ Figures illustrating the behavior of the dynamic system for other SDM elements can be found in Appendix B.



Figure 13: Dynamic behavior of the main SDM elements

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

System Dynamics Modeling Results for Matopiba Region

The final values of the elements that make up the SDM for Matopiba are shown in Figure 13. As illustrated in figures 13 and 14, the SDM for Matopiba showed that Native vegetation in areas with high and medium agricultural suitability in Matopiba is expected to be exhausted within 20 years if no environmental intervention or policy is implemented in the region. As the analysis was carried out from the year 2020, native vegetation is expected to be extinct by around 2034.



Figure 14: SDM Simulation Results for Matopiba

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

As the area of native vegetation is the main source of intensive agricultural production, this result confirms the high environmental impact of Matopiba's agricultural frontier, as well as showing that producers and the government will have to stimulate innovative measures to try to meet the demand for land for this intensive production.

Driven mainly by the increase in the area coming from agricultural deforestation (which is expected to be around 525,000 hectares per year), the data shows that the virgin area suitable for agriculture is set to increase within 20 years. In addition, there is also an upward trend in the demand for new agricultural land (virgin land demand), which is expected to reach more than 480,000 hectares per year within 20 years.

The increase in demand for virgin farming land can be explained by to increased demand for pasture and agriculture, as demand for forest plantations and mosaic areas decreases. The demand for virgin land for pasture is expected to be approximately 248,000 hectares per year within 20 years, 218,000 hectares for agriculture, 14,000 for forest plantations, and just over 500 hectares of new agricultural land for mosaic areas.

It was also noted that, in agriculture, the demand for land for soybeans is expected to increase, while the demand for land for corn is expected to decrease. The demand for virgin farming land for soybeans is expected to increase from 196,000 hectares in 2020 to approximately 204,000 hectares within 20 years; the demand for new land for corn production, which was 20,000 hectares in 2020, is expected to be 14,400 hectares.

These results confirm that there is a high conversion cycle between agricultural areas in Matopiba, with pasture and soybean production requiring the largest percentage of new agricultural areas in the region in the coming years. Therefore, the innovative measures that will be proposed must be based on the demand for land for these two crops.

Suggestions for problem-solving

The SDM results showed that the area of native vegetation is the main source of intensive agricultural production in Matopiba, with pasture and soybean production demanding the most new areas. The problem is how to maintain production and the growing demand for agricultural land using the minimum area of native vegetation.

Measures such as tightening environmental tax legislation, environmental regeneration and reforestation policies, and the use of sustainable agricultural technologies, among others, could be

useful in solving this problem. However, without ruling out the other measures mentioned, this study presents the incentive for crop-livestock-forest integration (CLFI) as a viable solution for maintaining Matopiba's agricultural frontier and the Cerrado biome at the same time.

Data from EMBRAPA (Skorupa et al., 2019) confirms that 65% of agricultural expansion in Matopiba has been due to the conversion of native forests and 35% to the conversion of pastures and other crops. As a result, the expansion of agricultural production is expected to be exhausted in native areas in the coming years, causing productive development to occur based on changes in the economic uses of the land. In addition, the study by Solidaridad Brasil (Brasil, 2021) states that Matopiba has 6.6 million hectares of pastures with agricultural aptitude, of which 4 million hectares are degraded pastures. Converting degraded pasture areas into crops through the CLFI system is therefore a viable option for expanding sustainable agricultural production in the region.

Furthermore, crop rotation using the CLFI system in non-degraded pasture areas can also be encouraged. The SDM showed that, in addition to the 4 million hectares of degraded pasture, the area of virgin pasture suitable for agriculture is expected to reach an area of approximately 3.2 million hectares within 20 years. This means a pasture area of 7.2 million hectares suitable for agricultural production in the region.

The CLFI system is a way of developing changes in land use through environmental preservation and greater agricultural productivity. In short, the CLFI system integrates crops (agriculture), pastures (livestock) and forest in the same area and can be applied through crop rotation or succession at specific times (Puech & Stark, 2023; Sekaran et al., 2021; Vinholis et al., 2020; Asai et al., 2018; Ryschawy et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2016; Moraine et al., 2016; Cordeiro et al., 2015; Bonaudo et al., 2014; Lemaire et al., 2014; Martha Júnior, Alves & Contini, 2011; Balbinot Junior et al., 2009; Vilela et al., 2008; Gonçalves & Franchini, 2007; Alvarenga & Noce, 2005).

As well as increasing agricultural production, the CLFI system is more sustainable, as there is crop rotation, recovery of degraded areas, and, consequently, a reduction in the deforestation of native forests. The CLFI system can then be configured as one of the preventive actions (political implications) for the environmental restructuring of the Cerrado Biome and the Matopiba region (Leite et al., 2024; Oliveira et al., 2024; Júnior & Figueiredo, 2023; Barbosa et al., 2022; Da Silva et al., 2021; Gontijo Neto et al., 2018; Torres, Assis & Loss, 2018; Gil, Garrett & Berger, 2016;

Rangel et al., 2016; Costa et al., 2015; De Moraes et al., 2014; Garcia et al., 2013; Balbino et al., 2011; Silva et al., 2011; Vilela et al., 2011).

EMBRAPA has been developing the CLFI system in Matopiba since 2005, considering the environmental and economic specificities of each state and sub-region. Table 10 presents a summary of the main crop combinations in CLFI systems developed by EMBRAPA (Skorupa et al., 2019) for Matopiba.

According to Rangel et al. (2016), the form of integration best suited to Matopiba is Agropastoral Integration (API) due to the practice of intensive agriculture. In this system, grain production and livestock are rotated in the same area. However, in addition to API, Agrosilvopastoral Integration (ASPI), Silvopastoral Integration (SPI) and Agroforestry Integration (AFI) are also being developed in the region. In the ASPI system, grains, livestock, and wood products are produced in the same area; in the SPI system, livestock and wood products are rotated; and in the SFI system, grains and wood products are produced in the same area.

In addition to presenting the main crop combinations in CLFI systems, the EMBRAPA report (Skorupa et al., 2019) analyzed the expansion potential of CLFI systems in Matopiba. According to the report, the states of Maranhão and Piauí and the western region of Bahia have the potential to expand CLFI in the current grain and livestock-producing areas due to the millions of hectares of crops and pastures developed in these regions, as well as the large cattle herd of high genetic quality. In Tocantins, on the other hand, the potential for expanding CLFI lies in the degraded areas, which, according to the IBGE (2022), already comprise an area of more than 800,000 hectares.

Through the research carried out by Skorupa et al. (2019) over ten years with partner farms in the Matopiba region, an increase in the economic and productive development of the region was observed due to the increased production of corn and soybeans in CLFI systems and the generation of employment and income due to crop rotation. In addition, the report shows important results in terms of environmental regeneration (mainly of the soil) in Matopiba through the increase in water retention capacity in the soils using the CLFI system, as well as a considerable increase in the content of organic matter present in the soil. It is therefore believed that the implementation and increasing encouragement of the CLFI system represents an alternative for meeting the demand for land suitable for agriculture (mainly through the regeneration of degraded soils), as well as for more sustainable production in Matopiba.

| CLFI | Maranhão (MA), Piauí (PI) and Western of Bahia (BA) | Tocantins (TO) |
|--|--|---|
| Agropastoral Integration (API) | In grain-producing areas: soybeans and corn + forage crops in no-till at the beginning of the rainy season, followed by corn + forage crops, cowpeas, and sorghum in the second harvest, as well as millet and forage crops for over-sowing soybeans at the end of the rainy season, followed by finishing and fattening cattle on pastures in the off-season. | In grain-producing areas: soybean + forage plant rotation and single pasture during the harvest to support the cattle during the summer + finishing and fattening of cattle on pastures in the off-season. |
| | In areas with predominantly pasture: corn or rice + forage grass + finishing and fattening cattle on pasture in the off-season. | In areas with predominantly pasture: corn + forage grass + remaining pasture in the off-season. |
| Agrosilvopastoral Integration (ASPI) | Eucalyptus or other tree species in clumps of up to four rows, interspersed with strips of up to 28 meters with soybean + millet crops in over-seeding in the first two years and corn + forage in the third year, followed by animals from the third to the seventh year or more, if the forest component is destined for the sawmill. | Small areas of forestry crops of eucalyptus, rubber trees, or other forest species, use the inter-rows to grow soybeans in the first few years until the inter-rows are closed by the treetops. |
| Silvopastoral Integration (SPI) | Eucalyptus or another tree species in clumps of up to two rows interspersed with pasture in strips of at least 10 meters. Recovery or implementation of the pasture through corn + forage in the first year of planting the tree species, followed by animals until the seventh year or more, if the forest component is destined for the sawmill. | Planting of tree species (mainly eucalyptus) + pasture after the third year of planting tree seedlings. |
| Agroforestry Integration (AFI) | Eucalyptus or other tree species in rows of up to four lines interspersed with strips of up to 36 meters with soybean and corn crops in direct planting at the beginning of the rainy season, followed by cowpea and grain sorghum in the off-season after the soybean harvest, and also millet and forage crops overseeded on the soybean at the end of the rainy season acting as soil cover for the following harvest. | Eucalyptus or other forest species + management of the areas between the fields for other agricultural activities. Up until the third year, the areas between the plantations are cultivated with soybeans, corn, or rice during the harvest season and corn, sorghum, or cowpeas during the off- season, with the possibility of associating forage plants in a consortium to provide soil cover and straw for direct sowing of the next harvest's crops. When the trees reach a larger size, soybeans or corn are grown during the harvest, with animals brought in during the off-season to graze the forage plants from the consortium, over-seeding, or sowing after the grain harvest. Once the trees have reached their maximum height, the area is only used for pasture. |

Table 10: Main Crop Combinations in CLFI Systems for Matopiba Region

Source: Own Elaboration, based on Skorupa et al., 2019.

Summary

This chapter developed System Dynamic Modeling (SDM) to predict the environmental impacts caused by agricultural frontiers in the coming years, with a focus on the Matopiba region in Brazil.

The SDM showed that native vegetation in areas with high and medium agricultural suitability in Matopiba is expected to be extinct within 20 years (expected around 2034) if current intensive agricultural production continues and no environmental intervention is implemented in the region. This will occur due to increased agricultural production and, consequently, increased demand for land and agricultural deforestation.

By way of comparison, if the trend observed in the calibration process is used, it is expected that the area of native vegetation will also be reduced within 20 years. However, this process would be slower (expected around 2037), as there would be a downward trend in agricultural deforestation in Matopiba. In addition, the demand for new agricultural land has also shown a downward trend. These trends are the opposite of what was observed in the validation process and the main studies discussed here, which show a more pronounced upward trend in agricultural deforestation and demand for land in Matopiba since 2015.

This chapter suggested crop-livestock-forest integration (CLFI) as a way of trying to contain or slow down this process of environmental depletion in the region, through crop rotation (conservation of degraded pasture areas in crops). The CLFI system, which integrates crops, pastures, and forests in the same area in a sustainable way, has already been developed in Matopiba and has great potential for growth in degraded pasture areas in the state of Tocantins, as well as in current agricultural and pasture areas in the states of Maranhão, Piauí, and western Bahia.

83

6. Chapter 6: Theses of the Doctoral Dissertation

6.1. Theses

This chapter presents my research theses based on the results of the Systematic Literature Review, Canonical Correlation Analyses, and System Dynamics Modeling, presented in *Chapters 2, 4,* and 5, respectively. Although each of the chapters has a specific focus, the main objective of this study is to analyze the environmental impacts promoted by agricultural frontiers in emerging countries, with a focus on the Matopiba region in Brazil, and to contribute to guiding more sustainable agricultural public policies.

To present my critical and argumentative statement of the theses (T1, ..., Tx), I first check and reaffirm the answers to the research questions (RQ1, ..., RQx) and then assess whether the hypotheses linked to each research question are accepted or rejected (H1, ..., Hx).

Chapter 2 presented a Systematic Literature Review on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries. As well as being the main theoretical source of the dissertation, this chapter provided answers to Research Questions 1 and 2:

RQ1. Is the Matopiba region in Brazil a hot topic in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries?

RQ1.1. Are some emerging countries/regions more prominent in studies on agricultural frontiers and the environment?

To find out whether the Matopiba region in Brazil is an important topic in the global literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries, the analyses presented in subchapters 2.2 (Geographical distribution and main terms of studies) and 2.3 (Main studies by country/region) were checked. Subchapter 2.2 showed that most studies on the agricultural frontier and the environment in emerging countries are concentrated in Brazil. However, this focus is especially (almost exclusively) on the Amazon rainforest (Subchapter 2.3). Subchapter 2.3 also showed that research on the Cerrado Biome and the Matopiba Region is still at a regional level, in which there are few studies written in English and with a high impact factor (inclusion and exclusion criteria for this study).

Thus, based on the results presented in Subchapters 2.2 and 2.3, **Hypothesis 1** of this study is accepted, and **Thesis 1** of this dissertation is formed:

THESIS 1

The literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries has focused mainly on Brazil's Amazon rainforest. Despite the growing number of studies on Brazil's Matopiba, this region has not yet been given as much prominence in the world literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment, since most of this research is concentrated among Brazilian researchers and is written in Portuguese.

To answer how we can systematize the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries (RQ2), I initially checked whether there are similarities between these studies amidst the great diversity that exists between emerging countries (RQ2.1).

RQ2. How can we systematize literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries?

RQ2.1. Are there any similarities between research on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries?

In subchapters 2.3 and 2.4 (The Connections between Agricultural Frontiers and the Environment) of the Systematic Literature Review, it was observed that research in emerging countries has two main focuses: measuring the effects of intensive agriculture on remaining natural resources and analyzing and/or proposing more sustainable agricultural public policies and technologies. With this finding, **Hypothesis 2** of this study is accepted, and **Thesis 2** of this dissertation is formed:

THESIS 2

Despite the enormous diversity between emerging countries, the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in these countries is similar, as it essentially seeks to measure the environmental impacts caused by intensive agriculture, as well as analyze agricultural technologies and public policies. Thus, these two research focuses are currently the best way to systematize the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries.

85

Using machine learning techniques, *Chapter 4* analyzed the environmental conditions generated by Matopiba's agricultural frontier. This empirical study provided answers to Research Questions 3 and 4:

RQ3. Is there any relationship between the economic aggregates and the environmental impacts generated on Matopiba's agricultural frontier?

RQ3.1. Which economic aggregate contributes the most to environmental impacts in the Matopiba region?

To answer whether there is any relationship between the economic aggregates and the environmental impacts generated by the Matopiba agricultural frontier, subchapter 4.2.1 was checked. Subchapter 4.2.1 brought the results of the canonical correlation analysis between the economic variables (GDP aggregates) and the environmental variables (deforestation, CO_2 emissions). The analysis showed that there is a strong relationship between economic aggregates and environmental impacts in Matopiba, with agricultural GDP contributing the most to environmental degradation.

Based on these results, **Hypothesis 3** of this study is accepted, and **Thesis 3** of this dissertation is formed:

THESIS 3

There is a relationship between economic aggregates of GDP and environmental impacts in the Matopiba region of Brazil, with the agricultural sector having a positive and the highest correlation with deforestation and one of the highest magnitudes with CO₂ emissions in the region.

Subchapter 4.2.2 provided an analysis of the canonical correlation between the production of Matopiba's main crops (soybeans, corn, sugarcane, rice, etc.) and the variables that represent environmental impacts, thus providing answers to Research Question 4:

RQ4. Is agricultural production in Matopiba related to the environmental impacts generated in the region?

RQ4.1. Which crops contribute most to environmental impacts in Matopiba's agricultural frontier?

The analysis presented in Subchapter 4.2.2 showed that there is a strong relationship between agricultural production and environmental impacts in the Matopiba region, with soybean and corn production contributing the most to these impacts. Thus, Hypothesis 4 of this study is accepted, and Thesis 4 of this dissertation is formed:

THESIS 4

Agricultural production has a relationship with environmental impacts in the Matopiba region of Brazil, with soybean and corn production consecutively being the biggest contributors to deforestation and agricultural CO₂ emissions in the region.

Chapter 5 used System Dynamics Modeling (SDM) to predict the future of the Matopiba Region regarding available natural resources and intensive agricultural production. This empirical study provided the answer to Research Question 5:

RQ5: How soon will the native vegetation be exhausted in the agriculturally suitable areas of Matopiba?

Subchapter 5.2.2 (Development of the SDM Simulation for Matopiba) showed that the area of native vegetation with high and medium agricultural suitability is expected to be extinct within 20 years in Matopiba if no environmental intervention or policy is implemented in the region. This will occur due to intense agricultural production and increased demand for land. Based on these results, Hypothesis 5 of this study is accepted, and Thesis 5 of this dissertation is formed:

THESIS 5

Native vegetation in areas with high and medium agricultural suitability in Matopiba is expected to be extinct within 20 years if current intensive agricultural production continues and no environmental intervention is implemented in the region. As the SDM analysis was carried out from the year 2020, native vegetation is expected to be extinct by around 2034. This extinction of native vegetation is associated with intensive agricultural production and increased demand for agricultural land in the region.

87

6.2 New and Novel Results

This dissertation has brought new and innovative results to the literature on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries, as well as in the Matopiba region in Brazil.

Firstly, the Systematic Literature Review showed that there is a certain similarity in the studies on agricultural frontiers and the environment in emerging countries, in which the authors essentially sought to measure the environmental impacts caused by intensive agriculture and evaluate public policies and the use of agricultural technologies. In addition, the SRL showed that there are still few studies on the agricultural frontier of Matopiba written in English, thus opening up an important gap to be filled in the literature on emerging countries.

Secondly, using Canonical Correlation Analyses, it was possible to verify which of the GDP aggregates and which of the main crops produced in Matopiba are directly correlated with CO₂ emission rates and the deforestation of native vegetation in the region. As well as being a pioneer in the use of Machine Learning technologies, the results of the CCA help to develop more sustainable public policies.

Through System Dynamics Modeling, it was observed that native vegetation in areas with high and medium agricultural suitability in Matopiba is expected to be extinct within 20 years, mainly due to intensive soybean production and the increased demand for agricultural land for pasture areas, as well as for soybean production. These results make a relevant contribution to the implementation of environmental actions in Matopiba, as they show the fields that should be prioritized and worked on to promote more sustainable agricultural production.

In addition to all the new results presented, this study is a pioneer in the use of a Systematic Literature Review to analyze the literature on the environment and agricultural frontiers in emerging countries; it is a pioneer in the use of Machine Learning techniques to analyze environmental and economic variables (together) for Matopiba; as well as a pioneer in the formulation of a System Dynamics Modeling on agricultural production and environmental impacts for the Brazilian Cerrado.

6.3. Study Limitations and Future Research

It should be noted that this study has some limitations. Firstly, the Systematic Literature Review used inclusion and exclusion criteria which, even following the guidelines of the literature, are subjective and, once used, can obscure important studies. In addition, the key terms used for the analysis may also have obscured some emerging countries or regions. Therefore, a suggestion for future research is, in addition to updating the period of analysis, to include emerging countries or regions that were not used in the study.

Secondly, for the Canonical Correlation Analysis, only the proxies for deforestation of native vegetation and CO_2 emissions were used as environmental variables. The initial idea was to use a variable that represented the reduction of drinking water in the region, believing that this inclusion would bring an important debate to Matopiba's agricultural frontier. However, no database was found that represented the reduction of drinking water. Therefore, an important suggestion is to include this variable in the analysis.

It was noted by System Dynamics Modeling that there is a tendency for agricultural deforestation to be greater than the demand for land in Matopiba in the coming years. Moved to try and discuss this issue, and I came across a report by the Climate Observatory (2023) which explains that the SAD Cerrado alert detection system has been incorporated operationally, which provides more accurate data on deforestation in the Cerrado (Matopiba). The report also provides the relevant information that deforestation in Matopiba is spreading to Legal Reserves and Permanent Protection Areas, areas that could not even be touched. From these two pieces of information, it can be deduced that the deforestation surplus in Matopiba is due to improved detection systems in the region compared to other data, as well as the fact that the data on demand for agricultural land does not include Legal Reserves and Permanent Protection Areas in the Cerrado. As this is only an assumption, it opens up a gap for future research.

Through the SDM it was also seen the dynamic connections between the environmental and economic components of Matopiba, as well as the "duration" of each of these components. However, the model did not include variables representing solutions to the problem presented. Despite mentioning that the CLFI system is one of the preventive actions (political implications) for the environmental restructuring of Matopiba and the Cerrado Biome, there was no simulation to verify the effect of this action. I, therefore, suggest including the CLFI system, or another relevant preventive action, in System Dynamics Modeling for Matopiba.

References

Abdelkafi, N., & Täuscher, K. (2016). Business models for sustainability from a system dynamics perspective. *Organization & Environment*, 29(1), 74-96.

Abdella, G. M., Kucukvar, M., Onat, N. C., Al-Yafay, H. M., & Bulak, M. E. (2020). Sustainability assessment and modeling based on supervised machine learning techniques: The case for food consumption. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 251, 119661.

Aboah, J., Wilson, M. M., Bicknell, K., & Rich, K. M. (2021). Identifying the precursors of vulnerability in agricultural value chains: A system dynamics approach. *International Journal of Production Research*, *59*(3), 683-701.

Abu El-Magd, S. A., Maged, A., & Farhat, H. I. (2022). Hybrid-based Bayesian algorithm and hydrologic indices for flash flood vulnerability assessment in coastal regions: machine learning, risk prediction, and environmental impact. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(38), 57345-57356.

Adegbeye, M. J., Reddy, P. R. K., Obaisi, A. I., Elghandour, M. M. M. Y., Oyebamiji, K. J., Salem, A. Z. M., & Camacho-Díaz, L. M. (2020). Sustainable agriculture options for production, greenhouse gasses and pollution alleviation, and nutrient recycling in emerging and transitional nations—An overview. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 242, 118319. https:// doi. org/ 10. 1016/j. jclep ro. 2019. 118319.

Agostinho, F., Costa, M., Almeida, C. M., Maceno, M. M., & Giannetti, B. F. (2023). Sustainability dynamics of the Brazilian MATOPIBA region between 1990-2018: Impacts of agribusiness expansion. Applied Geography, 159, 103080.

Akhter, R., & Sofi, S. A. (2022). Precision agriculture using IoT data analytics and machine learning. *Journal of King Saud University-Computer and Information Sciences*, 34(8), 5602-5618.

Algren, M., Fisher, W., & Landis, A. E. (2021). Machine learning in life cycle assessment. In *Data science applied to sustainability analysis* (pp. 167-190). Elsevier.

Almeida de Souza, A., Galvão, L. S., Korting, T. S., & Prieto, J. D. (2020). Dynamics of savanna clearing and land degradation in the newest agricultural frontier in Brazil. *GIScience & Remote Sensing*, *57*(7), 965-984.

Alvarenga, R. C., & Noce, M. A. (2005). *Integração lavoura-pecuária* (Vol. 47). Sete Lagoas: Embrapa Milho e Sorgo.

Amini, M., & Rahmani, A. (2023). Agricultural databases evaluation with machine learning procedure. *Australian Journal of Engineering and Applied Science*, 8(2023), 39-50.

Araújo, M. L. S. D., Rufino, I. A. A., Silva, F. B., Brito, H. C. D., & Santos, J. R. N. (2024). The Relationship between Climate, Agriculture and Land Cover in Matopiba, Brazil (1985–2020). Sustainability, 16(7), 2670.

Asai, M., Moraine, M., Ryschawy, J., De Wit, J., Hoshide, A. K., & Martin, G. (2018). Critical factors for crop-livestock integration beyond the farm level: A cross-analysis of worldwide case studies. *Land use policy*, *73*, 184-194.

Asha, P., Mannepalli, K., Khilar, R., Subbulakshmi, N., Dhanalakshmi, R., Tripathi, V., ... & Sudhakar, M. (2022). Role of machine learning in attaining environmental sustainability. *Energy Reports*, *8*, 863-871.

Athreya, V., Odden, M., Linnell, J. D., Krishnaswamy, J., & Karanth, U. (2013). Big cats in our backyards: persistence of large carnivores in a human dominated landscape in India. *PloS one*, 8(3), e57872. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057872.

Attri, I., Awasthi, L. K., & Sharma, T. P. (2024). Machine learning in agriculture: a review of crop management applications. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 83(5), 12875-12915.

Avagyan, A. B. (2010). New design & build biological system addressed to global environment management and sustainable development through including microalgae and their biomass in production and bio cycles. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, *1*, 183–200. https:// doi. org/ 10. 4236/ jep. 2010. 12023.

Avagyan, A. B. (2017). Environmental building policy by the use of microalgae and decreasing of risks for Canadian oil sand sector development. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 24(25), 20241–20253. https:// doi. org/ 10. 1007/ s11356- 017- 9864-x.

Avagyan, A. B. (2018). Algae to energy and sustainable development. *Technologies, resources, economics and system analyses. New design of global environmental policy and live conserve industry. Amazon*, ISBN-13, 978–1718722552.

Avagyan, A. B. (2021). Theory of bioenergy accumulation and transformation: application to evolution, energy, sustainable development, climate change, manufacturing, agriculture, military activity and pandemic challenges. *Athens J Sci, 8*(1), 57–80. https:// doi. org/ 10. 30958/ ajs.8-1-4.

Babigumira, R., Angelsen, A., Buis, M., Bauch, S., Sunderland, T., & Wunder, S. (2014). Forest clearing in rural livelihoods: household-level global-comparative evidence. *World Development*, *64*, S67-S79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.03.002.

Baeza, S., & Paruelo, J. M. (2020). Land use/land cover change (2000–2014) in the Rio de la Plata grasslands: an analysis based on MODIS NDVI time series. *Remote Sensing*, 12(3), 381. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12030381.

Balbino, L. C., Cordeiro, L. A. M., Porfírio-da-Silva, V., Moraes, A. D., Martínez, G. B., Alvarenga, R. C., ... & Galerani, P. R. (2011). Evolução tecnológica e arranjos produtivos de sistemas de integração lavourapecuária-floresta no Brasil. *Pesquisa agropecuária brasileira*, *46*.

Balbinot Junior, A. A., Moraes, A. D., Veiga, M. D., Pelissari, A., & Dieckow, J. (2009). Integração lavourapecuária: intensificação de uso de áreas agrícolas. *Ciência Rural*, *39*, 1925-1933.

Balducci, F., Impedovo, D., & Pirlo, G. (2018). Machine learning applications on agricultural datasets for smart farm enhancement. *Machines*, 6(3), 38.

Banks, J., Carson, J. S., Nelson, B. L., & Nicol, D. M. (2013). Discrete-event system simulation: Pearson new international edition. Pearson Higher Ed.

Barbirato, F. E., & Souza, L. I. (2018). Matopiba: a expansão da agricultura em remanescentes de vegetação nativa de bioma cerrado. Instituto de Manejo e Certificação Florestal e Agrícola, 7, 4-21.

Barbosa, L. R., de Souza, H. A., de Oliveira, F. P., Nunes, L. A. P. L., & Leite, L. F. C. (2022). PROPRIEDADES FÍSICO-HÍDRICAS DE UM ARGISSOLO SOB PLANTIO DIRETO E INTEGRAÇÃO LAVOURA-PECUÁRIA NO CERRADO. *Revista Caatinga*, *35*(2), 460-469.

Barretto, A. G., Berndes, G., Sparovek, G., & Wirsenius, S. (2013). Agricultural intensification in Brazil and its effects on land-use patterns: an analysis of the 1975–2006 period. *Global change biology*, *19*(6), 1804-1815. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12174.

Bastan, M., Khorshid-Doust, R. R., Sisi, S. D., & Ahmadvand, A. (2017). Sustainable development of agriculture: a system dynamics model. *Kybernetes*, 47(1), 142-162.

Batista, M. L. B., Alves, J. D. S., Alves, C. L. B., & André, D. D. M. (2022). Análise fatorial e espacial da modernização agrícola no MATOPIBA. Revista de Economia e Sociologia Rural, 61(3), e261413.

Baumann, M., Gasparri, I., Piquer-Rodríguez, M., Gavier Pizarro, G., Griffiths, P., Hostert, P., & Kuemmerle, T. (2017). Carbon emissions from agricultural expansion and intensification in the Chaco. *Global change biology*, *23*(5), 1902-1916. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13521.

Benos, L., Tagarakis, A. C., Dolias, G., Berruto, R., Kateris, D., & Bochtis, D. (2021). Machine learning in agriculture: A comprehensive updated review. *Sensors*, 21(11), 3758.

Bolfe, É. L., Victória, D. D. C., Contini, E., Bayma-Silva, G., Spinelli-Araujo, L., & Gomes, D. (2016). Matopiba em crescimento agrícola Aspectos territoriais e socioeconômicos. *Revista de política agrícola*, 25(4), 38-62.

Bonaudo, T., Bendahan, A. B., Sabatier, R., Ryschawy, J., Bellon, S., Leger, F., ... & Tichit, M. (2014). Agroecological principles for the redesign of integrated crop–livestock systems. *european Journal of Agronomy*, 57, 43-51.

Borghi, E., Bortolon, L., Avanzi, J. C., Bortolon, E. S. O., Ummus, M. E., Gontijo Neto, M. M., & da Costa, R. V. (2014). Desafios das novas fronteiras agrícolas de produção de milho e sorgo no Brasil: desafios da região do MATOPIBA.

Bossel, H. (2007). Systems and models: complexity, dynamics, evolution, sustainability. BoD-Books on Demand.

Bragança, A. (2018). The economic consequences of the agricultural expansion in Matopiba. Revista Brasileira de Economia, 72(2), 161-185.

BRASIL. Ministério da Educação. Fundação Joaquim Nabuco (FUNDAJ). Panorama Setorial - Força do Matopiba 2021. Disponível em: https://www.gov.br/fundaj/pt-br/destaques/observa-fundaj-itens/observa-fundaj/tecnologias-de-convivencias-com-as-secas/panorama-setorial-forca-do-matopiba. Acesso em: 22 de abril de 2024.

BRASIL. Ministério da Fazenda. Secretaria de Política Econômica. Relatório da Distribuição Pessoal da Renda e da Riqueza da População Brasileira: dados do IRPF 2015/2014. Brasília: MF, 2016.

Brownlee, A. E., Adair, J., Haraldsson, S. O., & Jabbo, J. (2021, May). Exploring the accuracy-energy trade-off in machine learning. In 2021 IEEE/ACM International Workshop on Genetic Improvement (GI) (pp. 11-18). IEEE.

Busch, J., Ferretti-Gallon, K., Engelmann, J., Wright, M., Austin, K. G., Stolle, F., ... & Baccini, A. (2015). Reductions in emissions from deforestation from Indonesia's moratorium on new oil palm, timber, and logging concessions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(5), 1328-1333. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.141251411.

Buzato, H. C., Cardoso, R. C., Favareto, A., Magalhães, C., Garcia-Drigo, I., & de Souza, L. I. (2018). A soja no MATOPIBA: contradições do modelo de desenvolvimento, riscos e perspectivas para a conservação do cerrado. *Sustentabilidade em Debate*, *6*.

Carlson, K. M., Curran, L. M., Asner, G. P., Pittman, A. M., Trigg, S. N., & Marion Adeney, J. (2013). Carbon emissions from forest conversion by Kalimantan oil palm plantations. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(3), 283-287. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1702.

Carlson, K. M., Curran, L. M., Ratnasari, D., Pittman, A. M., Soares-Filho, B. S., Asner, G. P., ... & Rodrigues, H. O. (2012). Committed carbon emissions, deforestation, and community land conversion from oil palm plantation expansion in West Kalimantan, Indonesia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(19), 7559-7564. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.120045210.

Carlson, K. M., Heilmayr, R., Gibbs, H. K., Noojipady, P., Burns, D. N., Morton, D. C., ... & Kremen, C. (2018). Effect of oil palm sustainability certification on deforestation and fire in Indonesia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(1), 121-126. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.170472811.

Carneiro Filho, A. R. N. A. L. D. O., & Costa, K. A. R. I. N. E. (2016). A expansão da soja no cerrado. *Caminhos para a ocupação territorial, uso do solo e produção sustentável. São Paulo, Agroicone*, p1-30.

Chen, R., Ye, C., Cai, Y., Xing, X., & Chen, Q. (2014). The impact of rural out-migration on land use transition in China: Past, present and trend. *Land use policy*, 40, 101-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2013.10.003.

Cohen, J. (1988). Set correlation and contingency tables. *Applied psychological measurement*, 12(4), 425-434.

Colla, V., Pietrosanti, C., Malfa, E., & Peters, K. (2020). Environment 4.0: How digitalization and machine learning can improve the environmental footprint of the steel production processes. *Matériaux & Techniques*, *108*(5-6), 507.

Cordeiro, L. A. M., Vilela, L., Marchão, R. L., Kluthcouski, J., & Martha Júnior, G. B. (2015). Integração lavoura-pecuária e integração lavoura-pecuária-floresta: estratégias para intensificação sustentável do uso do solo.

Cordier, T., Forster, D., Dufresne, Y., Martins, C. I., Stoeck, T., & Pawlowski, J. (2018). Supervised machine learning outperforms taxonomy-based environmental DNA metabarcoding applied to biomonitoring. *Molecular ecology resources*, *18*(6), 1381-1391.

Costa, N. R., Andreotti, M., Lopes, K. S. M., Yokobatake, K. L., Ferreira, J. P., Pariz, C. M., ... & Longhini, V. Z. (2015). Atributos do solo e acúmulo de carbono na integração lavoura-pecuária em sistema plantio direto. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo*, *39*(3), 852-863.

Cravero, A., Pardo, S., Sepúlveda, S., & Muñoz, L. (2022). Challenges to use machine learning in agricultural big data: a systematic literature review. *Agronomy*, 12(3), 748.

Da Silva Arruda, V. L., Alencar, A. A. C., de Carvalho Júnior, O. A., de Figueiredo Ribeiro, F., de Arruda, F. V., Conciani, D. E., ... & Shimbo, J. Z. (2024). Assessing four decades of fire behavior dynamics in the Cerrado biome (1985 to 2022). Fire Ecology, 20(1), 64.

Da Silva Junior, C. A., Teodoro, P. E., Delgado, R. C., Teodoro, L. P. R., Lima, M., de Andréa Pantaleão, A., ... & Facco, C. U. (2020). Persistent fire foci in all biomes undermine the Paris Agreement in Brazil. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 16246. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72571-w.

Da Silva, P. L. F., de Oliveira, F. P., Pereira, W. E., Martins, A. F., Zonta, J. H., do Amaral, A. J., ... & da Silva, A. J. (2021). Qualidade física de solo arenoso em ambiente semiárido sob sistema de integração lavoura-pecuária. *Revista Brasileira de Engenharia de Biossistemas*, 15(4), 598-616.

Dace, E., Bazbauers, G., Berzina, A., & Davidsen, P. I. (2014). System dynamics model for analyzing effects of eco-design policy on packaging waste management system. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 87, 175-190.

Dace, E., Muizniece, I., Blumberga, A., & Kaczala, F. (2015). Searching for solutions to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions by agricultural policy decisions—Application of system dynamics modeling for the case of Latvia. *Science of the Total Environment*, *527*, 80-90.

D'Amico, B., Myers, R. J., Sykes, J., Voss, E., Cousins-Jenvey, B., Fawcett, W., ... & Pomponi, F. (2019, June). Machine learning for sustainable structures: a call for data. In *Structures* (Vol. 19, pp. 1-4). Elsevier.

De Araújo, M. L. S., Sano, E. E., Bolfe, É. L., Santos, J. R. N., dos Santos, J. S., & Silva, F. B. (2019). Spatiotemporal dynamics of soybean crop in the Matopiba region, Brazil (1990–2015). Land use policy, 80, 57-67.

De Barros, P. H. B., & Stege, A. L. (2019). Deforestation and human development in the Brazilian agricultural frontier: an environmental Kuznets curve for MATOPIBA. Revista Brasileira de Estudos Regionais e Urbanos, 13(2), 161-182.

De Freitas, A. C. R., & Buosi, T. (2018). Context and challenges regarding the environmental certification of soy production in the Matopiba region of Brazil.

De Moraes, A., de Faccio Carvalho, P. C., Anghinoni, I., Lustosa, S. B. C., de Andrade, S. E. V. G., & Kunrath, T. R. (2014). Integrated crop–livestock systems in the Brazilian subtropics. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 57, 4-9.

De Oliveira Aparecido, L. E., Dutra, A. F., Lorençone, P. A., de Alcântara Neto, F., Lorençone, J. A., & Leite, M. R. L. (2023). Climate change in MATOPIBA region of Brazil: a study on climate extremes in agriculture. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 153(1), 87-100.

De Oliveira, R. M., Raposo, L. M., & Garcia, R. C. (2024). Transformação do uso e cobertura do solo no Cerrado: o impacto do setor agropecuário de 1985 a 2020. Sigmae, 13(1), 1-12.

De Oliveira, T. J. A., Dörner, S. H., & Schneider, M. B. (2020). Desenvolvimento econômico no Matopiba: os arranjos produtivos locais da soja.

De Sampaio Melo, L. F., Júnior, P. L. P., & de Espindola, G. M. (2024). Analysis of burns and deforestation resulting from agricultural practices in the Matopiba region: case study in the municipalities of Piauí. OBSERVATÓRIO DE LA ECONOMÍA LATINOAMERICANA, 22(2), e3223-e3223.

De Souza, R. F., Oliveira, G. R., Freitas, E. G., Pinheiro, A. C., & de Souza, R. N. (2023). Agricultura no cerrado e impactos ambientais decorrentes. OBSERVATÓRIO DE LA ECONOMÍA LATINOAMERICANA, 21(12), 25068-25081.

Deng, X., & Gibson, J. (2019). Improving eco-efficiency for the sustainable agricultural production: A case study in Shandong, China. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *144*, 394-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.01.027.

Denyer, D., & Tranfield, D. (2009). Producing a systematic review. D.A. Buchanan, A. Bryman (Eds.), The Sage handbook of organizational research methods, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA (2009), pp. 671-689.

Dionizio, E. A., Pimenta, F. M., Lima, L. B., & Costa, M. H. (2020). Carbon stocks and dynamics of different land uses on the Cerrado agricultural frontier. *PLoS One*, *15*(11), e0241637.

Dos Reis, J. C., Rodrigues, G. S., De Barros, I., de Aragão Ribeiro Rodrigues, R., Garrett, R. D., Valentim, J. F., ... & Rodrigues-Filho, S. (2023). Fuzzy logic indicators for the assessment of farming sustainability strategies in a tropical agricultural frontier. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 43(1), 8.

Dos Reis, L. C., Silva, C. M. S. E., Bezerra, B. G., Mutti, P. R., Spyrides, M. H. C., & Da Silva, P. E. (2020). Analysis of climate extreme indices in the MATOPIBA region, Brazil. Pure and Applied Geophysics, 177, 4457-4478.

Dos Reis, T. N., Lima, M. G. B., Lopes, G. R., & Meyfroidt, P. (2024). Not all supply chains are created equal: The linkages between soy local trade relations and development outcomes in Brazil. World Development, 175, 106475.

Ellenberg, J. (2015). *O poder do pensamento matemático: a ciência de como não estar errado*. Editora Schwarcz-Companhia das Letras.

Ellis, E. A., & Porter-Bolland, L. (2008). Is community-based forest management more effective than protected areas?: A comparison of land use/land cover change in two neighboring study areas of the Central Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico. *Forest ecology and management*, 256(11), 1971-1983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.07.036.

Esteso, A., Alemany, M. M. E., Ottati, F., & Ortiz, Á. (2023). System dynamics model for improving the robustness of a fresh agri-food supply chain to disruptions. *Operational Research*, 23(2), 28.

Evangelista, T. Y. L., & Pereira, P. R. R. X. (2024). Gestão de risco em sistemas de produção de soja e milho no Sudoeste Piauiense. *CONTRIBUCIONES A LAS CIENCIAS SOCIALES, 17*(8), e9686-e9686.

FAO, FAOSTAT statistical database (2021). Available in: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data. Accessed in: 15 of February 2022.

Fehlenberg, V., Baumann, M., Gasparri, N. I., Piquer-Rodriguez, M., Gavier-Pizarro, G., & Kuemmerle, T. (2017). The role of soybean production as an underlying driver of deforestation in the South American Chaco. *Global environmental change*, *45*, 24-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.05.001.

Feintrenie, L. (2014). Agro-industrial plantations in Central Africa, risks and opportunities. *Biodiversity* and conservation, 23(6), 1577-1589.

Fernandez-Mena, H., Gaudou, B., Pellerin, S., MacDonald, G. K., & Nesme, T. (2020). Flows in Agro-food Networks (FAN): An agent-based model to simulate local agricultural material flows. *Agricultural Systems*, *180*, 102718.

Ferreira, E. C. (2023). CERRADO CONNECTION: MATOPIBA AND ITS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS. Journal of Interdisciplinary Debates, 4(03), 39-45.

Ferreira-Paiva, L., Suela, A. G. L., Alfaro-Espinoza, E. R., Cardona-Casas, N. A., Valente, D. S., & Neves, R. V. (2022). A k-means-based-approach to analyze the emissions of GHG in the municipalities of MATOPIBA region, Brazil. IEEE Latin America Transactions, 20(11), 2339-2345.

Fong, W. K., Matsumoto, H., & Lun, Y. F. (2009). Application of System Dynamics model as decision making tool in urban planning process toward stabilizing carbon dioxide emissions from cities. *Building and environment*, 44(7), 1528-1537.

Francis, A., & Thomas, A. (2022). A framework for dynamic life cycle sustainability assessment and policy analysis of built environment through a system dynamics approach. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *76*, 103521.

Gao, Z., & Mavris, D. N. (2022). Statistics and machine learning in aviation environmental impact analysis: A survey of recent progress. *Aerospace*, *9*(12), 750.

Garcia, C. M. D. P., Andreotti, M., Teixeira Filho, M. C. M., Buzetti, S., Celestrino, T. D. S., & Lopes, K. S. M. (2013). Desempenho agronômico da cultura do milho e espécies forrageiras em sistema de Integração Lavoura-Pecuária no Cerrado. *Ciência Rural*, *43*, 589-595.

Garre, A., Ruiz, M. C., & Hontoria, E. (2020). Application of Machine Learning to support production planning of a food industry in the context of waste generation under uncertainty. *Operations Research Perspectives*, 7, 100147.

Gasparri, N. I., & de Waroux, Y. L. P. (2015). The coupling of South American soybean and cattle production frontiers: new challenges for conservation policy and land change science. *Conservation Letters*, 8(4), 290-298. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12121

Gasparri, N. I., & Grau, H. R. (2009). Deforestation and fragmentation of Chaco dry forest in NW Argentina (1972–2007). *Forest ecology and Management*, 258(6), 913-921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.02.024.

Gibbs, H. K., Ruesch, A. S., Achard, F., Clayton, M. K., Holmgren, P., Ramankutty, N., & Foley, J. A. (2010). Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *107*(38), 16732-16737.

Gil, J. D. B., Garrett, R., & Berger, T. (2016). Determinants of crop-livestock integration in Brazil: Evidence from the household and regional levels. *Land use policy*, *59*, 557-568.

Gonçalves, S. L., & Franchini, J. C. (2007). Integração lavoura-pecuária (p. 7p). Embrapa Soja.

Gontijo Neto, M. M., Borghi, E., de Resende, A. V., & Alvarenga, R. C. (2018). Benefícios e desafíos da integração lavoura-pecuária na melhoria da qualidade dos solos do cerrado.

Graesser, J., Aide, T. M., Grau, H. R., & Ramankutty, N. (2015). Cropland/pastureland dynamics and the slowdown of deforestation in Latin America. *Environmental Research Letters*, *10*(3), 034017. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/3/034017.

Guan, D., Gao, W., Su, W., Li, H., & Hokao, K. (2011). Modeling and dynamic assessment of urban economy–resource–environment system with a coupled system dynamics–geographic information system model. *Ecological Indicators*, *11*(5), 1333-1344.

Hair, J. F. (2009). Análise multivariada de dados. Bookman editora.

Hamrani, A., Akbarzadeh, A., & Madramootoo, C. A. (2020). Machine learning for predicting greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural soils. *Science of The Total Environment*, 741, 140338.

Harding, M. C., & Lamarche, C. (2021). Small steps with big data: using machine learning in energy and environmental economics. *Annual Review of Resource Economics*, 13(1), 469-488.

Henders, S., Persson, U. M., & Kastner, T. (2015). Trading forests: land-use change and carbon emissions embodied in production and exports of forest-risk commodities. *Environmental Research Letters*, *10*(12), 125012. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/12/125012.

Ho, R. (2013). Handbook of univariate and multivariate data analysis with IBM SPSS. CRC press.

Horion, S., Prishchepov, A. V., Verbesselt, J., de Beurs, K., Tagesson, T., & Fensholt, R. (2016). Revealing turning points in ecosystem functioning over the Northern Eurasian agricultural frontier. *Global change biology*, *22*(8), 2801-2817. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13267

Hu, G., Zeng, W., Yao, R., Xie, Y., & Liang, S. (2021). An integrated assessment system for the carrying capacity of the water environment based on system dynamics. *Journal of environmental management*, 295, 113045.

IBGE - Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. Censo Demográfico 2022. Disponível em: http://cidades.ibge.gov.br. Acesso em: 02 de maio de 2024.

IBGE - Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. Produto Interno Bruto dos Municípios 2022. Rio de Janeiro: IBGE, 2022. Disponível em: https://goo.gl/eVxyd4. Acesso em: 05 de maio de 2024.

Ibrahim, R. L., Ajide, K. B., Usman, M., & Kousar, R. (2022). Heterogeneous effects of renewable energy and structural change on environmental pollution in Africa: do natural resources and environmental technologies reduce pressure on the environment?. *Renewable Energy*, 200, 244-256.

Jahanger, A., Usman, M., & Ahmad, P. (2023). Investigating the effects of natural resources and institutional quality on CO2 emissions during globalization mode in developing countries. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 20(9), 9663-9682.

James, M. S., Marrissa, C., Mark, S., & Anthea, B. (2021). Systematic Approaches to a Successful Literature Review. *Systematic Approaches to a Successful Literature Review*, 1-100.

Jeong, H., & Adamowski, J. (2016). A system dynamics based socio-hydrological model for agricultural wastewater reuse at the watershed scale. *Agricultural Water Management*, *171*, 89-107.

Jewitt, D., Goodman, P. S., Erasmus, B. F., O'Connor, T. G., & Witkowski, E. T. (2015). Systematic landcover change in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: Implications for biodiversity. *South African Journal of Science*, *111*(9-10), 01-09. https://doi.org/10.17159/sajs.2015/20150019.

Jifeng, W. A. N. G., Huapu, L. U., & Hu, P. E. N. G. (2008). System dynamics model of urban transportation system and its application. *Journal of Transportation Systems engineering and information technology*, 8(3), 83-89.

Júnior, J. G. D. O., & Figueiredo, G. K. D. A. (2023). Caracterização dos diferentes padrões de sistemas integração lavoura-pecuária no MATOPIBA através de dados de radar e ópticos. In 7 Workshop de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Agrícola.

Kennedy, C. M., Hawthorne, P. L., Miteva, D. A., Baumgarten, L., Sochi, K., Matsumoto, M., ... & Kiesecker, J. (2016). Optimizing land use decision-making to sustain Brazilian agricultural profits, biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Biological Conservation*, 204, 221-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.10.039.

Kiss, T., & Kiss, V. M. (2021). Develop resilience-a System-Level dynamic indicator for testing the Long-Term impact of planned projects based on a Watershed and a city strategy example. *Ecological Indicators*, *129*, 107970.

Koh, L. P., & Wilcove, D. S. (2008). Is oil palm agriculture really destroying tropical biodiversity?. *Conservation letters*, *1*(2), 60-64. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2008.00011.x

Koh, L. P., Miettinen, J., Liew, S. C., & Ghazoul, J. (2011). Remotely sensed evidence of tropical peatland conversion to oil palm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(12), 5127-5132. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1018776108.

Kotir, J. H., Smith, C., Brown, G., Marshall, N., & Johnstone, R. (2016). A system dynamics simulation model for sustainable water resources management and agricultural development in the Volta River Basin, Ghana. *Science of the Total Environment*, *573*, 444-457.

Lacoste, A., Luccioni, A., Schmidt, V., & Dandres, T. (2019). Quantifying the carbon emissions of machine learning. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.09700*.

Le Polain de Waroux, Y., Baumann, M., Gasparri, N. I., Gavier-Pizarro, G., Godar, J., Kuemmerle, T., ... & Meyfroidt, P. (2018). Rents, actors, and the expansion of commodity frontiers in the Gran Chaco. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, *108*(1), 204-225. https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2017.1360761.

Leal Neto, A. D. C., Legey, L. F., González-Araya, M. C., & Jablonski, S. (2006). A system dynamics model for the environmental management of the Sepetiba Bay watershed, Brazil. *Environmental management*, *38*, 879-888.

Leite, L., Vogado, R., de Souza, H. A., Gualberto, A., Cunha, J., Sagrilo, E., ... & Junior, J. O. L. D. O. (2024). Estoques de carbono do solo em áreas de Integração Lavoura-Pecuária-Floresta na região do Matopiba.

Lemaire, G., Franzluebbers, A., de Faccio Carvalho, P. C., & Dedieu, B. (2014). Integrated crop–livestock systems: Strategies to achieve synergy between agricultural production and environmental quality. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 190*, 4-8.

Li, F. J., Dong, S. C., & Li, F. (2012). A system dynamics model for analyzing the eco-agriculture system with policy recommendations. *Ecological Modelling*, 227, 34-45.

Liakos, K. G., Busato, P., Moshou, D., Pearson, S., & Bochtis, D. (2018). Machine learning in agriculture: A review. *Sensors*, *18*(8), 2674.

Lin, G. C., & Ho, S. P. (2003). China's land resources and land-use change: insights from the 1996 land survey. *Land use policy*, 20(2), 87-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-8377(03)00007-3.

Liu, F., Wang, R., & Fang, M. (2024). Mapping green innovation with machine learning: Evidence from China. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 200, 123107.

Liu, G., Zhong, K., Li, H., Chen, T., & Wang, Y. (2024). A state of art review on time series forecasting with machine learning for environmental parameters in agricultural greenhouses. *Information Processing in Agriculture*, *11*(2), 143-162.

Liu, J., Liu, Y., & Wang, X. (2020). An environmental assessment model of construction and demolition waste based on system dynamics: a case study in Guangzhou. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *27*, 37237-37259.

Loayza, A. C. V., dos Reis, M. V. S., de Jesus, F. R., Ipolito, A. L. M., & Ribeiro, I. G. (2023). Evolução dos indicadores da produção de soja no Matopiba. OBSERVATÓRIO DE LA ECONOMÍA LATINOAMERICANA, 21(12), 27824-27845.

Lopes, G. R., Lima, M. G. B., & Dos Reis, T. N. (2021). Maldevelopment revisited: Inclusiveness and social impacts of soy expansion over Brazil's Cerrado in Matopiba. *World Development*, 139, 105316.

Luo, X., Liu, C., & Zhao, H. (2023). Driving factors and emission reduction scenarios analysis of CO2 emissions in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and surrounding cities based on LMDI and system dynamics. *Science of the Total Environment*, *870*, 161966.

Macedo, M. N., DeFries, R. S., Morton, D. C., Stickler, C. M., Galford, G. L., & Shimabukuro, Y. E. (2012). Decoupling of deforestation and soy production in the southern Amazon during the late 2000s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(4), 1341-1346. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1111374109.

Makhdum, M. S. A., Usman, M., Kousar, R., Cifuentes-Faura, J., Radulescu, M., & Balsalobre-Lorente, D. (2022). How do institutional quality, natural resources, renewable energy, and financial development reduce ecological footprint without hindering economic growth trajectory? Evidence from China. *Sustainability*, *14*(21), 13910.

MapBiomas, Projeto 2023 – Coleção [8] da Série Anual de Mapas de Cobertura e Uso da Terra do Brasil. Disponível em: https://brasil.mapbiomas.org/estatisticas/. Acesso em: 02 de janeiro de 2024.

Marengo, J. A., Jimenez, J. C., Espinoza, J. C., Cunha, A. P., & Aragão, L. E. (2022). Increased climate pressure on the agricultural frontier in the Eastern Amazonia–Cerrado transition zone. *Scientific reports*, *12*(1), 457.

Mariyam, S., Upadhyay, S. K., Chakraborty, K., Verma, K. K., Duhan, J. S., Muneer, S., ... & Seth, C. S. (2023). Nanotechnology, a frontier in agricultural science, a novel approach in abiotic stress management and convergence with new age medicine-A review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 169097.

Martha Júnior, G. B., Alves, E., & Contini, E. (2011). Dimensão econômica de sistemas de integração lavoura-pecuária. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, 46, 1117-1126.

Martin, G., Moraine, M., Ryschawy, J., Magne, M. A., Asai, M., Sarthou, J. P., ... & Therond, O. (2016). Crop–livestock integration beyond the farm level: a review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *36*(3), 53.

Mastrangelo, M. E., & Gavin, M. C. (2012). Trade-offs between cattle production and bird conservation in an agricultural frontier of the Gran Chaco of Argentina. *Conservation Biology*, *26*(6), 1040-1051. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2012.01904.x.

Matricardi, E. A. T., Aguiar, A. S., Miguel, E. P., Angelo, H., & Gaspar, R. D. O. (2018). Deforestation modeling in the MATOPIBA region.
McCarthy, J. F., & Cramb, R. A. (2009). Policy narratives, landholder engagement, and oil palm expansion on the Malaysian and Indonesian frontiers. *Geographical Journal*, *175*(2), 112-123. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4959.2009.00322.x.

Mertens, B., Poccard-Chapuis, R., Piketty, M. G., Lacques, A. E., & Venturieri, A. (2002). Crossing spatial analyses and livestock economics to understand deforestation processes in the Brazilian Amazon: the case of Sao Felix do Xingu in South Para. *Agricultural economics*, *27*(3), 269-294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2002.tb00121.x.

Meshram, V., Patil, K., Meshram, V., Hanchate, D., & Ramkteke, S. D. (2021). Machine learning in agriculture domain: A state-of-art survey. *Artificial Intelligence in the Life Sciences*, 1, 100010.

Meyfroidt, P., Schierhorn, F., Prishchepov, A. V., Müller, D., & Kuemmerle, T. (2016). Drivers, constraints and trade-offs associated with recultivating abandoned cropland in Russia, Ukraine and Kazakhstan. *Global Environmental Change*, *37*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.01.003.

Miettinen, J., Hooijer, A., Shi, C., Tollenaar, D., Vernimmen, R., Liew, S. C., ... & Page, S. E. (2012). Extent of industrial plantations on S outheast A sian peatlands in 2010 with analysis of historical expansion and future projections. *Gcb Bioenergy*, *4*(6), 908-918. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01172.x.

Miranda, E. E. (2015). Matopiba: caracterização, agendas e agência. Campinas: Visual, 142.

Miranda, E. E., Magalhães, L. A., & De Carvalho, C. A. (2014). Proposta de Delimitação Territorial do MATOPIBA.

Mobaseri, M., Mousavi, S. N., & Mousavi Haghighi, M. H. (2021). Causal effects of population growth on energy utilization and environmental pollution: A system dynamics approach. *Caspian Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 19(4), 601-618.

Moher, D., Shamseer, L., Clarke, M., Ghersi, D., Liberati, A., Petticrew, M., ... & Stewart, L. A. (2015). Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Systematic reviews*, 4(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-4053-4-1.

Moraine, M., Grimaldi, J., Murgue, C., Duru, M., & Therond, O. (2016). Co-design and assessment of cropping systems for developing crop-livestock integration at the territory level. *Agricultural Systems*, *147*, 87-97.

Muflikh, Y. N., Smith, C., & Aziz, A. A. (2021). A systematic review of the contribution of system dynamics to value chain analysis in agricultural development. *Agricultural Systems*, *189*, 103044.

Müller, R., Müller, D., Schierhorn, F., Gerold, G., & Pacheco, P. (2012). Proximate causes of deforestation in the Bolivian lowlands: an analysis of spatial dynamics. *Regional Environmental Change*, *12*, 445-459. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-011-0259-0.

Murphy, K. P. (2012). Machine learning: a probabilistic perspective. MIT press.

Naderi, M. M., Mirchi, A., Bavani, A. R. M., Goharian, E., & Madani, K. (2021). System dynamics simulation of regional water supply and demand using a food-energy-water nexus approach: Application to Qazvin Plain, Iran. *Journal of environmental management*, 280, 111843.

Nepomoceno, T. A. R., & Carniatto, I. (2022). A nova fronteira agrícola do Brasil: um ensaio teórico sobre a insustentabilidade na região do Matopiba. Revista Cerrados (Unimontes), 20(01), 95-119.

Nepstad, D. C., Stickler, C. M., Filho, B. S., & Merry, F. (2008). Interactions among Amazon land use, forests and climate: prospects for a near-term forest tipping point. *Philosophical transactions of the royal society B: biological sciences*, *363*(1498), 1737-1746. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.0036.

Nepstad, D., Carvalho, G., Barros, A. C., Alencar, A., Capobianco, J. P., Bishop, J., ... & Prins, E. (2001). Road paving, fire regime feedbacks, and the future of Amazon forests. *Forest ecology and management*, *154*(3), 395-407. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00511-4.

Nepstad, D., Schwartzman, S., Bamberger, B., Santilli, M., Ray, D., Schlesinger, P., ... & Rolla, A. (2006). Inhibition of Amazon deforestation and fire by parks and indigenous lands. *Conservation biology*, *20*(1), 65-73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00351.x.

Nepstad, L. S., Gerber, J. S., Hill, J. D., Dias, L. C., Costa, M. H., & West, P. C. (2019). Pathways for recent Cerrado soybean expansion: extending the soy moratorium and implementing integrated crop livestock systems with soybeans. *Environmental Research Letters*, *14*(4), 044029.

Nobre, C. A., Sampaio, G., Borma, L. S., Castilla-Rubio, J. C., Silva, J. S., & Cardoso, M. (2016). Landuse and climate change risks in the Amazon and the need of a novel sustainable development paradigm. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(39), 10759-10768. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1605516113

Nolte, C., de Waroux, Y. L. P., Munger, J., Reis, T. N., & Lambin, E. F. (2017). Conditions influencing the adoption of effective anti-deforestation policies in South America's commodity frontiers. *Global Environmental Change*, 43, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.01.001.

Nunes, A. P., Campelo Filho, E. G., & Benini, E. G. (2023). A produção de soja e sua influência nas variáveis socioeconômicas da região do Matopiba. Gestão & Regionalidade, 39, e20237693-e20237693.

OBSERVATÓRIO, D. C. (2024). Matopiba passa a Amazônia e assume a liderança do desmate no Brasil. Observatório do Clima, 23.

Ochoa-Quintero, J. M., Gardner, T. A., Rosa, I., de Barros Ferraz, S. F., & Sutherland, W. J. (2015). Thresholds of species loss in Amazonian deforestation frontier landscapes. *Conservation Biology*, 29(2), 440-451. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12446.

Oliveira, D. (2007). Biodiversidade do Cerrado e Pantanal: áreas e ações prioritárias para conservação/Ministério do Meio Ambiente. *Brasília. MMA* (17), 540.

Oliveira, D. M., Santos, R. S., Chizzotti, F. H., Bretas, I. L., Franco, A. L., Lima, R. P., ... & Cerri, C. E. (2024). Crop, livestock, and forestry integration to reconcile soil health, food production, and climate change mitigation in the Brazilian Cerrado: A review. *Geoderma Regional*, e00796.

Pacheco, P. (2006). Agricultural expansion and deforestation in lowland Bolivia: the import substitution versus the structural adjustment model. *Land Use Policy*, 23(3), 205-225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2004.09.004.

Pacheco, P. (2009). Agrarian reform in the Brazilian Amazon: its implications for land distribution and deforestation. *World development*, *37*(8), 1337-1347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2008.08.019.

Pacheco, P., Aguilar-Støen, M., Börner, J., Etter, A., Putzel, L., & Vera Díaz, M. D. C. (2010). Landscape transformation in tropical Latin America: assessing trends and policy implications for REDD+. *Forests*, 2(1), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.3390/f2010001.

Pallathadka, H., Mustafa, M., Sanchez, D. T., Sajja, G. S., Gour, S., & Naved, M. (2023). Impact of machine learning on management, healthcare and agriculture. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, *80*, 2803-2806.

Pant, J., Pant, R. P., Singh, M. K., Singh, D. P., & Pant, H. (2021). Analysis of agricultural crop yield prediction using statistical techniques of machine learning. *Materials Today: Proceedings*, 46, 10922-10926.

Pereira, C. N., Porcionato, G. L., & Castro, C. N. D. (2018). Aspectos socieconômicos da região do Matopiba. IPEA - Boletim regional, urbano e ambiental 2018.

Picoli, M. C. A., Camara, G., Sanches, I., Simões, R., Carvalho, A., Maciel, A., ... & Almeida, C. (2018). Big earth observation time series analysis for monitoring Brazilian agriculture. *ISPRS journal of photogrammetry and remote sensing*, *145*, 328-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2018.08.007.

Pires, M. O. (2020). 'Cerrado', old and new agricultural frontiers. *Brazilian Political Science Review*, 14(3), e0004.

Pirker, J., Mosnier, A., Kraxner, F., Havlík, P., & Obersteiner, M. (2016). What are the limits to oil palm expansion?. *Global Environmental Change*, 40, 73-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.06.007.

Polizel, S. P., Vieira, R. M. D. S. P., Pompeu, J., da Cruz Ferreira, Y., de Sousa-Neto, E. R., Barbosa, A. A., & Ometto, J. P. H. B. (2021). Analysing the dynamics of land use in the context of current conservation policies and land tenure in the Cerrado–MATOPIBA region (Brazil). Land use policy, 109, 105713.

Polizel, S. P., Vieira, R. M. D. S. P., Pompeu, J., da Cruz Ferreira, Y., de Sousa-Neto, E. R., Barbosa, A. A., & Ometto, J. P. H. B. (2021). Analysing the dynamics of land use in the context of current conservation policies and land tenure in the Cerrado–MATOPIBA region (Brazil). *Land use policy*, *109*, 105713.

Prinsloo, F. C., Schmitz, P., & Lombard, A. (2023). System dynamics characterisation and synthesis of floating photovoltaics in terms of energy, environmental and economic parameters with WELF nexus sustainability features. *Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments*, *55*, 102901.

Prioux, N., Ouaret, R., Hetreux, G., & Belaud, J. P. (2023). Environmental assessment coupled with machine learning for circular economy. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 25(2), 689-702.

Prouty, C., Mohebbi, S., & Zhang, Q. (2020). Extreme weather events and wastewater infrastructure: A system dynamics model of a multi-level, socio-technical transition. *Science of the Total Environment*, *714*, 136685.

Puech, T., & Stark, F. (2023). Diversification of an integrated crop-livestock system: Agroecological and food production assessment at farm scale. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 344*, 108300.

Qi, C., & Chang, N. B. (2011). System dynamics modeling for municipal water demand estimation in an urban region under uncertain economic impacts. *Journal of environmental management*, 92(6), 1628-1641.

Rane, N. L., Mallick, S. K., Kaya, O., & Rane, J. (2024). Applications of machine learning in healthcare, finance, agriculture, retail, manufacturing, energy, and transportation: A review. *Applied Machine Learning and Deep Learning: Architectures and Techniques*, 112-131.

Rangel, J. D. A., Muniz, E. N., de Moraes, S. A., de Souza, S. F., do Amaral, A. J., & Pimentel, J. C. M. (2016). Integração lavoura pecuária floresta na região Nordeste do Brasil.

Rao, A., Talan, A., Abbas, S., Dev, D., & Taghizadeh-Hesary, F. (2023). The role of natural resources in the management of environmental sustainability: Machine learning approach. *Resources Policy*, *82*, 103548.

Rao, K. S., & Pant, R. (2001). Land use dynamics and landscape change pattern in a typical micro watershed in the mid elevation zone of central Himalaya, India. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 86(2), 113-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(00)00274-7.

Raquel, S., Ferenc, S., Emery Jr, C., & Abraham, R. (2007). Application of game theory for a groundwater conflict in Mexico. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 84(4), 560-571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2006.07.011.

Rausch, L. L., Gibbs, H. K., Schelly, I., Brandão Jr, A., Morton, D. C., Filho, A. C., ... & Meyer, D. (2019). Soy expansion in Brazil's Cerrado. *Conservation Letters*, *12*(6), e12671. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12671

Reddy, K. S. P., Roopa, Y. M., LN, K. R., & Nandan, N. S. (2020, July). IoT based smart agriculture using machine learning. In 2020 Second international conference on inventive research in computing applications (ICIRCA) (pp. 130-134). IEEE.

Rehman, T. U., Mahmud, M. S., Chang, Y. K., Jin, J., & Shin, J. (2019). Current and future applications of statistical machine learning algorithms for agricultural machine vision systems. *Computers and electronics in agriculture*, *156*, 585-605.

Ribeiro, L. C. D. S., Lôbo, A. S., Silva, L. D. D., & Andrade, N. F. S. (2020). Padrões de crescimento econômico dos municípios do MATOPIBA. Revista de economia e sociologia rural, 58, e212613.

Rich, K. M., Rich, M., & Dizyee, K. (2018). Participatory systems approaches for urban and peri-urban agriculture planning: The role of system dynamics and spatial group model building. *Agricultural Systems*, *160*, 110-123.

Rodrigues, A. S., Ewers, R. M., Parry, L., Souza Jr, C., Veríssimo, A., & Balmford, A. (2009). Boom-andbust development patterns across the Amazon deforestation frontier. *Science*, *324*(5933), 1435-1437. https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.1174002.

Rudorff, B., Risso, J., Aguiar, D., Gonçalves, F., Salgado, M., Perrut, J., ... & Baldi, C. (2015). Análise geoespacial da dinâmica das culturas anuais no bioma Cerrado: 2000 a 2014. *Relatório Síntese*). *Florianópolis: Agrosatélite Geotecnologia*.

Ryschawy, J., Martin, G., Moraine, M., Duru, M., & Therond, O. (2017). Designing crop-livestock integration at different levels: Toward new agroecological models?. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 108, 5-20.

Salsburg, D. S. (2009). Uma senhora toma chá... como a estatística revolucionou a ciência no século XX (p. 190). Zahar.

Salvador, M. A. (2014). *Análise da variabilidade climática na nova fronteira agrícola do Brasil: Região do Matopiba*. 2014. 95 f (Doctoral dissertation, Tese (Doutorado em Meteorologia)–Universidade Federal de Campina Grande, centro de Tecnologia e Recursos Naturais, Campina Grande).

Salvador, M. D. A., & de Brito, J. D. (2018). Trend of annual temperature and frequency of extreme events in the MATOPIBA region of Brazil. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 133, 253-261.

Santos, J. F. S. (2020). Produção de soja, desigualdades no campo e mudanças climáticas na região do Matopiba. *DRD-Desenvolvimento Regional em debate*, 10, 535-561.

Santos, R. S., Zhang, Y., Cotrufo, M. F., Hong, M., Oliveira, D. M. S., Damian, J. M., & Cerri, C. E. P. (2023). Simulating soil C dynamics under intensive agricultural systems and climate change scenarios in the Matopiba region, Brazil. Journal of Environmental Management, 347, 119149.

Saysel, A. K., Barlas, Y., & Yenigün, O. (2002). Environmental sustainability in an agricultural development project: a system dynamics approach. *Journal of environmental management*, 64(3), 247-260.

Schiesari, L., Waichman, A., Brock, T., Adams, C., & Grillitsch, B. (2013). Pesticide use and biodiversity conservation in the Amazonian agricultural frontier. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1619), 20120378. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0378.

Schneider, M., Biedzicki de Marques, A. A., & Peres, C. A. (2021). Brazil's next deforestation frontiers. Tropical Conservation Science, 14, 19400829211020472.

Schreinemachers, P., & Tipraqsa, P. (2012). Agricultural pesticides and land use intensification in high, middle and low income countries. *Food Policy*, *37*(6), 616–626. https:// doi. org/ 10. 1016/j. foodp ol. 2012. 06. 003.

SEEG – Sistema de Estimativa de Emissões e Remoções de Gases de Efeito Estufa, Observatório do Clima, 2020. Disponível em: https://seeg.eco.br/. Acesso em: 01 de outubro de 2023.

Sekaran, U., Lai, L., Ussiri, D. A., Kumar, S., & Clay, S. (2021). Role of integrated crop-livestock systems in improving agriculture production and addressing food security–A review. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Research*, *5*, 100190.

Shamsuddoha, M., Nasir, T., & Hossain, N. U. I. (2023). A sustainable supply chain framework for dairy farming operations: a system dynamics approach. *Sustainability*, *15*(10), 8417.

Sharma, A., Jain, A., Gupta, P., & Chowdary, V. (2020). Machine learning applications for precision agriculture: A comprehensive review. *IEEE Access*, *9*, 4843-4873.

Shen, Q., Chen, Q., Tang, B. S., Yeung, S., Hu, Y., & Cheung, G. (2009). A system dynamics model for the sustainable land use planning and development. *Habitat international*, *33*(1), 15-25.

Sherry, A., & Henson, R. K. (2005). Conducting and interpreting canonical correlation analysis in personality research: A user-friendly primer. *Journal of personality assessment*, 84(1), 37-48.

Shi, T., & Gill, R. (2005). Developing effective policies for the sustainable development of ecological agriculture in China: the case study of Jinshan County with a systems dynamics model. *Ecological economics*, 53(2), 223-246.

Shoushtari, F., Zadeh, E. K., & Daghighi, A. (2024). Facilities Layout in Uncertainty Demand and Environmental Requirements by Machine Learning Approach. *International journal of industrial engineering and operational research*, 6(2), 64-75.

Silva, R., Silva, V., Maciel, G., Silva, P., Nunes, A., & Naoe, A. (2020). Quantificação da pegada hídrica da soja na região do Matopiba: cenário atual e mudanças climáticas. *Revista de Geografia, Recife, Brasil, 37*(3), 26-46.

Silva, V., Camargo, R., Wendling, B., & Pires, S. (2011). Integração lavoura-pecuária sob sistema de plantio direto no cerrado brasileiro. *Enciclopédia Biosfera*, 7(12).

Silveira, R. M. F., Lima, D. F., Camelo, B. V., McManus, C., da Silva, V. J., Ferreira, J., ... & Landim, A. V. (2023). Machine learning applied to understand perceptions, habits and preferences of lamb meat consumers in the Brazilian semi-arid region. *Small Ruminant Research*, 227, 107088.

Singh, R. B. (2000). Environmental consequences of agricultural development: a case study from the Green Revolution state of Haryana, India. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 82(1-3), 97-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(00)00219-X.

Siqueira, M., Silva, M. T., De Brito, J. I. B., Braga, C. C., & De Souza, A. C. (2024). Índices climáticos extremos de precipitação pluvial e temperatura do ar na região do MATOPIBA-Brasil. Revista Brasileira de Geografia Física, 17(1), 446-464.

Skorupa, L. A., Manzatto, C. V., & MANZATTO, C. V. (2019). Sistemas de integração lavoura-pecuáriafloresta no Brasil: estratégias regionais de transferência de tecnologia, avaliação da adoção e de impactos.

Smith, J. O., Smith, P., Wattenbach, M., Gottschalk, P. I. A., Romanenkov, V. A., Shevtsova, L. K., ... & Lisovoi, N. V. (2007). Projected changes in the organic carbon stocks of cropland mineral soils of European Russia and the Ukraine, 1990–2070. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(2), 342-356. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01297.x.

Soares-Filho, B. S., Cerqueira, G. C., & Pennachin, C. L. (2002). DINAMICA—a stochastic cellular automata model designed to simulate the landscape dynamics in an Amazonian colonization frontier. *Ecological modelling*, *154*(3), 217-235. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(02)00059-5.

Soares-Filho, B., Alencar, A., Nepstad, D., Cerqueira, G., Vera Diaz, M. D. C., Rivero, S., ... & Voll, E. (2004). Simulating the response of land-cover changes to road paving and governance along a major Amazon highway: the Santarém–Cuiabá corridor. *Global change biology*, *10*(5), 745-764. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00769.x.

Spera, S. A., Galford, G. L., Coe, M. T., Macedo, M. N., & Mustard, J. F. (2016). Land-use change affects water recycling in Brazil's last agricultural frontier. *Global change biology*, 22(10), 3405-3413. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13298.

Spyrides, C. (2020). Caracterização da variabilidade da precipitação no MATOPIBA, região produtora de soja. *Revista Brasileira de Geografia Física*, *13*(04), 1425-1441.

Stave, K. (2010). Participatory system dynamics modeling for sustainable environmental management: Observations from four cases. *Sustainability*, 2(9), 2762-2784.

Stave, K. A. (2002). Using system dynamics to improve public participation in environmental decisions. *System Dynamics Review: The Journal of the System Dynamics Society*, *18*(2), 139-167.

Sterman, J. (2000). *Instructor's manual to accompany business dyanmics: systems thinking and modeling for a complex world*. McGraw-Hill.

Storm, H., Baylis, K., & Heckelei, T. (2020). Machine learning in agricultural and applied economics. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 47(3), 849-892.

Storm, H., Baylis, K., & Heckelei, T. (2020). Machine learning in agricultural and applied economics. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 47(3), 849-892.

Taghikhah, F., Voinov, A., Shukla, N., Filatova, T., & Anufriev, M. (2021). Integrated modeling of extended agro-food supply chains: A systems approach. *European journal of operational research*, 288(3), 852-868.

Tan, Y., Jiao, L., Shuai, C., & Shen, L. (2018). A system dynamics model for simulating urban sustainability performance: A China case study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *199*, 1107-1115.

Torres, J. L. R., Assis, R. L., & Loss, A. (2018). Evolução entre os sistemas de produção agropecuária no Cerrado: Convencional, Barreirão, Santa Fé e Integração lavoura pecuária. *Informe Agropec*, *39*, 7-17.

Turner Ii, B. L., Villar, S. C., Foster, D., Geoghegan, J., Keys, E., Klepeis, P., ... & Vance, C. (2001). Deforestation in the southern Yucatán peninsular region: an integrative approach. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *154*(3), 353-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00508-4.

Umetsu, F., & Pardini, R. (2007). Small mammals in a mosaic of forest remnants and anthropogenic habitats—evaluating matrix quality in an Atlantic Forest landscape. *Landscape Ecology*, 22, 517-530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-006-9041-y.

Usman, M., & Balsalobre-Lorente, D. (2022). Environmental concern in the era of industrialization: can financial development, renewable energy and natural resources alleviate some load?. *Energy Policy*, *162*, 112780.

Usman, M., Balsalobre-Lorente, D., Jahanger, A., & Ahmad, P. (2023). Are Mercosur economies going green or going away? An empirical investigation of the association between technological innovations, energy use, natural resources and GHG emissions. *Gondwana Research*, *113*, 53-70.

Verburg, R., Rodrigues Filho, S., Lindoso, D., Debortoli, N., Litre, G., & Bursztyn, M. (2014). The impact of commodity price and conservation policy scenarios on deforestation and agricultural land use in a frontier area within the Amazon. *Land Use Policy*, *37*, 14-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.10.003.

Vilela, L., Martha Junior, G. B., Macedo, M. C. M., Marchão, R. L., Guimarães Júnior, R., Pulrolnik, K., & Maciel, G. A. (2011). Sistemas de integração lavoura-pecuária na região do Cerrado. *Pesquisa agropecuária brasileira*, *46*, 1127-1138.

Vilela, L., Martha Júnior, G. B., Marchão, R. L., Guimarães Júnior, R., Barioni, L. G., & Barcellos, A. D. O. (2008). Integração lavoura-pecuária. *Savanas: desafios e estratégias para o equilíbrio entre sociedade, agronegócio e recursos naturais. Planaltina: Embrapa Cerrados*, *1*, 933-962.

Villela, A. A., D'Alembert, B. J., Rosa, L. P., & Freitas, M. V. (2014). Status and prospects of oil palm in the Brazilian Amazon. *Biomass and bioenergy*, *67*, 270-278.

Vinholis, M. D. M. B., Souza Filho, H. M. D., Shimata, I., Oliveira, P. P. A., & Pedroso, A. D. F. (2020). Economic viability of a crop-livestock integration system. *Ciência Rural*, *51*, e20190538.

Volante, J. N., Mosciaro, M. J., Gavier-Pizarro, G. I., & Paruelo, J. M. (2016). Agricultural expansion in the Semiarid Chaco: Poorly selective contagious advance. *Land use policy*, 55, 154-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2016.03.025.

Von Loeper, W., Musango, J., Brent, A., & Drimie, S. (2016). Analysing challenges facing smallholder farmers and conservation agriculture in South Africa: A system dynamics approach. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, 19(5), 747-773.

Walters, J. P., Archer, D. W., Sassenrath, G. F., Hendrickson, J. R., Hanson, J. D., Halloran, J. M., ... & Alarcon, V. J. (2016). Exploring agricultural production systems and their fundamental components with system dynamics modelling. *Ecological modelling*, *333*, 51-65.

Wang, F., Yu, C., Xiong, L., & Chang, Y. (2019). How can agricultural water use efficiency be promoted in China? A spatial-temporal analysis. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, *145*, 411-418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.03.017.

Wang, W., Li, K., Liu, Y., Lian, J., & Hong, S. (2022). A system dynamics model analysis for policy impacts on green agriculture development: A case of the Sichuan Tibetan Area. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *371*, 133562.

Wani, J. A., Sharma, S., Muzamil, M., Ahmed, S., Sharma, S., & Singh, S. (2022). Machine learning and deep learning based computational techniques in automatic agricultural diseases detection: Methodologies, applications, and challenges. *Archives of Computational methods in Engineering*, *29*(1), 641-677.

Wicke, B., Sikkema, R., Dornburg, V., & Faaij, A. (2011). Exploring land use changes and the role of palm oil production in Indonesia and Malaysia. *Land use policy*, 28(1), 193-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2010.06.001.

Widmarck, J. (2020). Em busca do desenvolvimento territorial rural do Matopiba: uma análise do Cerrado. Revista Economia Ensaios, 35(2), 1983-1994.

Wilcove, D. S., & Koh, L. P. (2010). Addressing the threats to biodiversity from oil-palm agriculture. *Biodiversity and conservation*, *19*, 999-1007. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9760-x.

Yang, Y., Gong, N., Xie, K., & Liu, Q. (2022). Predicting gasoline vehicle fuel consumption in energy and environmental impact based on machine learning and multidimensional big data. *Energies*, 15(5), 1602.

Yu, Q., Wu, W., Verburg, P. H., van Vliet, J., Yang, P., Zhou, Q., & Tang, H. (2013). A survey-based exploration of land-system dynamics in an agricultural region of Northeast China. *Agricultural Systems*, *121*, 106-116.

Appendices

Appendix A

List of the municipalities and geographic microregions of Matopiba

Table A1: List of the municipalities and geographic microregions of Matopiba

| State | Microregion | Number of Microregion | Municipality | Number of Municipality |
|----------|-------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------|
| MA | Lençóis | 1 | Barreirinhas | 1 |
| Maranhão | Maranhenses | | Humberto de Campos | 2 |
| | | - | Paulino Neves | 3 |
| | | | Primeira Cruz | 4 |
| | | | Santo Amaro do Maranhão | 5 |
| | | - | Tutóia | 6 |
| | Itapecuru | 2 | Cantanhede | 7 |
| | Mirim | - | Itapecuru-Mirim | 8 |
| | | - | Matões do Norte | 9 |
| | | - | Miranda do Norte | 10 |
| | | - | Nina Rodrigues | 11 |
| | | - | Pirapemas | 12 |
| | | - | Presidente Vargas | 13 |
| | | - | Vargem Grande | 14 |
| | Imperatriz | 3 | Açailândia | 15 |
| | | | Amarante do Maranhão | 16 |
| | | | Buritirana | 17 |
| | | | Cidelândia | 18 |
| | | | Davinópolis | 19 |
| | | | Governador Edison Lobão | 20 |
| | | | Imperatriz | 21 |
| | | | Itinga do Maranhão | 22 |
| | | | João Lisboa | 23 |
| | | | Lajeado Novo | 24 |
| | | | Montes Altos | 25 |
| | | | Ribamar Fiquene | 26 |
| | | | São Francisco do Brejão | 27 |
| | | | São Pedro da Água Branca | 28 |
| | | | Senador La Rocque | 29 |
| | | | Vila Nova dos Martírios | 30 |
| | Médio | 4 | Bacabal | 31 |
| | Mearim | | Bernardo do Mearim | 32 |
| | | - | Bom Lugar | 33 |
| | | | Esperantinópolis | 34 |
| | | | Igarapé Grande | 35 |
| | | | Lago do Junco | 36 |
| | | | Lago dos Rodrigues | 37 |
| | | | Lago Verde | 38 |
| | | | Lima Campos | 39 |

| Ishle Alt List of the municipalities and | geographic microregions of Matoniha |
|--|-------------------------------------|
| Table 111. Else of the municipanties and | geographic meroregions of Matopiba |

| | | Olho d'Água das Cunhãs | 40 |
|------------------------|---|------------------------------|----|
| | | Pedreiras | 41 |
| | | Pio XII | 42 |
| | | Poção de Pedras | 43 |
| | | Santo Antônio dos Lopes | 44 |
| | | São Luís Gonzaga do Maranhão | 45 |
| | | São Mateus do Maranhão | 46 |
| | | São Raimundo do Doca Bezerra | 47 |
| | | São Roberto | 48 |
| | | Satubinha | 49 |
| | | Trizidela do Vale | 50 |
| Alto Mearim | 5 | Arame | 51 |
| e Grajaú | | Barra do Corda | 52 |
| | | Fernando Falcão | 53 |
| | | Formosa da Serra Negra | 54 |
| | | Grajaú | 55 |
| | | Itaipava do Grajaú | 56 |
| | | Jenipapo dos Vieiras | 57 |
| | | Joselândia | 58 |
| | | Santa Filomena do Maranhão | 59 |
| | | Sítio Novo | 60 |
| | | Tuntum | 61 |
| Presidente | 6 | Fortuna | 62 |
| Dutra | | Dom Pedro | 63 |
| | | Gonçalves Dias | 64 |
| | | Governador Archer | 65 |
| | | Governador Eugênio Barros | 66 |
| | | Governador Luiz Rocha | 67 |
| | | Graça Aranha | 68 |
| | | Presidente Dutra | 69 |
| | | São Domingos do Maranhão | 70 |
| | | São José dos Basílios | 71 |
| | | Senador Alexandre Costa | 72 |
| Baixo | 7 | Água Doce do Maranhão | 73 |
| Parnaíba Maranhense | | Araioses | 74 |
| What annicense | | Magalhães de Almeida | 75 |
| | | Santa Quitéria do Maranhão | 76 |
| | | Santana do Maranhão | 77 |
| | | São Bernardo | 78 |
| Chapadinha | 8 | Anapurus | 79 |
| | | Belágua | 80 |
| | | Brejo | 81 |
| | | Buriti | 82 |
| 1 | | | |

| | | Chapadinha | 83 |
|----------------|----|---------------------------|-----|
| | - | Mata Roma | 84 |
| | - | Milagres do Maranhão | 85 |
| | - | São Benedito do Rio Preto | 86 |
| | - | Urbano Santos | 87 |
| Codó | 9 | Alto Alegre do Maranhão | 88 |
| | - | Capinzal do Norte | 89 |
| | - | Codó | 90 |
| | - | Coroatá | 91 |
| | - | Peritoró | 92 |
| | - | Timbiras | 93 |
| Coelho Neto | 10 | Afonso Cunha | 94 |
| | - | Aldeias Altas | 95 |
| | - | Coelho Neto | 96 |
| | - | Duque Bacelar | 97 |
| Caxias | 11 | Buriti Bravo | 98 |
| | - | Caxias | 99 |
| | - | Matões | 100 |
| | - | Parnarama | 101 |
| | - | São João do Soter | 102 |
| | - | Timon | 103 |
| Chapadas do | 12 | Barão de Grajaú | 104 |
| Alto Itapecuru | - | Colinas | 105 |
| | - | Jatobá | 106 |
| | - | Lagoa do Mato | 107 |
| | - | Mirador | 108 |
| | - | Nova Iorque | 109 |
| | - | Paraibano | 110 |
| | - | Passagem Franca | 111 |
| | - | Pastos Bons | 112 |
| | - | São Francisco do Maranhão | 113 |
| | - | São João dos Patos | 114 |
| | - | Sucupira do Norte | 115 |
| | - | Sucupira do Riachão | 116 |
| Porto Franco | 13 | Campestre do Maranhão | 117 |
| | - | Carolina | 118 |
| | - | Estreito | 119 |
| | - | Porto Franco | 120 |
| | - | São João do Paraíso | 121 |
| | - | São Pedro dos Crentes | 122 |
| Gerais de | 14 | Alto Parnaíba | 123 |
| Balsas | - | Balsas | 124 |
| | - | Feira Nova do Maranhão | 125 |
| | | | |

| | | | Riachão | 126 |
|-----------|--------------|----|------------------------------|-----|
| | | | Tasso Fragoso | 127 |
| | Chapadas das | 15 | Benedito Leite | 128 |
| | Mangabeiras | | Fortaleza dos Nogueiras | 129 |
| | | | Loreto | 130 |
| | | | Nova Colinas | 131 |
| | | | Sambaíba | 132 |
| | | | São Domingos do Azeitão | 133 |
| | | | São Félix de Balsas | 134 |
| | | | São Raimundo das Mangabeiras | 135 |
| ТО | Bico do | 16 | Aguiarnópolis | 136 |
| Tocantins | Papagaio | | Ananás | 137 |
| | | | Angico | 138 |
| | | | Araguatins | 139 |
| | | | Augustinópolis | 140 |
| | | | Axixá do Tocantins | 141 |
| | | | Buriti do Tocantins | 142 |
| | | | Cachoeirinha | 143 |
| | | | Carrasco Bonito | 144 |
| | | | Darcinópolis | 145 |
| | | | Esperantina | 146 |
| | | | Itaguatins | 147 |
| | | | Luzinópolis | 148 |
| | | | Maurilândia do Tocantins | 149 |
| | | | Nazaré | 150 |
| | | | Palmeiras do Tocantins | 151 |
| | | | Praia Norte | 152 |
| | | | Riachinho | 153 |
| | | | Sampaio | 154 |
| | | | Santa Terezinha do Tocantins | 155 |
| | | | São Bento do Tocantins | 156 |
| | | | São Miguel do Tocantins | 157 |
| | | | São Sebastião do Tocantins | 158 |
| | | | Sítio Novo do Tocantins | 159 |
| | | | Tocantinópolis | 160 |
| | Araguaína | 17 | Aragominas | 161 |
| | | | Araguaína | 162 |
| | | | Araguanã | 163 |
| | | | Arapoema | 164 |
| | | | Babaçulândia | 165 |
| | | | Bandeirantes do Tocantins | 166 |
| | | | Carmolândia | 167 |
| | | | Colinas do Tocantins | 168 |

| | | Filadélfia | 169 |
|-------------|----|---------------------------|-----|
| | | Muricilândia | 170 |
| | | Nova Olinda | 171 |
| | | Palmeirante | 172 |
| | | Pau-d'Arco | 173 |
| | | Piraquê | 174 |
| | | Santa Fé do Araguaia | 175 |
| | | Wanderlândia | 176 |
| | | Xambioá | 177 |
| Miracema do | 18 | Abreulândia | 178 |
| Tocantins | | Araguacema | 179 |
| | | Barrolândia | 180 |
| | | Bernardo Sayão | 181 |
| | | Brasilândia do Tocantins | 182 |
| | | Caseara | 183 |
| | | Colméia | 184 |
| | | Couto de Magalhães | 185 |
| | | Divinópolis do Tocantins | 186 |
| | | Dois Irmãos do Tocantins | 187 |
| | | Fortaleza do Tabocão | 188 |
| | | Goianorte | 189 |
| | | Guaraí | 190 |
| | | Itaporã do Tocantins | 191 |
| | | Juarina | 192 |
| | | Marianópolis do Tocantins | 193 |
| | | Miracema do Tocantins | 194 |
| | | Miranorte | 195 |
| | | Monte Santo do Tocantins | 196 |
| | | Pequizeiro | 197 |
| | | Presidente Kennedy | 198 |
| | | Rio dos Bois | 199 |
| | | Tupirama | 200 |
| | | Tupiratins | 201 |
| Rio Formoso | 19 | Araguaçu | 202 |
| | | Chapada de Areia | 203 |
| | | Cristalândia | 204 |
| | | Dueré | 205 |
| | | Fátima | 206 |
| | | Formoso do Araguaia | 207 |
| | | Lagoa da Confusão | 208 |
| | | Nova Rosalândia | 209 |
| | | Oliveira de Fátima | 210 |
| | | Paraíso do Tocantins | 211 |

| | | Pium | 212 |
|----------|----|---------------------------|-----|
| | | Pugmil | 213 |
| | | Sandolândia | 214 |
| Gurupi | 20 | Aliança do Tocantins | 215 |
| | | Alvorada | 216 |
| | | Brejinho de Nazaré | 217 |
| | | Cariri do Tocantins | 218 |
| | | Crixás do Tocantins | 219 |
| | | Figueirópolis | 220 |
| | | Gurupi | 221 |
| | | Jaú do Tocantins | 222 |
| | | Palmeirópolis | 223 |
| | | Peixe | 224 |
| | | Santa Rita do Tocantins | 225 |
| | | São Salvador do Tocantins | 226 |
| | | Sucupira | 227 |
| | | Talismã | 228 |
| Porto | 21 | Aparecida do Rio Negro | 229 |
| Nacional | | Bom Jesus do Tocantins | 230 |
| | | Ipueiras | 231 |
| | | Lajeado | 232 |
| | | Monte do Carmo | 233 |
| | | Palmas | 234 |
| | | Pedro Afonso | 235 |
| | | Porto Nacional | 236 |
| | | Santa Maria do Tocantins | 237 |
| | | Silvanópolis | 238 |
| | | Tocantínia | 239 |
| Jalapão | 22 | Barra do Ouro | 240 |
| | | Campos Lindos | 241 |
| | | Centenário | 242 |
| | | Goiatins | 243 |
| | | Itacajá | 244 |
| | | Itapiratins | 245 |
| | | Lagoa do Tocantins | 246 |
| | | Lizarda | 247 |
| | | Mateiros | 248 |
| | | Novo Acordo | 249 |
| | | Ponte Alta do Tocantins | 250 |
| | | Recursolândia | 251 |
| | | Rio Sono | 252 |
| | | Santa Tereza do Tocantins | 253 |
| | | São Fálix do Tocontina | 254 |

| | Dianópolis | 23 | Almas | 255 |
|-------|---------------|----|---------------------------|-----|
| | | | Arraias | 256 |
| | | | Aurora do Tocantins | 257 |
| | | | Chapada da Natividade | 258 |
| | | | Combinado | 259 |
| | | | Conceição do Tocantins | 260 |
| | | | Dianópolis | 261 |
| | | | Lavandeira | 262 |
| | | | Natividade | 263 |
| | | | Novo Alegre | 264 |
| | | | Novo Jardim | 265 |
| | | | Paranã | 266 |
| | | | Pindorama do Tocantins | 267 |
| | | | Ponte Alta do Bom Jesus | 268 |
| | | | Porto Alegre do Tocantins | 269 |
| | | | Rio da Conceição | 270 |
| | | | Santa Rosa do Tocantins | 271 |
| | | | São Valério | 272 |
| | | | Taguatinga | 273 |
| | | | Taipas do Tocantins | 274 |
| PI | Alto Parnaíba | 24 | Baixa Grande do Ribeiro | 275 |
| Piauí | Piauiense | | Ribeiro Gonçalves | 276 |
| | | | Santa Filomena | 277 |
| | | | Uruçuí | 278 |
| | Bertolínia | 25 | Antônio Almeida | 279 |
| | | | Bertolínia | 280 |
| | | | Colônia do Gurgueia | 281 |
| | | | Eliseu Martins | 282 |
| | | | Landri Sales | 283 |
| | | | Manoel Emídio | 284 |
| | | | Marcos Parente | 285 |
| | | | Porto Alegre do Piauí | 286 |
| | | | Sebastião Leal | 287 |
| | Alto Médio | 26 | Alvorada do Gurgueia | 288 |
| | Gurgueia | | Barreiras do Piauí | 289 |
| | | | Bom Jesus | 290 |
| | | | Cristino Castro | 291 |
| | | | Currais | 292 |
| | | | Gilbués | 293 |
| | | | Monte Alegre do Piauí | 294 |
| | | | Palmeira do Piauí | 295 |
| | | | Redenção do Gurgueia | 296 |
| | | | Santa Luz | 297 |

| | | | São Gonçalo do Gurgueia | 298 |
|-------|--------------|----|-------------------------|-----|
| | Chapadas do | 27 | Avelino Lopes | 299 |
| | Extremo Sul | | Corrente | 300 |
| | Taulense | | Cristalândia do Piauí | 301 |
| | | | Curimatá | 302 |
| | | | Júlio Borges | 303 |
| | | | Morro Cabeça no Tempo | 304 |
| | | | Parnaguá | 305 |
| | | | Riacho Frio | 306 |
| | | | Sebastião Barros | 307 |
| BA | Barreiras | 28 | Baianópolis | 308 |
| Bahia | | | Barreiras | 309 |
| | | | Catolândia | 310 |
| | | | Formosa do Rio Preto | 311 |
| | | | Luís Eduardo Magalhães | 312 |
| | | | Riachão das Neves | 313 |
| | | | São Desidério | 314 |
| | Cotegipe | 29 | Angical | 315 |
| | | | Brejolândia | 316 |
| | | | Cotegipe | 317 |
| | | | Cristópolis | 318 |
| | | | Mansidão | 319 |
| | | | Santa Rita de Cássia | 320 |
| | | | Tabocas do Brejo Velho | 321 |
| | | | Wanderley | 322 |
| | Santa Maria | 30 | Canápolis | 323 |
| | da Vitória | | Cocos | 324 |
| | | | Coribe | 325 |
| | | | Correntina | 326 |
| | | | Jaborandi | 327 |
| | | | Santa Maria da Vitória | 328 |
| | | | Santana | 329 |
| | | | São Félix do Coribe | 330 |
| | | | Serra Dourada | 331 |
| | Bom Jesus da | 31 | Bom Jesus da Lapa | 332 |
| | Lapa | | Carinhanha | 333 |
| | | | Feira da Mata | 334 |
| | | | Paratinga | 335 |
| | | | Serra do Ramalho | 336 |
| | | | Sítio do Mato | 337 |

Source: Own Elaboration, based on IBGE.

Appendix B

Figures of the Dynamic Behavior of SDM Elements

Figure B1: Dynamic behavior of the Farming Land Demand elements (SDM) Figure B2: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Agriculture Land Demand (SDM)

Figure B3: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Pasture Land Demand (SDM) Figure B4: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Mosaic Land Demand (SDM) Figure B5: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Deforestation (SDM)



Figure B1: Dynamic behavior of the Farming Land Demand elements (SDM)

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.



Figure B2: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Agriculture Land Demand (SDM)

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

Figure B3: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Pasture Land Demand (SDM)



Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

Figure B4: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Mosaic Land Demand (SDM)



Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.



Figure B5: Dynamic behavior of the main elements of Deforestation (SDM)

Source: Own Elaboration, based on AnyLogic output.

Appendix C

Verification of Assumptions of Canonical Correlation Analysis (CCA)

Linearity Normality Multicollinearity

1. Linearity:

The scatter plot was used to check the linearity between the variables. When observing the dispersion of the data points, it is expected that they are close to the trend line, as this means that the values of the two variables are similar and consistent.





Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.





Source: SPSS output.





Scatter Plot Deforestation x Services GDP

Source: SPSS output.







Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.



Source: SPSS output.

2. Normality:

The normality assumption for models 1 and 2 was met by the Central Limit Theory (Ellenberg, 2015; Salsburg, 2009). According to this theory, the distribution of sample means can be satisfactorily approximated by a normal distribution when the sample size is greater than 30. In this study, there was a sample of 31 microregions.

3. Multicollinearity:

The absence of multicollinearity will be analyzed using the value of the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF). A VIF between 5 and 10 indicates a high correlation, which can be problematic. Furthermore, if the VIF is above 10, it is assumed that the regression coefficients are poorly estimated due to multicollinearity. The VIF value is therefore expected to be less than 5.

| Model | Independent Variables | Tolerance | VIF |
|---------|-----------------------|-----------|-------|
| | Agricultural GDP | 0.613 | 1.631 |
| Model 1 | Industry GDP | 0.297 | 3.366 |
| | Services GDP | 0.232 | 4.308 |
| | | | |
| | Corn Production | 0.377 | 2.654 |
| Model 2 | Soybean Production | 0.377 | 2.637 |
| | Sugarcane Production | 0.989 | 1.011 |
| | Rice Production | 0.988 | 1.012 |

Table C2: Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) results – CCA analysis

Source: Own Elaboration, based on SPSS output.

Appendix D

Bivariate Regression Analysis (SDM)

- > Results
- > Verification of Assumptions

Results

To estimate the internal parameters "LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio", "CornLandToGDPRatio", "SoyLandToGDPRatio", "PastureLandToGDPRatio", "MosaicLandToGDPRatio", "GDPToCornLandRatio", 'GDPToSoyLandRatio', 'GDPToPastureLandRatio', and 'GDPToMosaicLandRatio' of the SDM for Matopiba, bivariate regression analyses were carried out.

The analysis used annual data from 2000 to 2020 (n = 21) for most of the parameters, except for the parameters that used data from the mosaic and pasture areas. For these, an analysis was carried out from 2011 to 2020 (n = 10) due to the availability and consistency of the database.

The results of the parameter coefficients are shown in Table D1. The coefficient values are raw, i.e. they are the values found from the analysis of the bivariate regression analyses before the SDM calibration and validation process.

| Parameter | Coefficient | Std. Err. | P > T | R ² |
|------------------------------------|-------------|-----------|-----------------------|----------------|
| LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio | 0.7504548 | 0.0504411 | 0.00 | 0.9209 |
| CornLandToGDPRatio | 152.4438 | 8.893755 | 0.00 | 0.9393 |
| SoyLandToGDPRatio | 30.86192 | 1.361294 | 0.00 | 0.9644 |
| PastureLandToGDPRatio | 38.23967 | 8.661106 | 0.00 | 0.7885 |
| MosaicLandToGDPRatio | 49.9381 | 27.8559 | 0.00 | 0.4664 |
| GDPToCornLandRatio | 0.006161 | 0.000359 | 0.00 | 0.9393 |
| GDPToSoyLandRatio | 0.031247 | 0.001378 | 0.00 | 0.9644 |
| GDPToPastureLandRatio | 0.027822 | 0.003489 | 0.00 | 0.7885 |
| GDPToMosaicLandRatio | 0.009825 | 0.003220 | 0.00 | 0.4664 |

 Table D1: Bivariate Regression Analysis Results

Source: Own Elaboration, based on STATA output.

Assumptions

As these are bivariate regression analyses, the models must meet the assumptions that the variables have a normal distribution (normality), that the variance of the errors is constant (homoscedasticity), and that the errors of one period are not correlated with the errors of previous periods (no serial autocorrelation).

1. Normality:

The normality assumption for the variables of the models was checked and met by Test Shapiro-Francia W'. The variables are expected to have a P-value > 0.05.

| Variables | W' | V' | Sig |
|----------------------|---------|-------|---------|
| Farming land demand | 0.90226 | 2.206 | 0.05826 |
| Deforestation | 0.89249 | 2.472 | 0.05273 |
| Corn land demand | 0.90124 | 2.315 | 0.05572 |
| Soybeans land demand | 0.92649 | 2.002 | 0.10646 |
| Mosaic Area | 0.96318 | 1.002 | 0.49823 |
| Pasture Area | 0.94417 | 1.520 | 0.22605 |
| GDP | 0.93694 | 1.717 | 0.16592 |

 Table D2: Shapiro-Francia Test Results – Bivariate Regression Analyses

Source: Own Elaboration, based on STATA output.

2. Homoscedasticity:

Breusch-Pagan / Cook-Weisberg test was used to check the homogeneity of the variance errors. The models are expected to have a P-value > 0.05. As seen in Table D3, the homoscedasticity assumption was met.

| Parameter | Breusch-Pagan Statistics | Sig |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------|
| LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio | 0.41 | 0.5227 |
| CornLandToGDPRatio | 3.49 | 0.0542 |
| SoyLandToGDPRatio | 3.88 | 0.0491 |
| PastureLandToGDPRatio | 0.85 | 0.3570 |
| MosaicLandToGDPRatio | 0.97 | 0.3249 |
| GDPToCornLandRatio | 2.84 | 0.0918 |
| GDPToSoyLandRatio | 3.51 | 0.0497 |
| GDPToPastureLandRatio | 0.45 | 0.5026 |
| GDPToMosaicLandRatio | 0.17 | 0.6807 |

Table D3: Breusch-Pagan Test Results – Bivariate Regression Analyses

Source: Own Elaboration, based on STATA output.

3. No Serial Correlation:

Durbin's alternative test was used to check the serial autocorrelation. The models are expected to have no serial autocorrelation (P-value > 0.05). As seen in Table D4, this assumption was met in all models.

| Parameter | Durbin's Statistics | Sig |
|------------------------------------|---------------------|--------|
| LandDemandToAgriDeforestationRatio | 3.541 | 0.0599 |
| CornLandToGDPRatio | 0.032 | 0.8585 |
| SoyLandToGDPRatio | 3.595 | 0.0526 |
| PastureLandToGDPRatio | 1.902 | 0.1678 |
| MosaicLandToGDPRatio | 4.109 | 0.0495 |
| GDPToCornLandRatio | 0.009 | 0.9253 |
| GDPToSoyLandRatio | 4.101 | 0.0499 |
| GDPToPastureLandRatio | 1.157 | 0.2820 |
| GDPToMosaicLandRatio | 3.567 | 0.0589 |

Table D4: Durbin's Test Results – Bivariate Regression Analyses

Source: Own Elaboration, based on STATA output.